# QL 483 S68 H35 ent

# Vol. 4, 2013

# ISSN 0973-1555

# Halteres

A PEER REVIEWED INTERNATIONAL RESEARCH JOURNAL

#### HALTERES

#### ISSN 0973-1555

(Web: http://www.antdiversityindia.com/halteresentomology\_research\_journal)

#### **Editorial Board**

Chief Editor: Dr. Himender Bharti (India)

Email: himenderbharti@gmail.com/himenderbharti@antdiversityindia.com

#### **BOARD OF EDITORS**

Dr. Corrie Saux Moreau (USA) Dr. Jonathan Majer (Australia) Dr. Matthew A. Bertone (USA) Dr. James C. Trager (USA) Dr. John E. Lattke (Venezuela) Dr. K. Eguchi (Japan) Dr. Tony Van Harten (UAE) Dr. Hiromu Kurahashi (Japan) Dr. John R. Fellowes (China) Dr. Florian M. Steiner (Austria) Dr. Simon Robson (Australia) Dr. R. K. Seth (India) Dr. Zheng-Hui Xu (China) Dr. Balint Marko (Romania) Dr. Dmitry Dubovikoff (Russia) Dr. Chris Schmidt (Tucson) Dr. V. V. Ramamurthy (India) Dr. Neel Kamal Rastogi (India) Dr. Neel Kamal Rastogi (India) Dr. P.D. Rajan (India) Mr. Dave General (Philippines) Dr. Seike Yamane (Japan) Dr. Seike Yamane (Japan) Dr. Meenakshi Bharti (India) Dr. Sriyani Dias (Sri Lanka) Dr. Sudhir Singh (India) Dr. Rajmohana Keloth (India) Dr. Joachim Offenberg (Denmark) Dr. Santhosh Shreevihar (India) Dr. Aijaz Ahmed Wachkoo (India)

#### **Junior Reviewers/Editors**

Ms. Christina Lynn K (USA) Mr. Shahid Ali Akbar (India) Mr. Joginder Singh (India) Mr. Sishal Sasi (India)

Cover image: Telenomus oryzae Rajmohana & Nisha, 2013



## CONTENTS

Recolonisation patterns of orthopteran species in successional stages of revegetated coal mine sites
Shbbir R Khan and Neelkamal Rastogi1
Pollen foraging activity of Apis mellifera during autumn season in Chandigarh
Rajinder Kaur and Neelima R Kumar12
A Preliminary survey of thrips (Thysanoptera) from Kashmir Himalaya
Nafisa Akhtar and M. Nayyar Azim15
Addition of a new species to <i>Ecnomus</i> McLachlan, 1864 (Trichoptera: Ecnomidae) along with key to its Indian Fauna
Manpreet S. Pandher and Malkiat S. Saini
On the Aphid–ant association and its relationship with various host plants in the Agroecosystems of Vadodara, Gujarat, India
Ruchika Kataria and Dolly Kumar
Diversity and Distribution of Ant Fauna in Hejamadi Kodi Sandspit, Udupi District, Karnataka, India
Pradeep D'Cunha and Vijay Mala Grover Nair
First record of the Srilankan Processional Termite, Hospitalitermes monoceros (Konig) (Termitidae: Nasutitermitinae) from India
Poovoli Amina, Keloth Rajmohana, Chenthamarakshan Bijoy, Chandrashekaramenon Radhakrishnan and Nivedita Saha
Status of the Genus <i>Spalgis</i> Moore with taxonomic notes on the type species, <i>Spalgis epeus</i> (Westwood) in the Indian Himalaya
Charn Kumar
Quantitative changes in lipids and carbohydrates of temporal workers and drones in <i>Apis cerana indica</i> (Fabricius)
Seydur Rahman and Sudhanya Ray Hajong59
SEM studies on immature stages of <i>Aphaenogaster beesoni</i> Donisthorpe, 1933 (Hymenoptera: Formicidae)
Himender Bharti, Navpreet Dhiman, Meenakshi Bharti and Aijaz Ahmad Wachkoo68
Telenomus oryzae (Hymenoptera: Platygastridae), a new egg parasitoid of the rice black bug, Scotinophara (Heteroptera: Pentatomidae) from India
Keloth Rajmohana and Manikantadas Santha Nisha79

.

ISSN 0973-1555 © SHBBIR R KHAN AND NEELKAMAL RASTOGI

# Recolonisation patterns of orthopteran species in successional stages of revegetated coal mine sites

#### Shbbir R Khan and Neelkamal Rastogi<sup>\*</sup>

Insect Behavioural Ecology Laboratory, Department of Zoology, Centre of Advanced Study, Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi – 221 005, U.P., India

(\*e-mail: neelkamalrastogi@yahoo.co.in)

#### Abstract

The diversity and abundance of insects belonging to the order Orthoptera was studied in coal mine spoils of different ages (0-10 year old) located in Singrauli and the adjoining border area between Uttar Pradesh and Madhya Pradesh in India. The abundance of the 21 orthopteran species (belonging to 16 genera) showed significant variations in 0-8 year old mine sites relative to the 10 year old reference site. Orthopteran alpha diversity increased sharply in the 2 year old site. The gradual increase in alpha diversity in the 4-10 year old sites did not demonstrate any significant differences. However, abundance and number of grasshopper species showed a clear linear increase with increase with mine site rehabilitation. Overlap in orthopteran rank abundance curves obtained for 4-10 year old sites is probably due to differences in the occurrence, abundance and diversity patterns of grasshopper and cricket species with increase in mine site rehabilitation age. Our results demonstrate that grasshopper species assemblages are highly sensitive to variations in the level of anthropogenically-caused disturbance, due to mining activities. Thus, the abundance patterns of grasshoppers, including those of habitat specialists, may be of significance in evaluation of the restoration progress in degraded ecosystems, such as mine sites.

Keywords: Grasshoppers, insect diversity, degraded ecosystems, recolonisation patterns.

#### Introduction

Anthropogenically-caused environmental degradation and the consequent adverse impact on biodiversity are of worldwide concern (Bengtsson et al., 2000; Folke et al., 2004; Dornelas, 2010). The restoration of degraded lands such as mine sites is a priority area in conservation biology (see recent review by Suding, 2011), since mine spoils (the piles of accumulated over-burden excavated during the mining process) cause ecosystem degradation by destruction of flora and fauna. Though succession and recolonisation by vegetation and vertebrate wildlife on reclaimed mine lands has been studied (Majer, 1989), diversity patterns of early colonising invertebrate species needs greater attention since they play a vital role in the re-establishment of a functioning ecosystem (Majer, 2009).

Arthropods are found to occupy a wide diversity of microhabitats and niches. Moreover, they play more diverse ecological roles than any other group of animals. Their short generation times and their small size makes arthropods, particularly insects, ideal organisms for monitoring spatial and temporal changes in habitat quality and restoration success (Longcore, 2003). Hence, among the mine site fauna, insects need to be targeted for assessment of the recolonising patterns.

In revegetated mines, the colonising patterns of insect herbivores assume special significance, since these may influence

1

ecosystem succession via herbivory and may also reflect the rehabilitation process. Insects belonging to the order Orthoptera play a critical role in grassland ecosystems, since they constitute the major proportion of arthropod biomass (Shure and Phillips, 1991). Grasshopper assemblages appear to play the main roles in forming and maintaining the biodiversity and the stability of various kinds of grassland ecosystems (Guo et al., 2006). Moreover, orthopteran nymphs are highly mobile (Floren et al., 2001), allowing orthopteran communities to communities closely follow plant with progressive adjustments during the season (Joern, 1982; Parmenter et al., 1991; Bonnet et al., 1997). Grasshopper biodiversity is not only considered to be a product of the evolution of grassland ecosystems; a close relationship is also found between grasshopper biodiversity and the health of grassland ecosystems (Guo et al., 2006).

Hence, the present study focuses on orthopteran diversity and abundance in coal mine spoils of different ages to elucidate the recolonisation patterns of grasshoppers and crickets following anthropogenic disturbances caused by surface mining activities. Information related to insect recolonisation and successional patterns should be useful to land managers in the development of suitable strategies for reconstruction of disturbed ecosystems.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### **Study Site**

Investigation of the diversity and abundance of insects belonging to the order Orthoptera was conducted at six coal mine dump sites of various ages (0, 2, 4, 6, 8 and 10 years) established from 2001 to 2011. The original vegetation is that of a tropical dry deciduous forest (Singh, 2012). Forty - six plant species were planted by the mining company at each dump site about 1.5 years after establishment of the mine dumps. The coal mine sites of Northern Coalfields Ltd., are situated at Singrauli and the adjoining border area lying between Uttar Pradesh and Madhya Pradesh in India (latitudes 23° 47' to 24° 12' N and longitudes 81° 48' to 82° 52' E). The vegetation in the mine sites is dominated by *Eragrostis* unioloides, Saccharum spontaneum, Bambusa bamboo, Euphorbia hirta, Acacia catechu, Acacia nilotica, Acacia mangium, Dalbergia sissoo and Prosopis juliflora, plants (Singh, 2011, 2012).

#### Sampling Methods

The orthopteran populations were sampled from February to March, 2012 and again during October - December, 2012. Two main methods were used to record the diversity and abundance of orthopterans at the six mine sites. These included: (1) the visual scanning, and (2) the sweep netting, methods. In the visual scan method, a metal quadrat frame was used and, the number and diversity of orthopterans were recorded in the quadrats (area =  $1 \text{ m}^2$ , n = 125 per day per site) which were randomly placed on the ground surface, over a period of five days (n = 625 per site). The sweep netting method involved random sweeping (n = 20 per site) of the ground, bushes and shrubs to capture the orthopterans, by using an insect net. Samples were preserved in 75% alcohol and taken to the laboratory for sorting and identification to genus/species level. Identification of the orthopteran specimens was done with the help of experts from the Department of Zoology, Aligarh Muslim University.

#### **Data Analysis**

Species diversity (alpha and beta diversity) at each mine site was calculated according to the Shannon–Weiner and Whittaker index methods, respectively.

Changes in the overall orthopteran abundance with mine site rehabilitation was analysed by carrying out one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Dunnett's and

2

Duncan's Multiple Range post hoc Tests (DMRT) (p < 0.05), tests for analysis of abundance and of alpha diversity, respectively. Variance followed by DMRT post-hoc test was also applied to analyse in the abundance of grasshoppers and crickets in the 0 - 10 year old sites. Since no pristine areas were available, the dump site established in 2001 (10 years old) was taken as the reference site for determination of beta diversity and for the Dunnett's post-hoc test.

The orthopteran diversity at different sites was compared using the rank abundance plot in which percentage cumulative abundance (log) was plotted against species rank.

All orthopteran species restricted to specific succession stages were classified as habitat specialists. All others consistently recorded in 2-10 year old sites were referred to as habitat generalists (Table. 1).

All statistical analyses were done by using SPSS (16.0) statistical package (SPSS Inc, Chicago, USA; 1997) and MS Excel 2007.

#### Results

#### Species diversity and abundance

A total of 21 orthopteran species belonging to 16 genera were recorded in this study. The five orthopteran families present comprised Acrididae (10 species and 8 genera), Pyrgomorphidae (7 species and 4 genera), Gryllidae (2 species, 2 genera), Eumastacidae and Tettigoniidae (1 species and 1 genus, in each case) (Table 1).

Abundance of the 21 orthopteran species showed significant variations at all the five mine sites (0-8 year old), relative to the reference site: Acrida conica, Acrida exaltata, Gastrimargus africanus, Leva cruciata, Pyrgomorpha sp., Chrotogonus sp., Lepidogryllus sp., Chrotogonus armatus, Spathosternum prasiniferum, Gastrimargus musicus, Oxya fuscovittata, Atractomorpha psittacina Carnarvonella sp., Pterophylla sp., Metioche Catantops pinguis, Atractomorpha sp., trachypterus, crenulata, Chrotogonus Sphingonotus savignyi, Bryodema luctuosa, Oedaleus abruptus (One-way ANOVA: F =52.823; 21.798; 33.607; 24.252; 18.672; 16.725; 5.253; 12.851; 42.073; 14.896; 30.889; 37.003; 7.626; 11.808; 8.584; 9.339; 16.933; 13.384; 16.170; 18.617; 17.806, respectively, df = 5, 3749; p < 0.001 in each case) (Fig. 1 a-c).

Dunnett's Post hoc test revealed significantly lower abundance of A. exaltata, G. africanus, L. cruciata, S. prasiniferum, and *Pterophylla* sp. in the 0-6 year old sites (p < p0.001, in each case) relative to the reference site. The abundance of A. conica, Pyrgomorpha sp., Chrotogonus sp., G. musicus, A. crenulata, C. trachypterus and S. savignyi in the earlyintermediate successional stages, (0 - 4 year old) was significantly lower (p < 0.001, in each case) relative to their abundance in the 10 year old site. In the newly established dump sites (0 - 2)year old), abundance of C. armatus and C. *pinguis* was significantly lower (p < 0.001, in each case) in comparison to that found in the reference site. However, B. luctuosa. O. abruptus, Carnarvonella sp. and Metioche sp. found in the 4 and 6 year old sites were completely absent in the reference site. The abundance of O. fuscovittata and A. psittacina. was significantly lower (p < 0.001, in each case) in all the five (0-8 year old) mine sites relative to the climax site. Both A. exaltata and L. cruciata exhibited lower abundance (respective significance values being p < 0.01 and p < 0.05) in the 8 year old site. Although the abundance of Pyrgomorpha sp. Chrotogonus sp., **A**. crenulata, S. savignyi and G. musicus was progressively higher on moving from 2 - to 8year old sites, significantly lower values relative to the reference site were obtained only in the

Table-1: Orthopteran diversity, feeding guilds, habitat specificity and stages recorded in the 0-10 year old mine sites by using the visual scanning and sweep netting methods (H = Herbivores and D = Detritivores).

	Species			Sampling methods			
Family		Habitat	Feeding	Visual Scanning		Sweep Netting	
		specificity	guild	Nymphs	ymphs Adults	Nymphs	Adult s
Acrididae	Acrida conica	Generalist	Н	+	+	+	+
Acrididae	Acrida exaltata	Specialist	Н	-	+	+	+
- à= <sup>1</sup>	Gastrimargus	203-00 - COM				$\{a_{i,k},\ldots,a_{i,k}\} := \{a_{i,k},\ldots,a_{i,k}\}$	
Acrididae	africanus	Generalist	н	-	+	+	+
Acrididae	Spathosternum prasiniferum	Specialist	н	+	+	-	-
	Gastrimargus						1
Acrididae	musicus	Generalist	н	+	+	- <u>-</u>	+
Acrididae	Oxya fuscovittata	Specialist	Н	+	+	-	+
Acrididae	Catantops pinguis	Generalist	H	-	+	-	-
	Sphingonotus						
Acrididae	savignyi	Generalist	н	+	+	-	+
Acrididae	Bryodema luctuosa	Specialist	Н	+	-	•	-
Acrididae	Oedaleus abruptus	Specialist	Н	+	+	•	+
Pyrgomorphidae	Leva cruciata	Generalist	Н	+	-	+	+
Pyrgomorphidae	Pyrgomorpha sp.	Generalist	Н	+	-	+	+
Pyrgomorphidae	Chrotogonus sp.	Generalist	Н	+	+	+	+
	Chrotogonus						
Pyrgomorphidae	armatus	Generalist	Н	+	-	+	-
	Atractomorpha					-	
Pyrgomorphidae	psittacina	Specialist	н	-	+	-	+
	Atractomorpha						
Pyrgomorphidae	crenulata	Generalist	Н	-	+	-	+
	Chrotogonus						1
Pyrgomorphidae	trachypterus	Generalist	Н	-	+	+	+
Gryllidae	Lepidogryllus sp.	Generalist	D	+	+	+	+
Gryllidae	Metioche sp.	Specialist	D	+	+	+	+
Tettigoniidae	Pterophylla sp.	Specialist	Н	+	-	+	-
Eumastacidae	Carnarvonella sp.	Specialist	Н	+	-	+	-

case of the 2 - 4 year old sites. The abundance of C. pinguis was significantly lower in the 0-2 (p < 0.001) and 4 (p < 0.01) year old sites relative to the reference site. Acrida conica, G. africanus, Pyrgomorpha sp., Chrotogonus sp., S. prasiniferum, G. musicus, Carnarvonella sp., Pterophylla sp., A. crenulata, S. savignyi and B. luctuosa, did not demonstrate any significant differences in their abundance at the 8 year old dump site in comparison to the climax site. Significant differences were also not obtained in the abundance of Lepidogryllus sp., C. armatus, C. pinguis and C. trachypterus at the 6 and 8 year old sites. Metioche sp. and O. abruptus abundance did not vary significantly at the 0, 2 and 8 year old dump sites in comparison to the climax, 10 year old site. Carnarvonella sp. was recorded only in 4 and 6 year old sites. Since all the species were absent in the 0 year old dump site, the abundance of each revealed highly significant values (p < 0.001, in each case) with respect to that for the reference site.

While twelve orthopteran species were found to be generalist species progressively increasing in abundance in the 2-10 year old sites, an exception was *Lepidogryllus* sp. which did not show any specific pattern with increase in restoration.

There were nine habitat specialist orthopteran species. Carnarvonella sp., Metioche sp., Bryodema luctuosa and Oedaleus abruptus were found only in 4 - 6 year old sites which had intermediate level of disturbance. In contrast, Acrida exaltata, Spathosternum prasiniferum, Oxya fuscovittata, Atractomorpha psittacina and Pterophylla sp. were restricted to the maximally restored, 8 and 10 year old sites.

Alpha diversity increased with the age of the coal mine sites from 0 to 10 years (Fig. 2). One-way ANOVA indicates significant differences in the orthopteran alpha diversity at the five (2-10 year old) study sites ( $F_{5, 24} =$ 344.465, p < 0.001). The 4-10 year old mine sites showed a very gradual increase in alpha diversity. However, the DMRT post hoc test revealed highly significant differences between alpha diversity found in the 0 and 2 year old site in comparison to the 6 and 8 year old and the reference, sites. Significant differences in diversity were also obtained between the 0, 2 and 4 year old sites. No significant differences were obtained between 6, 8 and 10 year old sites.

Beta diversity was highest in the 4 and 6 year old sites and lowest in the 2 year old dump site, while there was no difference in the species composition of the 8 and 10 year old dump sites (Fig. 3). While grasshopper abundance and number of species showed a linear increase, (the curve was steep initially and more gradual in the late successional stages) in the case of crickets, both parameters demonstrated a decrease in the later, 8-10 year old mine sites (Fig. 4). One-way ANOVA of grasshopper abundance showed highly significant differences ( $F_{5,24} = 1198.843$ , p < 0.001) in the 0-10 year old sites, although abundance of crickets demonstrated a lower significance value ( $F_{5, 24} = 3.186$ , p < 0.05). The DMRT post hoc test revealed significant differences in grasshopper abundance among the 0-10 year old sites, while the abundance of crickets showed significant differences between 0 and 2-6 year old sites. No significant differences were found between 2-10 year old sites (Fig. 4)

Rank abundance patterns revealed that lowest orthopteran diversity is found in the 2 year old site (the uppermost curve). There was overlap between the rank abundance curves obtained for the 4-10 year old sites (Fig. 5).

#### Discussion

Our results reveal that grasshoppers are early colonisers of revegetated mine sites, since out of the 12 orthopteran species recorded at the 2 year old site, 11 species were of grasshoppers and only a solitary species of cricket (*Lepidogryllus* sp.) was found. Acrididae and Pyrgomorphidae were species rich families dominant at the mine sites. While G. africanus remained consistently abundant in the 2-10 year old spoils, A. conica abundance increased gradually, reaching peak values only in the 10 year old, climax, successional stage (Fig. 1). Three species of grasshoppers, Carnarvonella sp., B. luctuosa and O. abruptus preferred habitat conditions prevalent in 4 and 6 year old dump sites and were totally absent in the late successional stages. Some grasshopper species appear to be highly sensitive to environmental disturbances caused due to mining activities. Thus, **A**. exaltata, O. fuscovittata and Pterophylla sp. appear to be late- colonising grasshopper species, arriving much later i.e. in the almost restored, 8 year old mine site, onwards. Our results thus support earlier studies, carried out in rangelands, which show that grasshopper species assemblages are highly sensitive to the level of disturbance (Kemp et al., 1990).

Orthopterans were totally absent in the newly established mine sites. However, alpha diversity of orthopterans progressively but gradually increased (although not significantly) in the 4-10 year old sites. Beta diversity exhibited a gradual increase, reaching highest values in the 4-6 year old sites, there being no difference in orthopteran diversity between the 8 and 10 year old sites. Alpha diversity and rank abundance patterns indicate that orthopteran diversity is low in the highly disturbed site (2 year old) but after increasing sharply in 4 year old site, at intermediate levels of disturbance does not increase significantly in the more disturbed, 6-10 year old sites. The lack of a clear pattern in rank abundance curves obtained for 4-10 year old sites may be due to the fact that while the alpha diversity of orthopterans does not differ significantly between sites with intermediate and low levels of disturbance, abundance levels are significantly higher in the less disturbed sites. Secondly, the number of species of crickets (i.e. decomposers) decreased while those of herbivorous grasshoppers increased with increase in mine site rehabilitation age. Moreover, while some species are habitat specialists, characteristic of specific successional stages (either with low or high disturbance levels), others are generalists which gradually increase in abundance along the descending disturbance gradient.

The abundance and diversity of crickets (decomposer feeding guild, Gullan and Cranston, 2000) showed a steep increase initially but decreased in the 8-10 year old mine sites. While Metioche sp. showed an increasing abundance trend in the 4 to 6 year old mine sites and was absent in later stages, Lepidogryllus sp. did not demonstrate any abundance pattern in the 2-10 year old sites. Thus, decomposers are found to be more abundant in the early successional stages and gradually decrease and give way to the herbivores in the late successional 8 year old site and the climax, 10 year old mine site. Earlier studies on newly abandoned arable land, meadows with large mammal grazing pressure and protected seminatural steppe meadow, report orthopteran assemblages to be more stable on the undisturbed and intermediate disturbance level sites (Baldi and Kisbenedek, 1997). In the complete absence of significant grazing by mammalian herbivores at the mine sites, the herbivorous grasshoppers and decomposer crickets provide an important ecological pathway for energy flow and nutrient cycling.

Being a major source of food for predatory arthropods (Schmitz, 2008), orthopteran species may influence other organisms during the recolonisation process. They are also important components of the food chain for many insectivorous birds and mammals (Capinera *et al.*, 1997; Mayya *et al.*, 2005), Alteration of orthopteran population dynamics is expected to affect several trophic levels in the food chain (Capinera *et al.*, 1997).

#### Recolonisation patterns of orthopteran species in revegetated coal mines



1 (a)





1 (c)

Fig.1: Abundance of orthopteran species belonging to different families: (a) Acrididae, (b) Pyrgomorphidae, (c) Gryllidae, Tettigoniidae and Eumastacidae, in coal mine spoils established in 2011 (0 year old), 2009 (2 year old), 2007 (4 year old), 2005, (6 year old), 2003 (8 year old) and 2001 (10 year old, reference site). One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's post hoc test: p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01 and \*\*\*p < 0.001, ns- Not significant.



Fig.2: Alpha diversity of orthopteran species in 0 to 10 year old coal mine sites (established in 2011, 2009, 2007, 2005, 2003 and 2001, respectively). One way ANOVA followed by Duncan's Multiple Range Test (DMRT) (p < 0.05) were used to compare the calculated orthopteran alpha diversity at different coal mine sites. Different letters denote significant differences (p < 0.05) among orthopteran alpha diversity at different sites (0-10 year old).



Fig.3: Beta diversity of orthopteran species in 2-8 year old coal mine sites (established in 2009, 2007, 2005 and 2003, respectively).



Fig.4: The diversity and abundance of grasshoppers and cricket species in 0-10 year old coal mine sites (established in 2011, 2009, 2007, 2005, 2003 and 2001, respectively).

 $\Box$  = Abundance of grasshoppers, = Abundance of crickets,

- Diversity of grasshoppers, - - Diversity of crickets



Fig.5: Species rank abundance plot of orthopteran community in 2 to 10 year old coal mine sites (established in 2009, 2007, 2005, 2003 and 2001, respectively).

The results of the present study clearly demonstrate a strong relationship between anthropogenic disturbances due to mining activities and orthopteran assemblage compositions in mine sites of different ages. Grasshopper diversity and abundance varied linearly with degraded ecosystem rehabilitation, suggesting the important role of grasshoppers in food webs operating in the mine sites. Since grasshopper assemblages are documented to show stronger differentiation among disturbed sites not evident even on the basis of floristic data (Andersen et al., 2001), the abundance patterns of grasshoppers, particularly those of habitat specialists, may be of significance in the evaluation of restoration progress in degraded ecosystems.

#### Acknowledgements

We thank the reviewer for his constructive suggestions. Funding support from the Ministry of Environment and Forests, New Delhi, is gratefully acknowledged. We thank Northern Coalfields Ltd. for providing permission for conducting the field study at the coal mine site of NCL, Singrauli, in Madhya Pradesh, India. We are very grateful to Dr. K. Usmani, Department of Zoology of Aligarh Muslim University for his help in the identification of specimens and to Dr. Ram Sagar of Department of Botany, Banaras Hindu University, for his helpful suggestions related to diversity analysis.

#### References

Andersen, A. N., Ludwig, J.A., Lowe, L. M. and Rentz, D.C.F. 2001. Grasshopper biodiversity and bioindicators in Australian tropical savannas: Responses to disturbance in Kakadu National Park. Austral Ecology 26: 213-222.

- Baldi, A., and Kisbenedek, T. 1997. Orthopteran assemblages as indicators of grassland naturalness in Hungary. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 66: 121 – 129.
- Bengtsson, J., Nilsson, S. G. N., Franc, A., Menozzi,
  P. 2000. Biodiversity, disturbance
  ecosystem function and management of
  European forests. Forest Ecology and
  Management 132: 39-50.
- Bonnet, E., Vilks, A. and Lenain, J.F, Petit, D. 1997. Analyse temporelle et structurale de la relation orthopteres-vegetation. Temporal and structural analysis of the relationships between Orthoptera and vegetation. Ecologie 28: 209-216.
- Capinera, J. L., Scherer, C. W. and Simkins, J. B.1997. Habitat associations of grasshoppers at the MacArthur agro-ecology research center, Lake Placid, Florida. Florida Entomologist 80: 253-261.
- Dornelas, M. 2010. Disturbance and change in biodiversity. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society Biological Sciences 365: 3719-3727.
- Floren, A., Riede, K. and Ingrisch, S. 2001. Diversity of Orthoptera from Bornean lowland rain forest trees. Ecotropica 7: 33-42.
- Folke, C., Carpenter, S., Walker, B., Scheffer, M., Elmqvist, T., Gunderson, L. and Holling, C.
  S. 2004. Regime shifts, resilience, and biodiversity in ecosystem management. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 35: 557-581.
- Gullan, P. J. and Cranston, P. S. 2000. The Insects: An Outline of Entomology. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. Blackwell Science Ltd, Oxford, United Kingdom.
- Guo, Z., Li, H. C. and Gan, Y. L. 2006. Grasshopper (Orthoptera: Acrididae) biodiversity and grassland ecosystems. Insect Science 13: 221-227.
- Joern, A. 1982. Vegetation structure and microhabitat selection in Grasshoppers (Orthoptera, Acrididae). The Southwestern Naturalist 27: 197-209.

- Kemp, W. P., Harvey, S. J. and O'Neill K. M. 1990. Patterns of vegetation and grasshopper community composition. Oecologia 83: 299-308.
- Longcore, T. 2003. Terrestrial arthropods as indicators of ecological restoration success in Coastal Sage Scrub (California, U.S.A.). Restoration Ecology 4: 397-409.
- Majer, J. D. 1989. Animals in Primary Succession. The Role of Fauna in Land Reclamation. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. 547 pp.
- Majer, J. D. 2009. Animals in the restoration process – progressing the trends. Restoration Ecology 17: 315-319.
- Mayya, S., Sreepada, K. S. and Hegde, M. J. 2005. Survey of short-horned grasshoppers (Acrididae) from Dakshina Kannada district, Karnataka. Zoos' Print Journal 20: 1977-1979.
- Parmenter, R. R., MacMahon, J. A. and Gilbert C. A.
  B. 1991. Early successional patterns of arthropod recolonization on reclaimed Wyoming strip mines: The Grasshoppers (Orthoptera: Acrididae) and allied faunas (Orthoptera: Gryllacrididae and Tettigoniidae). Environmental Entomology 20: 135-142.
- Schmitz, O. J., 2008. Effects of predator hunting mode on grassland ecosystem function. Science 319: 952-954.
- Shure, D. J. and Phillips, D. L. 1991. Patch size of forest openings and arthropod populations. Oecologia 86: 325-334.
- Singh, A. 2011. Vascular flora on coal mine spoils of Singrauli coalfields, India. Journal of Ecology and the Natural Environment 3: 309-318.
- Singh, A. 2012. Pioneer flora on naturally revegetated coal mine spoil in a dry tropical environment. Bulletin of Environment, Pharmacology & Life Sciences 1: 72-73.
- Suding, K. N. 2011. Toward an era of restoration in ecology: Successes, Failures, and opportunities ahead. Annual Review Ecology, Evolution and Systematics 42: 465-487.

ISSN 0973-1555 © RAJINDER KAUR AND NEELIMA R KUMAR

# Pollen foraging activity of *Apis mellifera* during autumn season in Chandigarh

#### **Rajinder Kaur\* and Neelima R Kumar**

Department of Zoology, Panjab University, Chandigarh – 160014, India

(e-mail: \*dr.rita85@gmail.com; neelimark6@gmail.com)

#### Abstract

Foraging activity of honeybee Apis mellifera was studied during autumn season in Chandigarh. The collection of pollen by worker bees was influenced by number of factors including both internal and external. Internal factors like higher area under brood in the colony stimulated the foragers to collect more pollen. External factors such as temperature, light, wind, rain, clouds also influenced the pollen foraging activities. Number of pollen foragers returning with pollen loads at the hive entrance was counted for 5 minutes (September-November, 2011) at intervals of 1 hour each from 10:00 a.m. to 04:00 p.m., twice a week in five honeybee colonies during autumn season. The mean maximum number of pollen foragers was recorded as  $218.38 \pm 33.27$  at 12:00 noon when air temperature ranged from  $15^{\circ}$ C to  $32^{\circ}$ C. This pollen collecting activity decreased after 03:00 p.m. Number of trips depended upon various conditions including weather, forage availability, strength of colony etc. The results of findings revealed that 12:00 noon was the hour of peak pollen collecting activity during autumn season and *Cassia siamea* present in large number near the colonies was the main source of collected pollen.

Keywords: Honeybees, foraging, pollen, autumn.

#### Introduction

Honeybee is one of the most familiar insects in the world. This member of the insect order Hymenoptera plays a key role in human and environmental health. Honeybees are social insects. Each bee belongs to one of the three specialized groups called castes viz., queen, drones and workers.

The development of honeybees largely depends upon the food they are fed. So, the nectar and pollen collection by honeybees plays an important role. Various factors influence the foraging behavior of worker bees such as weather, distance of food source from the hive, food quality, quantity of nectar and pollen. There is usually shortage of floral resources during summer and rainy seasons i.e. from June to August (Mishra and Sharma, 1997). Bees generally forage to a food source within 3 km radius. Foraging also depends upon temperature conditions as follows: no foraging (<  $8^{\circ}$ C); some activity ( $8^{\circ}$ C-16°C); optimal condition (16°C-32°C); reduction in foraging, increase in water collection (> 32°C). Here we investigate pollen foraging activity of honeybees in autumn season.

#### **Materials and Methods**

The study was carried in a small apiary maintained at the Department of Zoology, Panjab University Campus, Chandigarh. Five colonies of *Apis mellifera* kept in Langstroth hives were taken for the study. To study the foraging activity of the honeybees, the number of pollen collecting foragers returning to the hive entrance was recorded for 5 minutes every one hour from 10:00 a.m. to 04:00 p.m. Observations were recorded twice a week from SeptemberNovember, 2011. Foraging efficiency of a colony was measured in terms of number of bees with pollen load entering the hive. The floral sources present near the colonies on which bees reached for pollen collection were observed. These observations were taken by naked eyes.

#### **Results and Discussion**

Pollen collection by honeybees: The bees efficiently collected pollen during the day time in autumn season. Pollen loads varied during the day showing hourly fluctuations. The worker bees had higher tendency to collect pollen in the morning

and reduced their activity in late hours of the day (Table 1 and Fig. 1). It has previously reported that the foraging activity of all insect visitors was affected by environmental conditions such as temperature, light intensity, wind speed, and time of day and season (Kevan and Baker, 1983). Several workers investigated how such factors affected foraging activity and the general opinion was that the activity increased with temperature up to a threshold, above which visitation decreased (Hippa et al., 1981; Willmer, 1983; Arroyo et al., 1985; Boyle-Mackowski and Philogene, 1985; Gilbert, 1985).

#### Table 1: Mean number of pollen foragers per 5 minutes in five colonies.

S. No.	Time of Observations (September–November)	Mean number of pollen foragers per 5 minutes
1.	10:00	64.38 ± 18.67
2.	11:00	$168.38 \pm 21.31$
3.	12:00	218.38 ± 33.27
4.	01:00	$159 \pm 22.03$
5.	02:00	$144.25 \pm 37.14$
6.	03:00	$127.38 \pm 33.48$
7.	04:00	25 ± 9.59

p value is less than 0.0001, which implies results are statistically significant.

Pollen collection took place throughout the day. The rhythm of average number of pollen collecting foragers during day ranged from  $218.38 \pm 33.27$  at 12:00noon to  $25 \pm 9.59$  at 4:00 p.m. After 03:00 p.m. the graph declined rapidly. This fluctuation was most likely due to fall in temperature. Louveaux (1958) observed that pollen was not collected when air temperature was below 10°C. Neupane and Thapa (2005) recorded that the number of pollen foragers was 62.3/colony during autumn when air temperature ranged from 34°C to 19°C and a relative humidity 85 to 87%. The air temperature played main role in influencing the worker bees to collect

pollen.

Variety of floral sources present near the colony: There were many floral sources present near the colonies during autumn season on which honeybees reached for pollen collection. These floral sources were Hibiscus rosa sinensis (China rose), Cassia siamea (Golden shower), Callistemon lanceolatus (Bottle brush), Eriobotrya japonica (Loquat) but Cassia siamea was most abundant during the season. The pollen foragers collected maximum quantity of pollen from those plants which were more abundant in the area and lesser amount of pollen from those plants which were not very common.



# Fig. 1: Relationship between time of observation and mean number of pollen foragers per 5 minutes during autumn.

#### Conclusion

Maximum number of pollen collecting foragers was observed at 12:00 noon when air temperature ranged between 15°C to 32°C and *Cassia siamea* was the most abundant flora on which honeybees reached for pollen collection.

#### Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to the Rajiv Gandhi National Fellowship (UGC) for supporting the research.

#### References

- Arroyo, M.T.K., Armesto, J.J. and Primack, R.B. 1985. Community studies in pollination ecology in the high temperate Andes of central Chile. II: Effect of temperature on visitation rates and pollination possibilities. Plant Systematics and Evolution 149: 187-203.
- Boyle-Makowski, R.M.D. and Philogene, B.J.R. 1985. Pollinator activity and abiotic factors in an apple orchard. Canadian Entomologist 117: 1509-1521.
- Gilbert, F.S. 1985. Diurnal activity patterns in hoverflies (Diptera, Syrphidae). Ecological Entomology 10: 385-392.

- Hippa, H., Koponen, S. and Osmonen, O. 1981. Diurnal activity of flower visitors to the cloudberry (*Rubus chamaemorus* L.). Reports from Kevo Subarctic Research Station 17: 55-57.
- Kevan, P.G. and Baker, H.G. 1983. Insects as flower visitors and pollinators. Annual Review of Entomology 28: 407-453.
- Neupane, K.R. and Thapa, R.B. 2005. Pollen collection and brood production by honeybees (*Apis mellifera* L.) under Chitwan condition of Nepal. Journal of the Institute of Agriculture and Animal Science 26: 143-148.
- Louveaux, J. 1958. Research surla recolatedu pollen par les abeilles (*Apis mellifera* L.). *In:* C.P. Dadant, C. C. Dadant, M. G. Dadant and J. C. Dadant (eds.). The Hive and The Honeybee. Dadant and Sons, Inc. Hamilton, USA. 401-436 pp.
- Mishra, R.C. and Sharma, S.K. 1997. Technology for management of *Apis mellifera* in India. *In*: R.C. Mishra (ed.). Perspectives in Indian apiculture. Agro Botanica, Bikaner India 131-148 pp.
- Willmer, P. G. 1983. Thermal constraints on activity patterns in nectar-feeding insects. Ecological Entomology 8: 455-469.

ISSN 0973-1555 © NAFISA AKHTAR AND M. NAYYAR AZIM

#### A Preliminary survey of thrips (Thysanoptera) from Kashmir Himalaya

#### Nafisa Akhtar and M. Nayyar Azim\*

Section of Entomology, P.G. Department of Zoology, University of Kashmir, Srinagar-190006 (J & K)

(e-mail: \*mnayyarazim@yahoo.com)

#### Abstract

A preliminary taxonomic survey has been conducted on Thrips of Kashmir region. The species collected have been systematically arranged in their respective families and subfamilies. The study is based on the personal collection of the senior author.

Keywords: Thrips, taxonomic survey, Kashmir, India.

#### Introduction

The thrips belong to the order Thysanoptera. They are tiny, slender insects with fringed wings. They are also referred to as bladder footed insects. Most of them are phytophagous and very few are known to be predaceous feeding mostly on mites, coccids, white ants and psocids. Besides, many species act as vectors and transmit a number of bacterial, fungal and viral diseases in plants (Sakimura, 1947; Mound, 1973; Reddy and Wightman, 1988 and Amin, 1980). Some species induce gall formation in the plant tissues. The rolled leave gall on *Piper* and *Ficus* trees are produced by few species in oriental region (Ananthakrishnan, 1978).

Some species of thrips are very useful and act as pollinators especially in oil palm (Syed, 1979). They also act as biological control agents (Lewis, 1973; Palmer and Mound, 1989 and Beattie, 1985).

In India significant contributions on the taxonomy of thrips have been made by Moulton (1929), Ananthakrishnan (1969a, 1969b, 1969c, 1971a, 1971b, 1973a, 1973b), Ananthakrishan and Sen (1980), Bhatti (1969a, 1969b, 1972, 1978, 1980, 1982, 1988, 1994, 1998, 2000,

2006), Bhatti and Mound (1980) and Mound (1976). A very little work has been carried out on this aspect from Kashmir region, however, important contributions include: Singh (1947) and Lone and Bhagat (1984).

In the present study a preliminary taxonomic survey has been conducted on Thrips of Kashmir region; the species are catalogued systematically under the respective suborders, families and genera.

SUBORDER TEREBRANTIA

Family Aeolothripidae

Genus: Aeolothrips

Aeolothrips collaris Priesner

Material examined: 5♀, 5 ♂, INDIA, Jammu and Kashmir, Srinagar, Shalimar garden on Zinnia, 4.viii.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar).

#### Aeolothrips fasciatus (Linnaeus)

Material examined: 8  $\bigcirc$ , 5  $\checkmark$ , INDIA, Jammu and Kashmir, Srinagar, Shalimar garden on Zinnia, 4.viii.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar).

#### Family Thripidae

#### Genus: Actinothrips

#### Actinothrips rufus Haliday

Material examined:  $6 \ \mathcal{Q}$ ,  $3 \ \mathcal{S}$ , INDIA, Jammu and Kashmir, Srinagar, Botanical Garden, University of Kashmir on Dandelion, 20.iv.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar).

#### Genus: Anaphothrips

#### Anaphothrips obscurus (Muller)

Material examined:  $4 \ \mathcal{Q}$ ,  $2 \ \mathcal{J}$ , INDIA, Jammu and Kashmir, Budgam, Khanda on Saffron, 20.x.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar).

#### Genus: Frankliniella

#### Frankliniella intonsa Trybom

Material examined:  $6 \Leftrightarrow 5 & 3$ , INDIA, Jammu and Kashmir, Srinagar, Nageen lake on Lily, 17.ix.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar)

#### Frankliniella schultzei Trybom

Material examined:  $4 \ \mathcal{Q}$ ,  $4 \ \mathcal{J}$ , INDIA, Jammu and Kashmir, Srinagar, Nageen lake on Lily, 17.ix.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar).

#### Genus: Microcephalothrips

#### Microcephalothrips abdominalis (Crawfrod)

Material examined: 5  $\bigcirc$ , 5  $\checkmark$ , INDIA, Jammu and Kashmir, Nehru Memorial botanical Garden on Marigold, 10.v.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar), 4  $\bigcirc$ , 6  $\checkmark$ , Shalimar garden on Zinnia, 4.viii.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar).

#### Genus: Megalurothrips

#### Megalurothrips distalis (Karny)

Material examined: 7  $\bigcirc$ , 8  $\Diamond$ , INDIA, Jammu and Kashmir, Srinagar, Shalimar garden on Roses, 23.v.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar), 5  $\bigcirc$ , 6  $\circlearrowright$ , Botanical garden university of Kashmir on Dahlia, 23.vi.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar), 4  $\bigcirc$ , 3  $\circlearrowright$ , Shalimar garden on Zinnia, 4.viii.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar), 5  $\bigcirc$ , 5 $\circlearrowright$ , Budgam, Khanda on Saffron, 4.x.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar).

#### Megalurothrips pecularis (Bagnall)

Material examined: 6Q, 6,  $\delta$ , INDIA, Jammu and Kashmir, Srinagar, Shalimar garden on Roses, 23.v.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar), 5Q,  $5\delta$ , Shalimar garden on Zinnia 4.viii.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar).

#### Genus: Heliothrips

#### Heliothrips haemorrhoidalis (Bouche)

Material examined:  $3 \, \bigcirc, 4 \, \Diamond$ , INDIA, Jammu and Kashmir, Srinagar, Botanical garden university of Kashmir on Dandelion 20.iv.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar),  $5 \, \bigcirc, 5 \, \Diamond$ , Shalimar garden on Roses, 23.v.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar).

#### Genus: Thrips

#### Thrips tabaci Lindeman

Material examined:  $6 \ \mathcal{Q}$ ,  $5 \ \mathcal{S}$ , INDIA, Jammu and Kashmir, Srinagar, Indira Gandhi memorial Tulip garden on Tulips, 24.iv.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar),  $3 \ \mathcal{Q}$ ,  $4\mathcal{S}$ , University of Kashmir botanical garden on Marigold, 10.v.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar),  $4 \ \mathcal{Q}$ ,  $4\mathcal{S}$ , Nageen lake on lily, 17.ix.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar).

#### Thrips flavus Schrank

Material examined:  $3 \ \mathcal{Q}$ ,  $3 \ \mathcal{J}$ , INDIA, Jammu and Kashmir, Srinagar, Nehru memorial botanical garden on Roses, 10.v.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar),  $4 \ \mathcal{Q}$ ,  $6 \ \mathcal{J}$ , Shalimar garden on Roses, 4.vi.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar).

#### Thrips coloratus Schmutz

Material examined:  $7 \, \bigcirc, 7 \, \Diamond$ , INDIA, Jammu and Kashmir, Nehru memorial botanical garden on Roses, 10.vi.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar),  $4 \, \bigcirc, 3 \, \Diamond$ , Shalimar garden on Zinni, 4.vii.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar).

#### Thrips nigropilosus Uzel

Material examined:  $6 \, \bigcirc, 5 \, \Diamond$ , INDIA, Jammu and Kashmir, Srinagar, Gulmarg on *Chrysanthemum*, 17.vii.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar).

#### Thrips trehernei Priesner

Material examined:  $5 \, \bigcirc, 5 \, \Diamond$ , INDIA, Jammu and Kashmir, Srinagar, University of Kashmir botanical garden on Dandelion, 20.iv.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar),  $4 \, \bigcirc, 3 \, \Diamond$ , Shalimar garden on Roses,23.v.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar).

#### Thrips hawaiiensis (Morgan)

Material examined:  $3 \ \mathcal{Q}$ ,  $4 \ \mathcal{S}$ , INDIA, Jammu and Kashmir, Srinagar, Indira Gandhi memorial Tulip garden on Tulips, 24.iv.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar),  $3 \ \mathcal{Q}$ ,  $3 \ \mathcal{S}$ , University of Kashmir botanical garden on Marigold, 10.v.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar),  $2 \ \mathcal{Q}$ ,  $2 \ \mathcal{S}$ , Nageen lake on Lily, 17.ix.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar).

#### Thrips simplex (Morison)

Material examined:8  $\bigcirc$ , 4  $\circlearrowright$ , INDIA, Jammu and Kashmir, Srinagar, Dal lake on Lotus, 17.ix.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar), 3  $\bigcirc$ , 2  $\circlearrowright$ , Ganderbal, floriculture farm house on Gladiolus,23.vi.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar).

#### Genus: Scirtothrips

#### Scirtothrips dorsalis Hood

Meterial examined: 5  $\bigcirc$ , 5  $\circlearrowright$ , INDIA, Jammu and Kashmir, Srinagar, Nehru memorial botanical garden on Marigold, 10.v.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar), 4  $\bigcirc$ , 3  $\circlearrowright$ , Shalimar garden on Zinnia 4.viii.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar). Family Phlaeothripidae

Genus: Haplothrips

#### Haplothrips robustus Bagnall

Material examined: 3 ♀, 2♂, INDIA, Jammu and Kashmir, Budgam, Khanda on Saffron 20.x.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar).

#### Haplothrips verbasci (Osborn)

Material examined: 4  $\bigcirc$ , 5  $\checkmark$ , INDIA, Jammu and Kashmir, Budgam, Khanda on saffron, 20.x.2010 (Nafisa Akhtar).

#### Acknowledgements

The authors are thankful to Head, P. G. Department of Zoology, University of Kashmir, Srinagar for providing research facilities. Thanks are also due to Dr. L. A. Mound CAB, International Institute of Entomology, British Museum Natural History, London for identification of some species and also for encouragement.

#### References

- Amin, P.W. 1980. Techniques for handling thrips as vectors of tomato spotted wilt and yellow spotted virus of groundnut Arachis hypogaea L. ICRISAT Occasional paper, Groundnut Entomology 80(2): 1-20.
- Ananthakrishnan, T. N. 1969a. Indian Thysanoptera. C.S.I.R. Zoological Monograph 1: 1-171.
- Ananthakrishnan, T.N. 1969b. Mycophagus Thysanoptera II. Oriental Insects 3(3): 289-299.
- Ananthakrishnan, T.N. 1969c. The genus Polyphemothrips from India. Oriental insects 3(3): 301-310.
- Ananthakrishnan, T. N. 1971a Mycophagus Thysanoptera III. Oriental insects 5(2): 189-202.
- Ananthakrishnan, T. N. 1971b. New species of Stigmothrips Ananthakrishnan with keys to Indian species. Journal of Zoological Society of India 23(2): 175-185.

- Ananthakrishnan, T. N. 1973a. Studies on some Indian species of the genus *Elaphrothrips* Buffa (Megathripinae: Tubulifera: Thsanoptera). Pacific Insects 15(2): 271-284.
- Ananthakrishnan, T. N. 1973b. Thrips, Biology and Control. India: Macmillan India, New Delhi 120 pp.
- Ananthakrishnan, T.N. 1978. Thrips galls and gall thrips. Zoological survey of India. Technical Monograph 1: 1-69.
- Ananthakrishnan, T. N. and Sen, S. 1980. *Taxonomy* of *Indian Thysanoptera*. Zoological survey of India. Handbook series 1: 1-234.
- Bhatti, J.S. 1969a. The taxonomic status of Megalurothrips Bagnall (Thysanoptera: Thripidae). Oriental Insects 3(3): 239-244.
- Bhatti, J.S. 1969b. Taxonomic studies in some Thripini (Thysanoptera:Thripidae). Oriental Insects 3 (4): 373-382.
- Bhatti, J.S. 1972. A review of Indian species of Caliothrips with notes on other Heliothripines Thsanoptera. Oriental Insects 6(1): 65-73.
- Bhatti, J.S. 1978. Systematics of Anaphothrips Uzel 1895 sensu lato and some related genera (Insecta: Thysanoptera: Thripidae) Senckenbergiana biologia 59: 85-114.
- Bhatti, J.S. 1980. Species of the genus *Thrips* from India (Thysanoptera). *Systematic Entomology* 5: 109-166.
- Bhatti, J.S. 1982. Revision of the Indian species of *Stenchaetothrips* Bagnall (Thsanoptera: Thripidae). Oriental Insects 16: 385-417.
- Bhatti, J.S. 1988. The orders Terebrantia and Tubulifera of the super order Thsanoptera (Insecta). A critical Appraisal. Journal of Pure and Applied Zoology 1: 167-240.
- Bhatti, J.S. 1994. Phylogenetic relationships among Thysanoptera (Insecta) with particular reference to the families of the order Tubulifera. Journal of pure and Applied Zoology (1993): 93-130.
- Bhatti, J.S. 1998. New structural features in the order Tubulifera (Insecta) 1. Amalgamation of labromaxillary complex with cranium and other cephalic structures. Journal of Pure and Applied Zoology 5: 147-176.

- Bhatti, J.S. 2000. Revision of *Trichromothrips* and related genera (Terebrantia: Thripidae). Oriental Insects 40: 339-375.
- Bhatti, J.S. 2006. The classification of Terebrantia (Insecta) into families. Oriental Insects. 40: 339-375.
- Bhatti, J.S. and Mound, L.A. 1980. The genera of grass and cereal feeding Thsanoptera related to the genus *Thrips* (Thysanoptera; Thripidae). Bulletin of Entomology 21: 1-22.
- Beattie, G.A.C. 1985. Ecology of citrus Red scale, Aonidiella aurantii (Maskell). New South Wales department of Agriculture, Miscellaneous Bulletin 2: 1-57.
- Lewis, T. 1973. Thrips, their biology, ecology and economic importance. London: Academic Press 349 pp.
- Lone, A and Bhagat, R.C. 1984. Thrips of Kashmir valley, India (New records and host range). *Geobios new reports* 3:101-103.
- Moulton. 1929. Thysanoptera from India. Records of Indian Museum 31: 93-100.
- Mound, L.A. 1976. Thysanoptera of the genus Dichromothrips an old world Orchidaceae Biological Journal of Linnean Society, London 8: 245-265.
- Palmer, J.M. and Mound, A.L. 1989. Thysanoptera as predators. *In:* D. Rosen (ed.). Armoured scale insects. Elsevier Science Publishers, Amsterdam 4B: 67-76 pp.
- Reddy, D.V.R. and Whightman, J.A. 1988. Tomato spotted wilt virus: thrips transmission and control. In: K.F. Harris (ed.). Advances in disease vector Research. Springer-verlag, New York 5: 203-220.
- Sakimura, K. 1947. Thrips in relation to gall forming and plant transmission- A review. Proceedings of Hawaiian Entomological Society 13: 59-96.
- Sayed, R.A. 1979. Studies on oil palm pollination by insects. *Bulletin of Entomological Research* 69: 213-224.
- Singh, S. 1947. Studies of the Indian Thysanoptera. Records of Indian Museum 40: 201.

ISSN 0973-1555 © MANPREET S. PANDHER AND MALKIAT S. SAINI

### Addition of a new species to *Ecnomus* McLachlan, 1864 (Trichoptera: Ecnomidae) along with key to its Indian Fauna

Manpreet S. Pandher\*<sup>1</sup> and Malkiat S. Saini<sup>2</sup>

 University School of Agriculture, Desh Bhagat University, Mandi Gobindgarh, Fatehgarh Sahib–147301, India
 Asian Institution, Patiala–147002, India

(e-mail: \*mpandher.iari@gmail.com)

#### Abstract

A new species is added to the Ecnomid fauna of India. The newly described species *Ecnomus suni* sp. nov. is recorded from Cherrapungee (Meghalaya). In addition, a key to the males of Indian species of *Ecnomus* is provided.

Keywords: Ecnomidae, India, Himalaya, Meghalaya.

#### Introduction

The type genus Ecnomus McLachlan was the only genus included in Ulmer's (1903) Hydropsychidae under subfamily Ecnominae Ecnomidae). (now The Ecnomidae now includes 7 genera: Ecnomus McLachlan, Daternomina Neboiss, Ecnomina Kimmins. Austrotinodes Schmid. Absensomina Cartwright, Wellsomina Cartwright and Neboissomina Cartwright. The record of species diversity of Ecnomus McLachlan has increased many folds during the past 22 years. According to Cartwright (1990) the genus had only 130 species; within a span of only seven years Li and Morse (1997) gave this figure as 221 species. This number swelled up to 275 species as reported by Johanson and Espeland (2010) and at present this figure stands at 280 species (Morse, 2012). Side by side there is a rapid increase in the knowledge of females and the larvae of most genera of Ecnomidae (Cartwright, 1990, 1997, 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011). It was Li and Morse (1997) who applied the cladistic principles to this family and traced the phylogeny of Chinese species

of this genus. As far as oriental region is concerned most of the contributions are by Malicky (1979, 1993, 1995a, 1995b, 1997, 2000, 2007, 2008 and 2009); Malicky and Chantaramongkol (1993a, 1993b) and Malicky et al. (2004 and 2006) who described many species from Bhutan, Srilanka. Vietnam, Nepal, Thailand, China, Laos, Indonesia (Bali, Kalimantan, Sumatra, Sulawesi), Malaysia, Myanmar and India (Andaman and Nicobar).

From the Indian region only 7 species are on record. Mosely (1932) was the first to describe 3 species from India. He was followed by Martynov (1935) with 3 species. Malicky (1979) reported 1 new species of this genus from Andaman Island. It is nearly 33 years or so that no contribution has been made to this genus from India. In this paper a new species is described and illustrated along with the key to the males of Indian species.

#### **Materials and Methods**

Adults were collected by light traps (UV and mercury vapour bulb) placed near

the edge of high altitude streams of the Himalayan belt of India. The specimens were preserved in 70% ethyl alcohol with a drop of glycerol added. Pertinent collection and locality data were recorded.

The male genitalia were removed from the specimens and put in 10% KOH solution overnight. After this treatment the genitalia were put in 80% ethyl alcohol with a drop of glycerol and observed for morphological characters. The drawings of various aspects were done with the aid of a stereoscope (maximum magnification of 160X) fitted with an ocular grid in one eye piece. The final drawings were rendered in black ink. The illustrations were scanned at 600 dpi grayscale, and mounted onto plates in Adobe© Photoshop<sup>©</sup> 7.0. The genitalic terminology corresponds to Li and Morse (1997). Type specimens are deposited in the Punjabi University Patiala Museum (PUPM). Department of Zoology and Environmental Sciences, Punjabi University, Patiala.

#### Systematics

Ecnomus McLachlan, 1864: 26, 30.

**Type species:** *Philopotamus tenellus* Rambur 1842: 503 (monobasic).

#### Synonymy:

*= Ecnomiella* Mosely, 1935: 221-222.

**Type species:** *Ecnomiella bifurcata* Kimmins (original designation).

Kimmins, 1957: 261 as footnote (as synonym of *Ecnomus*)

**Diagnosis:** Maxillary palpi 5 segmented, its  $2^{nd}$  segment slightly longer than  $1^{st}$  but shorter than  $3^{rd}$  as well as  $4^{th}$ ;  $3^{rd}$  segment positioned apically on  $2^{nd}$ ;  $5^{th}$  segment longest, secondarily annulated and flexible. Forewings each with fork of R<sub>1</sub>, forks I, II, III, IV, and V and discoidal cell, median cell, and thyridial cell; corneous nygmae in F-II and thyridial cell. Few species with fork of R<sub>1</sub> very faded and fork-I absent. Fork IV sessile. Hind wing with forks II and V and without discoidal cell, median cell, median cell,

or rc. Fork II without nygma.

#### Ecnomus suni sp. nov.

(Figs. 1-4)

Material examined: Holotype:  $\circ$ , India: Meghalaya; Cherrapungee, 1200 m, 26-v-2011, Pandher, (PUPM), Ref. no. TRC/E/11. Paratype: Collection data same as of holotype,  $1\circ$ ,  $1\circ$ , (PUPM), TRC/E/12, TRC/E/13.

**Description:** Adult  $\mathcal{J}$ ; color in alcohol brown, dorsum of head dark brown. Length from tip of head to apex of folded forewing about 6mm; maxillary palp 1.50 mm, 4<sup>th</sup> segment longer than 2<sup>nd</sup> as well as 3<sup>rd</sup>, 5<sup>th</sup> longest; labial palp small 0.50mm long. Length of forewing 4.75 mm; venation typical for genus. Hind wing about 3mm long.

Male genitalia (Figs. 1-4): Anterior margin of sternum IX roundly produced, broad ventrolaterally; tergum IX broad, anterolaterally convex, pointed dorsoapically. Segment X lobe like, its posteroventral projection slender, expanded laterally in the middle. Superior appendage broad, quadrate and smaller than inferior appendages in lateral view, with small baso-ventral projection. Inferior appendages almost straight, at mesal margins in ventral view with mesal concavity at middle and with small mesal projection beyond this concavity, sharp at apex. Phallus sharp at apex, protruding laterally at middle.

**Diagnosis:** Ecnomus suni sp.nov. is allied to E. thogarma Malicky and Chantaramongkol, 2009 and E. venimar Malicky and Chantaramongkol, 1993a. The shape of inferior appendages in ventral view is close to E. thogarma but the shape of superior appendages differs in lateral view from the latter. In lateral view E. suni is more close to E. venimar because of the shape of superior appendages. However, E. suni is a distinct species as it differs in the shape of inferior appendages in ventral view from E. venimar. Distribution: India: Meghalaya.

Etymology: This species is named in honour

of Sun Changhai who is working on Chinese Trichoptera.



Figs. 1-4. Ecnomus suni sp. nov., male genitalia. 1- left lateral view, 2- dorsal view, 3- ventral view, 4- Phallus ventral view. (IX<sub>TE</sub> - Tergum IX, IX<sub>SE</sub> - Sternum IX, SA - Superior appendage, BVPSA - Baso ventral projection of Superior appendage, X - Segment X, VPSA - Ventral projection of Superior appendage, PVPX - Postero ventral projection of X, INF - Inferior appendage, IX - Segment IX, PH - Phallus)

#### Key to the males of Indian species of genus Ecnomus McLachlan

1.	Superior appendage pointed at apex in
	lateral viewE. costalis Martynov
-	Superior appendage not pointed at apex
	in lateral view (Fig. 1)2
2.	Superior appendage rounded apically in
	lateral view (Fig. 1)3
-	Superior appendage truncate apically in
	lateral viewE. pusanus Mosely
3.	Inferior appendages longer than
	superior appendages in lateral view
	(Fig. 1)4
-	Inferior appendages shorter than
	superior appendages in lateral view7
4.	Sternum IX broad apically in lateral
	view <i>E. moselyi</i> Martynov
-	Sternum IX narrow apically in lateral
	view (Fig.1)5

5. Inferior appendage with very thin slender process at base; the former is

#### Acknowledgements

The authors are indebted to Dr John (Clemson University, Morse USA) for providing important literature. valuable suggestions and guidance during the research. We greatly appreciate the support provided in the form of the relevant literature for the Oriental as well as Palaearctic Region by Dr Hans Malicky, Austria. Sincere thanks are due to Dr VV Ramamurthy, National Coordinator, Network Project on Insect Biosystematics (NPIB-21-17), Indian Agricultural Research Institute, New Delhi, Government of India, for providing financial support for this research. Thanks are also due to the parent institute, Punjabi University, Patiala, for providing necessary facilities for the present research. Last, but not the least, authors are thankful to the PCCF's, CCF's, DFO, and other forest authorities of Meghalaya for their help and cooperation during the expedition to these states.

Superior appendage small and broad in its dorsal view; its upper distal margin pointed......**E. fletcheri** Mosely

7. Inferior appendage with an angular projection on dorsal side about midway and directed towards base in lateral view......*E. montanus* Mosely

- Inferior appendage smooth without any angular projection on dorsal side in lateral view......E. mithraki Malicky

#### References

- Cartwright, D.I. 1990. The Australian species of *Ecnomus* McLachlan (Trichoptera: Ecnomidae). Memoirs of the Museum of Victoria 51: 1-48.
- Cartwright, D.I. 1997. Preliminary guide to the identification of late instar larvae of Australian Ecnomidae, Philopotamidae and Tasimiidae (Insecta: Trichoptera). Identification guide no. 10. Albury: Cooperative Research Centre for Freshwater Ecology 33 pp.
- Cartwright, D.I. 2008. A review of the Australian species of *Ecnomina* Kimmins and *Daternomina* Neboiss (Trichoptera: Ecnomidae). Zootaxa 1774: 1-76.
- Cartwright, D.I. 2009. Austrotinodes Schmid, a South and Central American caddisfly genus, newly recorded in Australia, with the description of new species (Trichoptera: Ecnomidae). Zootaxa 2142: 1-19.
- Cartwright, D.I. 2010. Descriptions of 2 new genera and 13 new species of caddisflies

from Australia (Trichoptera: Ecnomidae). Zootaxa 2415: 1-21

- Johanson, K..A. and Espeland, M. 2010. Phylogeny of the Ecnomidae (Insecta: Trichoptera). Cladistics 25: 1-13.
- Kimmins, D.E. 1957. Notes on the Psychomyidae (Trichoptera) from the African mainland (south of the Mediterranean region), with particular reference to the genera *Ecnomus* and *Psychomyiella*. Transactions of the Royal Entomological Society of London 109: 259-273.
- Li, Y.J. and Morse, J.C. 1997. Species of the genus *Ecnomus* (Trichoptera: Ecnomidae) from the People's Republic of China. Transactions of the American Entomological Society 123: 85–134.
- Luadee, P. and Malicky, H. 1999. Two new Trichoptera species (Polycentropodidae, Ecnomidae) from Thailand. Braueria 26: 6.
- Malicky, H. 1979. Neue Kocherfliegen (Trichoptera) Von Den Andamanen-Inselen, Zeitschrift Arbeitsgemeinschaft Österreichischer Entomologen 30: 97-99.
- Malicky, H. 1993. Neue asiatische Köcherfliegen (Trichoptera: Philopotamidae, Polycentropodidae, Psychomyidae, Ecnomidae, Hydropsychidae, Leptoceridae). Linzer Biologische Beiträge 2: 1099-1136.
- Malicky, H. 1995. Neue Köcherfliegen (Trichoptera, Insecta) aus Vietnam. Linzer Biologische Beiträge. 27: 851-885.
- Malicky, H. 1997. Weitere neue Köcherfliegen-Arten (Trichoptera) aus Asien. Linzer Biologische Beiträge 29: 217-238.
- Malicky, H. 2000. Einige neue Köcherfliegen aus Sabah, Nepal, Indien und China (Trichoptera: Rhyacophilidae, Hydrobiosidae. Philopotamidae, Polycentropodidae, Ecnomidae, Psychomyiidae, Hydropsychidae, Brachycentridae, Odontoceridae, Molannidae). Braueria 27: 32-39.
- Malicky, H. 2007. Köcherfliegen aus Bhutan (Insecta, Trichoptera). Linzer Biologische Beiträge. 39: 475-517.
- Malicky, H. 2008. Köcherfliegen (Insecta, Trichoptera) aus der Umgebung von Malinau (Kalimantan, Borneo,

Indonesien). Linzer Biologische Beiträge 40: 833-879.

- Malicky, H. 2009. Beiträge zur Kenntnis asiatischer Trichopteren. Braueria 36: 11-58.
- Malicky, H. and Chantaramongkol, P. 1993a. Neue Trichopteren aus Thailand. Teil 1: Rhyacophilidae, Hydrobiosidae, Philopotamidae, Polycentropodidae, Ecnomidae, Psychomyidae, Arctopsychidae, Hydropsychidae. Linzer Biologische Beiträge 25: 433-487.
- Malicky, H. and Chantaramongkol, P. 1993b. Neue Trichopteren aus Thailand. Teil 2: Rhyacophilidae, Philopotamidae, Polycentropodidae, Ecnomidae, Psychomyidae, Xiphocentronidae, Helicopsychidae, Odontoceridae. Linzer Biologische Beiträge 25 : 1137-1187.
- Malicky, H., Chantaramongkol, P., Bunlue, P., Changthong, N., Nawvong. J., Nuntakwang, A., Prommi. Т., Thamsenanupap, P. and Thapanya, D. 2004. 27 neue Köcherfliegen aus Thailand (Insecta, Trichoptera). (36. Arbeit über thailändische Köcherfliegen). Linzer Biologische Beiträge 36: 287-304.
- Malicky, H., Chantaramongkol, P., Changthong, N., Nuntakwang, A. and Thamsenanupap,
  P. 2006. Beschreibungen einiger Köcherfliegen aus Nord-Thailand (Trichoptera). Braueria 33: 39-42.
- Martynov, A.V. 1935. On a collection of Trichoptera from the Indian Museum Part 1. Annulipalpia. Records of Indian Museum 37: 93 -139.
- McLachlan, R. 1864. On the Trichopterous genus *Polycentropus* and the allied genera. The Entomologist's Monthly Magazine 1: 25-31.
- Morse, J.C. 2012. Trichoptera World Checklist. Available from http://entweb.clemson. edu/database/trichopt/index.htm (accessed 20 March, 2012).
- Mosely, M.E. 1932. New exotic species in the genus *Ecnomus* (Trichoptera) (2). Stylops 1: 165-168.
- Mosely, M.E. 1935. New African Trichoptera. Annals and Magazine of Natural History 15: 221-232.

- Neboiss, A. 1977. A taxonomic and zoogeographic study of Tasmanian caddis-flies (Insects: Trichoptera). Memoirs of the National Museum of Victoria 38: 1-208.
- Rambur, J.P. 1842. Histoire Naturelle des Insectes, Névroptères. Librairie

encyclopédique de Roret. Paris: Fain et Thunot 534 pp.

Ulmer, G. 1903. Uber die Metamorphose der Trichopteren, Abhandlungen und Verhandlunggen Naturiwissenschaftlicher Verein in Hamburg 18: 1-154. ISSN 0973-1555 © RUCHIKA KATARIA AND DOLLY KUMAR

### On the Aphid-ant association and its relationship with various host plants in the Agroecosystems of Vadodara, Gujarat, India

#### **Ruchika Kataria and Dolly Kumar\***

Division of Entomology, Department of Zoology, Faculty of Science, The M.S. University of Baroda, Vadodara- 390002, India

(e-mail: \*dollymsu@gmail.com)

#### Abstract

Aphid-ant association and its relationship with various host plants is age old and in most of the cases remains unreported. The present research deals with the extent of damage caused by aphids, a major pest of economically important crops. It also focuses on the role of ants in spreading this pest from one crop to another in the agroecosytems of Vadodara. Hence the objectives of the present study were: to identify the aphid species infesting various agricultural crops with an aim to control them; and to identify ants and host plants associated with the aphid species. Three species of aphids, *Aphis crassivora, A. gossypii* and *A. nerii* were collected from the fields and later identified. Ants associated with aphids were *Camponotus compressus, Monomorium minimum, Pheidole* sp. and *Solenopsis* sp. The ant *Camponotus* sp. usually acts as one of the main cause of spread of aphids from one plant to another. Aphid-ant association was seen in 30 economically important crops maximally from the families Malvaceae, Fabaceae, Solanaceae and Brassicaceae. Ant-aphid association if disrupted can control the population of aphids in the agricultural fields. Therefore, the management of ants can be added as a key component in management of serious pests like aphids.

**Keywords:** Aphid-ant association, agroecosystems.

#### Introduction

Aphids (Homoptera: Aphidoidea) and ants (Hymenoptera: Formicidae) are the protagonists of one of the most studied model of mutualistic relationships in the animal kingdom (Detrain *et al.*, 2010). This aphid– ant association has strong interaction with various host plants. Aphids are one of the major pests of the economically important crops of Vadodara like cotton, castor, pigeon pea, cow pea, etc. Razaq *et al.* (2011) reported 10-90% yield loss in India to the economically important crops depending upon severity of damage and crop stage by aphids. It is a well-known fact that an ant colony tends simultaneously several aphid species, thus there can be intra or interspecific competition between aphid groups for the services of ants. Aphids produce a carbohydrate and nitrogen rich excretion called as honeydew, which is collected by ant species; in return provide protection and hygiene to aphids. This in popular terms is known as mutual interaction.

In India, few cases on aphid-ant association have been reported, but none from Vadodara agricultural fields. Keeping this in mind, the present study was conducted on aphid-ant association and its relationship with various host plants in and around agricultural fields of Vadodara. The main objectives of the work were to: 1) identify the aphid species infesting various agricultural crops with an aim to control them. 2) identify ants and host plants associated with aphid species.

#### **Materials and Methods**

Study was conducted from September 2008 to May 2011. Survey sites were chosen on the basis of accessibility and location within an eco-region. Vadodara District is located in the eastern part of the state of Gujarat in western India at 22°17'59''N, 73°15'18''E, 35 m above the sea level. Aphid infestation was studied in agricultural fields of Vadodara, located within 80 kms of Vadodara city. All fields were approximately 2-5 ha in size. The main crops cultivated are Cotton, Castor, Sugar cane, Pigeon pea, Chickpea, Ladies finger, Potato, Brinjal, Radish, Cauliflower, Wheat, Paddy and Maize.

Collection of female aphids was done by hand collection from aphid infested plants. For collection of ants pitfall and hand collection methods were used, collected specimens were preserved in 70% alcohol for laboratory identification. A stereomicroscope, Leica MPS 60 Ø28/8x/MPS was used for identification and photographic record. Photography was done using a Canon digital camera (Power Shot ISI-120, 12x optical zoom). Aphids were identified using Blackman and Elastop (2000) and later confirmed in the Entomology Division of the Anand Agricultural University Anand. Ants were identified using the keys provided by Bolton (1994). The identification of host plant species were done by Department of Botany, The Maharaja Sayajirao University of Baroda.

# Assessment of incidence and infestation rate of aphids

The assessment of infestation by insect pests on various crops was done as per the "1-4 Scale infestation" scale (Nagrare *et al.*, 2011).

- a) 1 Grade: Scattered appearance of few aphids on the plant.
- b) 2 Grade: Severe infestation of aphids on any one branch of the plant.
- c) 3 Grade: Severe infestation of aphids on more than one branch or half portion of the plant.
- d) 4 Grade: Severe infestation of aphids on the whole plant.

#### **Results and discussion**

The incidence of aphid population on various host plants was observed from September 2008 to May 2011. Infestation of aphids start appearing in the month of September. As the crop grows, population of the aphids on the crop also increases. Maximum population of aphids was observed in the months of November to January which gradually starts decreasing in the months of February and March. Aphid population disappears totally in the month of April to reappear again in September. This was the observation for all the three consecutive years in agricultural fields of Vadodara. Karim et al. (2001) also reported that the aphid population started growing from August, became highest in January and almost vanished in April.

Our results clearly show that aphids are polyphagous and cause severe damage to many host plants (Table 1). In Vadodara, 30 host plant species were recorded from 17

different families. Takalloozadeh (2010) from Iran also reported Aphis gossypii attacking more than 70 different host plants. Major hosts of the aphids in agriculture fields of Vadodara are Gossypium arboreum, Vigna unguiculata, Solanum tuberosum and Solanum melongena. Whereas ornamental plants such as: Hibiscus mutabilis, Hibiscus Nerium indicum. rosa-sinensis. Chrysanthemum sp. and certain weeds like Calotropis procera worked as alternative host of aphids. Plant species belonging to family (17%), Fabaceae Malvaceae (16%). Solanaceae (12%) and Asclepiadaceae (10%) were found as preferred host plants of aphids in Vadodara (Fig. 1).

Aphid-ant interaction is commonly seen on various host plants; about 30 host plants and 6 species of aphids namely Aphis brassicae, A. crassivora, A. fabae, A. gossypii, A. nerii, Myzus persicae were recorded from Vadodara agricultural sites (Table 2). Most abundant species considered as major pests in Vadodara include Aphis gossypii; Aphis crassivora and Aphis nerii. Ants commonly associated with aphids involve Camponotus compressus, Pheidole sp., Monomorium sp. and Solenopsis sp.

A. brassicae was mostly seen on the Brassicaceae family (cabbage and cauliflower) with Pheidole ants associated with them. A. crassivora was mainly found on the family Fabaceae, Malvaceae and Lamiaceae with ants Camponotus compressus and Monomorium minimum associated with them. Along with these ants; the family Lamiaceae also had association with ant Lasius niger which is rarely seen in other host plants. A. fabae mostly seen on the family Fabaceae, Solanaceae, Solar Asteraceae, Amaranthaceae Papaveraceae in and ants Camponotus association with

compressus and Monomorium sp. But in Solanaceae and Papaveraceae, ants Pheidole sp. and Solenopsis sp. were also seen.

In Vadodara agricultural fields, A. gossypii is one of the major threats to Cotton. A. gossypii was mainly found on Malavaceae, Solanaceae and Asteraceae family having interaction with Camponotus strong compressus, Monomorium sp. and Pheidole sp. Patel et al. (2011) reported that 1326 insect species damage Cotton (Gossypium spp.) in approx. 100 countries, of which 16 species are of major concern causing an annual loss of 50-60% of the total production in Northern Gujarat. The ratio of ants and aphids per plant on cotton crops was found to be 1:30. Whereas A. nerii was also associated with the Camponotus compressus on Nerium and Calotropis plants; ant Monomorium sp. was found on the family Asteraceae and Amarantheceae and the Solenopsis sp. was on the family Rutaceae and Poaceae. Myzus persicae mainly seen on the family Malvaceae, Brassicaceae, Amarantheceae and Solanaceae and the associated ants are Camponotus compressus and Monomorium sp. In spinach and brinjal, aphid association was seen with Solenopsis sp. and Pheidole sp.

The species of ants such as Camponotus compressus, Pheidole sp. and Monomorium sp. was seen on aphids on different crops but Camponotus compressus being the major one. Thus, the aphid association is commonly seen with Camponotus compressus and Monomorium sp. The host plants were varying but the aphid-ant association remains the same. Maximum aphid - ant association was found on cotton crop along with beans and pigeon pea. But less association of aphid-ant interaction were seen on Brassicaeae and Utriaceae.

A mutual interaction was observed between aphids and ants. Aphids produce honeydew excretion which is a food for ants and ants gives protection to aphids. In Ankara Plant Protection Central Research Institute of Turkey, Ozdemir et al. (2008) reported 16 different species of ants associated with 19 aphid species. The most encountered ant species associated with many aphid species were Camponotus aethiops, Camponotus piceus, Formica glauca, Lasius paralienus and Crematogaster ordidula. In Vadodara district, Pheidole sp. and Camponotus compressus were observed tending aphid on many plants. Vinson and colonies

Scarborough (1989) also found out the presence of few red imported fire ants. Solenopsis invicta workers on aphid bearing cotton plants reduced aphid predators effectiveness in laboratory. Camponotus compressus was generally found on almost all the host plants, generally acting as a carrier could most possibly be one of the reasons of aphid dispersion from one plant to other host plant in Vadodara. Hence the present study persuades us to study more about these relationships associated and for understanding of the patterns and processes associated with aphid-ant relationships.



#### Fig. 1: Percentage infestation of different host plants by aphids.

Host category	Botanical Name	Common Name	Family	Infestation Scale
-	Gossypium hirsutum (L.)	Cotton	Malvaceae	4 Grade
Field crops	Ricinus communis (L.)	Castor	Euphorbiaceae	1 Grade
	Cajanus cajan (L. Millsp.)	Pigeon pea	Fabaceae	4 Grade
	Vigna unguiculata (L.)	Cow pea	Fabaceae	4 Grade
	Zea mays (L.)	Maize	Poaceae	2 Grade
	Triticum aestivum (L.)	Wheat	Gramineae	2 Grade
	Solanum melongea (L.)	Brinjal	Solanaceae	3 Grade
Vegetables	Solanum tuberosum (L.)	Potato	Solanaceae	3 Grade
	Lycopersicon esculentum (L.)	Tomato	Solanaceae	4 Grade
	Abelmaschus esculentus (L.)	Lady's finger	Malvaceae	4 Grade
	Brassica oleracea ( Linn)	Cabbage	Brassicaceae	2 Grade
	Beta vulgaris (L.)	Beet	Papaveraceae	0 Grade
	Cucumis sativus (L.)	Cucumber	Cucurbitaceae	2 Grade
	Spinacia oleracea (L.)	Spinach	Amarathaceae	2 Grade
	Raphanus sativus(L.)	Radish	Brassicaceae	2 Grade
	Nerium indicum (Mill.)	Oleander	Apocynaceae	2 Grade
Ornamental crops/	Tagetes erecta (L.)	Marigold	Asteraceae	1 Grade
Fruit trees/trees and	Hibiscus mutubilis (L.)	Cotton rose-mallow	Malvaceae	3 Grade
shrubs	Hibiscus rosa-sinensis (L.)	China rose	Malvaceae	4 Grade
	Ocimum sanctum (L.)	Tulsi	Lamiaceae	1 Grade
	Helianthus annuus (L.)	Tulsi	Asteraceae	1 Grade
	Papaver somniferum (L.)	Opium poppy	Amaranthaceae	0 Grade
	Rosa indica (L.)	Rose	Rosaceae	1 Grade
	Atriplex rosea (L.)		Asteraceae	0 Grade
	Matricaria recutita (L.)	Chamomile	Asteraceae	0 Grade
	Nerium oleander (L.)	Oleander	Apocynaceae	4 Grade
	Vinca rosea (L.)	Periwinkle	Apocynaceae	1 Grade
	Citrus limonium (L.)	Lemon	Rutaceae	2 Grade
	Chrysanthemum sp. (L.)	Chrysanths	Asteraceae	3 Grade
	Urtica dioica (L.)	Stinging nettle	Urticaceae	0 Grade
	Datura metel (L.)	Angel's trumpet	Solanaceae	0 Grade
Weeds	Chenopodium album (L.)	Pigweed	Asteraceae	1 Grade
_	Cirsium arvense (L. Scop)	Canada thistle	Asteraceae	1 Grade
	Calotropis procera (W.T.Aiton)	Apple of sodom	Asclepiadaceae	4 Grade
	Gomphocarpus sp. (E.mey.)	Cotton bushes, Balloon bushes	Asclepiadaceae	2 Grade
	Asclepias (E.mey.)	Butterfly weed	Asclepiadaceae	2 Grade

#### Table 1: Host plants of Aphids with its infestation level in agrosystem of Vadodara.

Table 2. Aphid- An	t association and the	r host plants in the	agricultural fields o	f Vadodara
--------------------	-----------------------	----------------------	-----------------------	------------

APHIDS	FAMILY	HOST PLANTS	ANTS
Aphis brassicae (Linnaeus ,1758)	Brassicaceae	Brassica oleracea (Linn) (Cabbage )	Pheidole sp.
Aphis crassivora (Koch, 1854)	Fabaceae	Leguminous crops Cajanus cajan (L. Millsp.) (Pigeon pea)	Camponotus compressus
	Fabaceae	Vigna unguiculata (L.) (Cow pea/ Beans)	Camponotus compressus Monomorium minimum
	Malvaceae	Hibiscus rosasinesis (L.)	Camponotus compressus
	Lamiaceae	Ocimum sanctum (L.) (Tulsi)	Monomorium minimum Monomorium minimum Lasius niger
Anhia fahaa	Fabaaaa	Vigna unquigulata (I_)	Camponotus compressus
(Scopoli 1763)	rabaceae	(Cow pea/Beans)	Monomorium sp
(Scopoli,1705)	Solanaceae	Solanum tuberosum (T)	Camponotus compressus
	Soundeeue	(Potato)	Pheidole sp.
	Asteraceae	Helianthus annuus (L.)	Monomorium minimum
	Solanaceae	Solanum lycopersicum (L.)	Monomorium sp.
	Papaveraceae	Beta vulgaris (L.)	Monomorium sp.
	Amaranthaceae	Papaver somniferum (L.)	Solenopsis sp. Monomorium sp
	Asteraceae	<i>Chenopodium album</i> (L.)	Monomorium minimum
	Asteraceae	Atriplex rosea (L.) (Red orach) Matricaria recutita (L.) (Chamomile) Cirsium arvense (L.Scop) (Canada thistle)	
Aphis nerii (Boyer de	Apocynaceae	Nerium oleander (L.)	Camponotus compressus
Fonscolombe, 1841)	Apocynaceae	(Oleander) Vinca sp. (L.)	Monomorium minimum
	Poaceae	(Periwinkle) Zea mays (L.)	Solenopsis sp.
	Gramineae	(Maize) Triticum aestivum (L.) (Wheat)	Solenopsis sp. Monomorium sp.
	Rutaceae	Citrus limonium (L.) Burm.f. (Lemon)	Camponotus compressus Solenopsis sp.
	Asclepiadaceae	Calotrophis sp.(R.Br.) (Milkweed) Gomphocarpus sp. (E.mey.)	Camponotus compressus
	Asclepiadaceae Asclepiadaceae	(Cotton bushes, Balloon bushes) Asclepias (E.mey.) (Butterfly weed)	Camponotus compressus Camponotus compressus

Aphis gossypii	Malvaceae	Gossypium sp. (L.)	Camponotus compressus
(Glover, 1877)		(Cotton)	
	Solanaceae	Solanum melongena (L.)	Camponotus compressus
		(Brinjal)	Pheidole sp.
	Cucurbitaceae	Cucumis sativus (L.) (Cucumber)	Camponotus compressus
	Malvaceae	Hibiscus rosa sinensis (L.)	Monomorium minimum
		(China rose)	Camponotus compressus
	Asteraceae	Chrysanthemum sp. (L.)	Monomorium minimum
		(Chrysanths)	Camponotus compressus
	Urticaceae	Urtica dioica.(L.)	Solenopsis sp.
		(Stinging nettle)	
Myzuspercicae	Malvaceae	Gossypium sp. (L.)	Camponotus compressus
(Sulzer, 1758)		(Cotton)	Solenopsis sp.
	Amaranthaceae	Spinacia oleracea (L.)	Monomorium sp.
		(Spinach)	Camponotus sp.
			Pheidole sp.
· ·	Brassicaceae	Brassica oleracea (Linn)	Monomorium sp.
		(Cabbage)	
	Brassicaceae	Raphanus sativus (L.)	Camponotus compressus
		(Radish)	
	Solanaceae	Solanum melongena (L.)	Pheidole sp.

#### **Table 2: continued**

#### References

- Blackman, R.L. and Eastop, V.F. 2000. Aphids on the World's Crops: An Identification Information Guide. 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition. Chichester: John Wiley. 466pp.
- Bolton, B. 1994. Identification Guide to the Ant Genera of the World. London: Harvard University Press. 222pp.
- Karim, K.N.S., Das, B.C and Khalequzzaman, M.
  2001. Population Dynamics of Aphis gossypii Glover (Homoptera: Aphididae) at Rajshahi, Bangladesh. Journal of Biological Sciences 1(6): 492-495.
- Ozdemir, I., Aktaç, N., Toros, S., Kılınçer, N. and Gürkan, M.O. 2008. Investigations of the associations between aphids and ants on wild plants in Ankara province (Turkey). Munis Entomology and Zoology 2(3): 606-612.

- Patel, I.S., Patel, G.M., Patel, V.J. and Chaudhary, F.K. 2011. Evaluation of biocontrol based IPM module on cotton Hybrid 10.Journal of Biopesticides 4(1): 73-74.
- Razaq, M., Mehmood, A., Aslam, M., Ismail,M., Afzal, M., Alishad, S. 2011. Losses in yield and yield components caused by aphids to late sown Brassica napus, Brassica juncea and Brassica carrinata braun at multan, Punjab (pakistan). Pakistan Journal of Botany 43(1): 319-324.
- Takalloozadeh, H.M. 2010. Effects of host plants and various temperatures on population growth parameters of Aphis gossypii Glover (Hom: Aphididae). Middle East Journal of Scientific Research 6(1): 25-30.

.

Vinson, S.B. and Scarborough, T.A. 1989. Impact of the imported fire ant on laboratory Population of Cotton aphid (Aphis

.7

gossypii) predators. The Florida Entomologist 72(1): 107-111.
ISSN 0973-1555 © PRADEEP D'CUNHA AND VIJAY MALA GROVER NAIR

# Diversity and Distribution of Ant Fauna in Hejamadi Kodi Sandspit, Udupi District, Karnataka, India

## Pradeep D'Cunha<sup>1</sup> and Vijay Mala Grover Nair\*<sup>2</sup>

Department of Applied Zoology, Mangalore University, Mangalore, Karnataka, India

(e-mail: <sup>1</sup>pradeep.dcunha@gmail.com; \*<sup>2</sup>vijaymalanair@yahoo.com)

### Abstract

Ants are highly diverse and successful in varied habitats. The present study records diversity and distribution of ant fauna in Hejamadi Kodi sandspit (13° 04' to 13° 05' N latitude and 74° 46' E longitude) located in Udupi district, west coast of Karnataka during November and December, 2011. The spit is 1.2 km long with an area of 0.332 km<sup>2</sup>. The river Shambavi flows along the east side of the spit parallel to the Arabian sea and joins the sea on the southern end of the spit. The temperature and humidity ranges from 22° to 33°C and 86 to 90 % respectively. The ant samples were collected using random transects following all out search, bait and pit-fall methods from each demarcated area categorized on the basis of nature of vegetation complex as zone (I) - sandy beach; (II-A) - thick creepy vegetation with scanty shrubs and (II-B) - thin creepy vegetation with moderate number of shrubs; (III) - mixed vegetation with wild and planted flora; (IV) - mangroves and (V) - coconut plantation. A total of 31 species belonging to 17 genera have been placed under five subfamilies (Formicinae, Myrmicinae, Ponerinae, Dolichoderinae and Pseudomyrmecinae). The data on distribution of ants records the highest number of species in zone III<sup>rd</sup>, followed by V<sup>th</sup>, IIA, IIB, and IV<sup>th</sup>. The alpha diversity index values suggest that zone V<sup>th</sup> is more diverse and have even distribution of ant species which probably may be attributed to the varied vegetation type; soil attributes in particular the temperature and the calcium carbonate level among the demarcated zones. However, the exclusive absence of ants specifically in the sandy beach zone may be attributed to constant tidal influx and the total absence of any kind of vegetation.

Keywords: Ant fauna; Biodiversity indices; Coastal habitat; India; Sandspit; Karnataka.

### Introduction

The coastal area is one of an important zone of the terrestrial ecosystem. The coastal habitats are typically known to harbor rich biodiversity. Ants are considered useful for monitoring as they are abundant and ubiquitous in both intact and disturbed areas (Andersen, 1990; Pearson, 1994; Andersen, 1997; Folgarait, 1998; Hoffman *et al.*, 2000; Delabie *et al.*, 2006).

Earlier studies documenting the presence of ants in the coastal environment have recorded the effects of fire ants on sea turtle nesting beaches in Florida and on neonatal American alligator in the southeastern United States (Allen et al., 2001a, b). A few ants, Iridomyrmex pruinosus analis and Brachymyrmex depilaris have been documented strictly intertidal

from the Gulf of California, Mexico (Yensen et al., 1980; Maitland and Maitland, 1994). A study reporting diversity and habitat preferences of ant assemblages in Department of Atomic Energy (DAE) campus Kalpakkam situated on southeast coast of India suggests that scrub jungle and riparian woods are most diverse habitat followed by the monoculture and sandy area indicating that vegetation type, soil characteristic and anthropogenic disturbances influence the ant assemblage (Ramesh et al., 2010).

The west coastal segment along Dakshina Kannada and Udupi district represents spits of different sizes and shapes. A spit or sandspit is a ridge or embankment of sediment attached to the land at one end and terminates into the open water at the other end (Evans, 1942). Ants play an important role in soil turnover and the nutrient recycling (Lal, 1988). There is no report documenting ant faunal diversity and distribution in the specialized habitats of the coastal spits. The present study, therefore aimed to record diversity and distribution of ant fauna in Hejamadi Kodi spit, Udupi district, Karnataka, India.

## Material and Methods

The Hejamadi spit situated (between 13° 04' to 13° 05' N latitude and 74° 46' E longitude) in the southern part of Udupi district, west coast of Karnataka, India (Fig. 1) is 1.2 km in length with an area of 0.332 km<sup>2</sup>. The river Shambavi flows along the east side of the spit parallel to the sea and joins Arabian sea on the southern end of the spit. The climate of the study area is warm, humid and receives an annual rainfall of about 160 inches. The temperature and humidity ranges from 22°-33°C and 86-90% respectively. The study area was demarcated into five zones based on the presence of predominant type of

vegetation viz. (I) - sandy beach - no vegetation covering an area of about 5.261 ha; (IIA) - thick creepy vegetation with scanty shrubs covering an area of 5.6 ha and (II B) - thin creepy vegetation with moderate number of shrubs covering an area of 4.6 ha; (III) - mixed vegetation covering an area of 14.75 ha having wild and planted flora; (IV) - mangroves plants with an area of 0.479 ha and (V) - coconut plantation covering an area of about 2.5 ha (Fig. 1).

The samples were collected during November and December, 2011 using random transects of 10 x 10 m in each demarcated zone. Various methods employed for collection of the ant fauna includes all out search (hand collecting), pitfall and bait methods. Plastic cups (9 cm in diameter and 15cm in length) filled with ethylene glycol (5%) as the killing agent were kept in the center of transect. Dry coconut, sugar, honey and fried items were used as baits, placed at the four corner of the each transect. The collected ant samples were persevered in 70% alcohol and identified using appropriate keys (Bingham, 1903; Bolton, 1994). The floral species encountered are listed in Table 1. The abiotic parameters (pH, salinity, calcium carbonate, total organic matter moisture content, air and soil temperature) of the different zones were recorded (Trivedy and Goel, 1986). The coordinate readings were noted down using global positioning system (GPS). The alpha diversity indices were obtained using Shannon's index (H'), Simpson's index of diversity (1-D) and Shannon's equitability (J) index using Past software ver. 2.17b (Hammer et al., 2001) whereas  $\beta$  – diversity indices were obtained using Jaccard's and Bray - Curtis similarity coefficient values using Estimate S version 8.20 (Colwell 2004).

### Results

The study area was demarcated into five zones based on the presence of predominant type of vegetation as (I) sandy beach with no vegetation; (II A) thick creepy vegetation with scanty shrubs and (II B) thin creepy vegetation with moderate number of shrubs; (III) mixed vegetation having wild and planted flora; (IV) mangroves and (V) coconut plantation. The ants collected from Hejamadi Kodi spit area in present study records the presence of a total of 31 species placed under 17 genera and 5 subfamilies (Table 2). The number of ant species placed under subfamily Myrmicinae counts highest (17) followed by Formicinae (9), Ponerinae (3) and one each under Dolichoderinae and Pseudomyrmicinae. subfamilies recorded in the study area represents the presence of four subfamilies in III<sup>rd</sup> and three subfamilies each in II<sup>nd</sup>, IV<sup>th</sup> and V<sup>th</sup> zones (Fig. 2). The overall percent distribution of subfamilies records the highest representation of subfamily Myrmicinae (55%) followed by Formicinae (32%), Ponerinae (7%), So Dolichoderinae and Pseudomyrmicinae (3% each) (Fig. 2). The zone wise record lists the highest number of ant species in III<sup>rd</sup> followed by V<sup>th</sup>, IIA, IIB, IV<sup>th</sup> and the total absence of ants in the I<sup>st</sup> zone (Table 2). The genus Tetramorium is represented maximally (5 species) followed by Monomorium (4 species), Camponotus and Crematogaster (3 species each) and Tapinoma and Tetraponera (only one species each) in the study area (Table 2).

The species wise distribution of ants in the demarcated zones indicates the presence of *Paratrechina* longicornis and *Crematogaster subnuda* in all the four vegetative zones. Whereas, *Plagiolepis* jerdonii, *Camponotus compressus*,

÷.,

steen a series

182 3 . . . .

Nvlanderia sp.1 and Monomorium orientale species were seen only in three vegetative zones (II, III and V) and certain ant species Anochetus sp. 1, Camponotus sericeus, Camponotus oblongus, Crematogaster sp. 2, Diacamma sp. Meranoplus bicolor and Tetramorium obesum were recorded only in zone V<sup>th</sup>. On the other hand Anoplolepis gracilipes, Crematogaster sp. 1, Nylanderia sp. 2, Oecophylla smaragdina, Tetramorium sp. 1 and Tetramorium sp. 2 were restricted only in zone III<sup>rd</sup>, whereas Tetraponera nigra was recorded only in zone IV<sup>th</sup> (Table 2). Further the association of ant species with plant taxa was also found to vary. Eleven ant species were confined to the specific plant taxa whereas ten species were encountered on more than one plant taxa (Figs. 3).

The number of ant nests recorded also varied in different zones (Table 2; Fig. 4). The total number of ground nests encountered was highest in zone IIA followed by III<sup>rd</sup>, IIB and the least in zone V<sup>th</sup>. Whereas the *Crematogaster subnuda* and *Tetraponera nigra* had exclusively arboreal nests. The nests of *Tapinoma melanocephalum* were sighted both in sandy ground and on the twigs of *Wedelia trilobata*.

The environmental variables, number of floral and ant species records significant variations between the zones (Tables 1, 2 and 3; Fig 5). The Shannon's diversity, Simpson's index of diversity and Shannon equitability values (alpha diversity indices) were calculated (Table 4). The dendrogram generated using Jaccard's classic and Bray– Curtis similarity coefficient values based on the number of shared species (Fig. 6) records the highest similarity between Zone IIA and Zone IIB at the level of 0.688 and 0.815 respectively.

Plant species	Zone I	Zone IIA	Zone II B	Zone III	Zone IV	Zone V
Ipomea pes - capre	-	+	+	+	-	+
Canavalia rosea	-	+	+	+	-	-
Spinifex littoreus	-	+	+	+	-	-
Cuscuta chinensis	-	+	+	+	-	-
Derris scandens	-	+	+	-	-	+
Sesuvium portulacastrum	-	+	-	+	+	-
Wedelia trilobata	-	+	+	+	-	+
Scaevola taccada	-	+	+	+	-	+
Casuarina equisetifolia*	-	+	+	+	-	-
Morinda citrifolia	-		-	+	+	+
Cassia tora	-	-	-	+	-	+
Clerodendrum inerme	-	-	-	+	-	+
Pongamia pinnata	-	-	-	+	-	-
Acacia auriculiformis*	-	-	-	+	-	-
Thespesia populnea	-	-	-	+	-	-
Pterocarpus sp.*	-	-	-	. +	-	-
Cerbera odollum	-	-	-	-	-	+
Mimosa pudica	-	-	-	-	-	+
Leucas aspera	-	-	-	-	-	+
Tridax procumbens	-	-	-	-	-	+
Cocos nucifera*	-	-	-	-	-	+
Avicennia officinalis	-	-	-	-	+	-
Sonneratia alba	-	-	-	-	+	-

## Table 1: List of floral species found in the demarcated zones.

\* Planted flora in the study area.

## Table 2: Check list of ant species recorded in the demarcated zones of the study area.

Subfamily	Species	Zone I	Zone IIA	Zone IIB	Zone III	Zone IV	Zone V
Formicinae	1. Anoplolepis gracilipes Smith, 1857	-	-	-	+ <sup>8</sup>	-	-
	2. Camponotus compressus (Fabricius, 1787)	-	+	+	+	-	+ 8
	3. Camponotus oblongus (Smith, 1858)	-		+	-	-	+
	4. Camponotus sericeus (Fabricius, 1798)	-	-	-	-	-	+
	5. Oecophylla smaragdina (Fabricius, 1775)	-	-	-	+	•	+
	6. Paratrechina longicornis (Latreille, 1802)	-	+ <sup>a</sup>	+*	+*	+	+
	7.Nylanderia sp.1	-	+ <sup>a</sup>	+	+*	-	+ <sup>a</sup>
· .	8.Nylanderia sp.2	-	-	-	+	-	-
	9. Plagiolepis jerdonii Forel, 1894	-	+ <sup>a</sup>	+ *	+*	-	+ <sup>a</sup>
Myrmicinae	10. Cardiocondyla nuda (Mayr, 1866)	-	+*	-	+	-	-
-	11. Crematogaster subnuda Mayr, 1879	-	+ 6	+	+ <sup>b</sup>	+ <sup>b</sup>	+ <sup>b</sup>
	12.Crematogaster sp.1	-	-	-	+	-	-
	13.Crematogaster sp.2	-	-	-	-	-	+ <sup>a</sup>
	14. Meranoplus bicolor (Guérin-Méneville, 1844)	-		-	-	-	+ ª
	-	-	+	-	-	-	
	16.Monomorium orientale Mayr, 1879	-	+*	+	+*	-	+
	17. Monomorium pharaonis (Linnaeus, 1857)	_	+	+ <sup>a</sup>	+	-	-
	18.Monomorium sp.1	-	+ <sup>a</sup>	+*	+*	-	-
	19.Pheidole sp.1	-	+ <sup>a</sup>	+ <sup>a</sup>	+ <sup>a</sup>	-	-
	20. Solenopsis geminata (Fabricius, 1804)	-	+ <sup>a</sup>	+ <sup>a</sup>	-	-	-
	21. Solenopsis nitens Bingham, 1903	-	+	-	-	-	-
	22. Tetramorium obesum André, 1887	-	-	-	-	-	+*
	23. Tetramorium smithi Mayr, 1879	-	+	-	+ <sup>a</sup>	-	+*
	24. Tetramorium walshi (Forel, 1890)	•	-	+ <sup>a</sup>	+ <sup>a</sup>	-	+
•	25. Tetramorium sp. 1	-	-	-	+*	-	-
	26.Tetramorium sp. 2	-	-	-	+	-	-
Ponerinae	27.Anochetus sp.1	-	-	-	-	-	+
	28.Anochetus sp.2	-	-	-	+	-	-
	29.Diacamma sp.	-	-	-	-	-	+ <sup>a</sup>
Dolichoderinae	30. Tapinoma melanocephalum (Fabricius, 1793)	-	+*	+ 8	+ 6	-	+
Pseudomyrmecinae	31. Tetraponera nigra (Jerdon, 1851)	-	-	-	-	+ b	-
Total number of spe	ecies	0	14	13	20	3	15
Number of arborea	nesting species	0	1	0	2	2	1
Number of ground	nesting species	0	9	8	10	0	8

<sup>a</sup> Ground nest (Subterranian nest with or without prominent mound, beneath the wood, pebbles).

<sup>b</sup> Arboreal nest (constructed in or outside the stems or using leaves)

Table 3: The record of abiotic parameters (pH, salinity, CaCO<sub>3</sub>, total organic matter, moisture content and air and soil temperature) and the correlation coefficient values between abiotic parameters and the number of plant and ant species in respective zones.

Zones	Zone I	Zone IIA	Zone IIB	Zone III	Zone IV	Zone V	P - value		Salinity (ppt)	Total organic Matter (%)	Moisture Content (%)	CaCO3 (%)	hd	Air Temperature (°C)	Soil temperature (°C)	No. of plant species	No. of ant species
Salinity (ppt)	<b>0.27 ± 0.12</b>	$0.03 \pm 0.01$	$0.06 \pm 0.13$	$0.03 \pm 0.02$	$0.45 \pm 0.21$	$0.04 \pm 0.03$	<0.0001	spective zones	1								
Total organic Matter (%)	$0.63 \pm 0.3$	<b>2.1 ± 0.48</b>	$2.06 \pm 0.29$	$2.19 \pm 0.33$	$2.28 \pm 0.3$	1.69 ±0.55	<0.0001	d ant species in re	-0.17	1							
Moisture Content (%)	<b>5.03</b> ± 0.9	$1.13 \pm 0.3$	$0.04 \pm 0.1$	$0.6 \pm 0.2$	<b>5.2 ± 0.6</b>	$1.33 \pm 0.4$	<0.0001	nber of plant an	0.94	-0.47	1						
CaCO <sub>3</sub> (%)	4.25 ± 0.87	<b>5.61 ± 0.94</b>	5.82 ± 1.21	<b>4.72 ± 0.86</b>	$2.1 \pm 0.14$	<b>6.1 ± 1.7</b>	<0.0001	eters and the nun	-0.92	-0.07	-0.81	1					
Hq	<b>6.70 ± 0.3</b>	<b>6.76 ± 0.21</b>	$6.70 \pm 0.22$	$6.76 \pm 0.19$	6.77 ± 0.09	<b>6.75 ± 0.21</b>	>0.05	n abiotic parame	0.07	0.65	-0.05	-0.31	1				
Air Temperature (°C)	27.25 ± 1.2	32.65± 2.6	34.44± 2.4	33.76±2.3	34,4± 1.4	32.25± 3.4	<0.0001	nt values betwee	0.14	0.81	-0.21	-0.31	0.23	1			
Soil Temperature (° C)	21.8 ± 1.04	35.69 ± 6.2	39.35±7.1	<b>39.55± 7.5</b>	21.1± 0.35	31.63±4.9	<0.0001	elation coefficie	-0.89	0.5	-0.98	0.72	0.01	0.31	1		
No. of plant species	0	6	8	15	4	12	1	Con	-0.75	0.6	-0.85	0.52	0.47	0.25	0.8	1	
No. of ant species	0	14	13	20	3	15	I		-0.86	0.57	-0.94	0.64	0.33	0.24	0.91	0.97	1

LO T -

A 2 TATE NAMES AND AND TATES AND

## Pradeep D'Cunha and Vijay Mala Grover Nair

### Discussion

terrestrial invertebrates Ants are frequently found in coastal or intertidal environment (Allen et al., 2001a). The spit, a heterogeneous ecosystem demarcated into five zones in present study suggest significant variations between the zones based on vegetation complex and soil characteristics (Table 1; Figs. 5 and 7). A total of 31 species placed under 17 genera and 5 subfamilies recorded in present study (Table 2) suggest the presence of a rich and diverse ant fauna in Hejamadi Kodi spit, the coastal landform. The Myrmecinae ants dominated in all the zones (Fig. 2) and the zone wise distribution suggest the highest number of ant species in III<sup>rd</sup> zone (mixed vegetation) followed by the V<sup>th</sup> (coconut plantation), IIA (creepy vegetation), IIB (creepy vegetation with moderate shrubs) and IV<sup>th</sup> zone (mangrove). The total absence of ant fauna in I<sup>st</sup> zone may be attributed to the constant tidal influx and the total absence of any kind of vegetation. The selective distribution of Paratrechina longicornis and Crematogaster subnuda in zones II<sup>nd</sup>, III<sup>rd</sup>, IV<sup>th</sup> and V<sup>th</sup>; whereas Anochetus sp. 1, Camponotus sericeus, Camponotus oblongus, Crematogaster sp. 2, Diacamma sp. Meranoplus bicolor and Tetramorium obesum only in zone V<sup>th</sup>; Anoplolepis gracilipes, Crematogaster sp. 1, Nylanderia sp. 2, Oecophylla smaragdina, Tetramorium sp. 1 and Tetramorium sp. 2 only in zone III<sup>rd</sup>; and *Tetraponera nigra* only in zone IV<sup>th</sup> suggest association/dependence of ant species on specific host plants and the associated fauna for food and shelter. Earlier reports too have also documented that vegetation kind/pattern influences the richness and distribution of ant species (Kusnezov, 1957; Boomsma and Van Loon, 1982b; Gadagkar et al., 1993; Bonte et al.,

2003; Palomo *et al.*, 2003; Cardoso *et al.*, 2010).

In addition the percent level of  $CaCO_3$ , total organic matter, moisture content, temperature of air and soil, pH and salinity (Table 3) recorded in the present study points that in particular CaCO<sub>3</sub> and temperature of the soil play a significant role probably contributing to the varied distribution of ant species, thereby conferring ability to survive in otherwise harsh environment (Boomsma and Isaaks, 1982a) which suggest varied toleration range for different ant species to environmental variables (Holldobler and Wilson, 1990) permitting temporal resources partitioning (Orivel and Dejean, 2001). The pattern of distribution of ground nest probably relates to the availability of food resources and vegetation complexity (Table 1 and 2; Fig. 8) which in turn probably plays an important role in soil turnover and the nutrient recycling (Lal, 1988). Some species of ants occupied the nest constructed by other 4). Whereas organisms (Fig. the Crematogaster subnuda (zone IIA, III<sup>rd</sup>, IV<sup>th</sup> and V) and Tetraponera nigra (zone IV<sup>th</sup> with mangrove) had exclusively arboreal nests suggesting that the tidal influx probably limits the activity of ants to the crown of the trees (Lopes and Aguiar dos Santos, 1996; De Baar and Hockey, 1993). The nests of Tapinoma melanocephalum were sighted both in sandy ground as well as on twigs of Wedelia trilobata suggesting that Tapinoma melanocephalum is comparatively highly adapted environmental to variables (Andersen, 1990).

Shannon index and Simpson's diversity index, the measures of alpha diversity suggest that the zone V<sup>th</sup> is more diverse followed by III, IIB and IIA (Table 4). The computed evenness values (Shannon

equitability) suggest that the distribution of ant species is more even in zone V<sup>th</sup> followed by IIB, III and IIA. The dendrogram obtained using Jaccard's classic and Bray–Curtis similarity coefficient values (beta diversity indices) indicates highest similarity between Zone IIA and Zone IIB at the level of 0.688 and 0.815 respectively (Fig. 6). More or less similar species richness shared between zone IIA, IIB and III<sup>rd</sup> probably relates to more or less the similar vegetation type in these zones (Table 1).

The diversity and distribution pattern of

ant species observed in demarcated zones in present study points to the selective needs (in terms of food and shelter) and adaptive capabilities of ant species to harsh prevailing conditions (Andersen, 1990) compared to inlands particularly with reference to the soil temperature, CaCO<sub>3</sub> and the type of plant species found in specialized habitats of the sand spit permitting selective association between flora and fauna and thus contributing to their successful survival and reproductive fitness in the harsh conditions met in on coastal habitats.



Fig. 1: A map showing a) location of Udupi district b) Google image of Hejamdi Kodi spit and c) demarcated zones and sampling points (•).

Zones	No.of species	Shannon <sup>a</sup> (H')	Simpson index <sup>b</sup> (1-D)	Shannon equitability °(J)
Zone IIA	14	2.098	0.8471	0.7949
Zone IIB	13	2.189	0.8613	0.8536
Zone III	20	2.402	0.8689	0.8018
Zone IV	3	**	**	**
Zone V	15	2.588	0.918	0.9556

## Table 4: Diversity indices for demarcated zones in the study area.

<sup>a</sup> The values ranges between 1.5-3.5 and values nearing 1.5 is considered to be less diverse.

<sup>b</sup> The values ranges between 0-1 and values nearing 0 is considered to be less diverse.

<sup>c</sup> The values ranges between 0-1 and values nearing 0 is considered to be more uneven.

\*\* Not computed due to small sample size.



## Fig. 2: Percent occurrence of subfamilies in the study area.

 A de la contra de



### Pradeep D'Cunha and Vijay Mala Grover Nair

# Fig. 3: The association between a) number of ant species with plants b) ant species with number of plants in the demarcated zones.



Fig. 4: Nest of (A) *Pheidole* sp., (B) *Crematogaster* sp., (C) *Tetraponera nigra* and (D) *Paratrechina longicornis* using the holes made by crabs.



Fig. 5: The correlation between abiotic parameters (pH, salinity, CaCO<sub>3</sub>, total organic matter, moisture content and air and soil temperature) and number of plant and ant species in respective zones.



Fig. 6: Dendrogram generated using (A) Jaccard's similarity and (B) Bray-Curtis similarity coefficient values based on the number of shared species between the habitats.



Fig. 7: Figures of some common plant species in the study area. A. Ipomea pes - capre, B. Casuarina equisetifolia, C. Scaevola taccada, D.Cuscuta chinensis, E. Spinifex littoreus, D. Clerodendrum inerme.

#### Diversity and distribution of Ant fauna in Udupi, Karnataka, India



Fig. 8: Foraging ants in search of food – (A) The *Pheidole* sp. seen at the base of *Ipomea pes - capre* for extrafloral nectaries; (B) *Crematogaster* sp. and (C) *Paratrechina longicornis* reaching the fruit of *Scaevola taccada* for extrafloral nectaries; (D) *Pheidole* sp. carrying a crustacean and (E) the bait (fried item) material; (F) *Paratrechina longicornis* carrying a crustacean.

### Acknowledgements

The financial assistance through UGC-SAP as JRF for one of the authors (Pradeep D'Cunha) is acknowledged. Dr. Κ Gopalakrishna Bhat. retired Professor. Taxonomy research centre, Poorna Prajna College, Udupi for identification of floral species and Dr. Himender Bharti, Department of Zoology, Panjabi University, Patiala for confirming the identification of ant species is thankfully acknowledged.

### References

Allen, C.R., Forys, E.A., Rice, K.G. and Wojcik, D.P. 2001a. Effects of fire ants (Hymenoptera: Formicidae) on hatching turtles and prevalence of fire ants on sea turtle nesting beaches in Florida. Florida Entomologist 84: 250-253.

- Allen, C.R., Rice, K.G., Wojcik, D.P. and Percival, H.F. 2001b. Effect of red imported fire ants envenomitazation on neonatal American alligators. Journal of Herpetology 31: 318-321.
- Andersen, A.N. 1990. The use of ant communities to evaluate change in Australian terrestrial ecosystems: a review and a recipe. Proceedings of the Ecological Society of Australia 16: 347-357.
- Andersen, A.N. 1997. Using ants as bioindicators: multi scale issues in ant community

ecology. Conservation Ecology 1(8): 1430-1462.

- Bingham, C.T. 1903. The fauna of British India, including Ceylon and Burma. Hymenoptera, Vol-2. Ants and cuckoo wasps. London: Taylor and Francis 506 pp.
- Bolton, B. 1994. Identification guide to the ant genera of the world. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, Massachusetts 222pp.
- Bonte, D., Dekoninck, W., Provoost, S., Cosijns, E., Hoffman, M. 2003. Microgeographical distribution of ants (Hymenoptera: Formicidae) in coastal dune grassland and their relation to the soil structure and vegetation. Animal Biology 53(4): 367-377.
- Boomsma, J.J. and Isaaks, J.A. 1982a. Effects of inundation and salt on the survival of ants in a sandy coastal plain. Ecological Entomology 7: 121-130.
- Boomsma, J.J., and Van Loon, A.J. 1982b. Structure and Diversity of Ant Communities in Successive Coastal Dune Valleys. Journal of Animal Ecology 51: 957-974.
- Cardoso, D.C., Sobrinho, T.G. and Schoereder, J.H. 2010. Ant community composition and its relationship with phytophysiognomies in Brazilian Restinga. Insects Sociaux 57: 293-301.
- Colwell, R.K. 2004. EstimateS: Statistical estimation of species richness and shared species from samples. Version 8. 20. Persistent URL: purl.oclc.org/estimates.
- De Baar, M. and Hockey, M. 1993. Mangrove insects. Australasian Science 3: 44-45.
- Delabie, J.H.C., Paim, V.R.L.D.M., Nascimento, I.C.D., Campiolo, S. and Mariano. E.C.D.S.F. 2006. Ants as biological indicators of human impact in mangroves of the southeastern coast of Bahia, Brazil. Neotropical Entomology 35(5): 602-615.
- Evans, O.F. 1942. The origin of spits, bars and related structures. *In:* M.L. Schwartz (ed.). Spits and bars. Dowden, Hutchinson & Ross Inc. 52-72 pp.
- Folgarait, P.J. 1998. Ant biodiversity and its relationship to ecosystem functioning: a review. Biodiversity and Conservation 7: 1221-1244.

- Gadagkar, R., Nair, P., Chandrashekara, K. and Bhat, D.M. 1993. Ant species richness and diversity in some selected localities in Western Ghats, India. Hexapoda 5: 79-94.
- Hammer, O., Harper, D.A.T. and Ryan, P.D. 2001. Past: paleontological statistics software package for education and data analysis. Palaeontolia Electronica 4: 1-9.
- Hoffman, B.D., Griffiths, A.D. and Anderson, A.N. 2000. Responses of ant community in dry sulfur deposition from mining emissions in semi-arid northern Australia, with implications for the use of functional groups. Austral Ecology 25: 653-663.
- Holldobler, B. and Wilson. E.O. 1990. The Ants. Cambridge: Harvard University Press 732 pp.
- Kusnezov, N. 1957. Numbers of species of ants in faunae of different latitudes. Evolution 11(3): 298-299.
- Lal, R. 1988. Effects of macrofauna on soil properties in tropical ecosystems. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 24(1-3): 101-116.
- Lopes, B.C. and Aguiar Dos Santos, R. 1996. Aspects of the ecology of ants Hymenoptera: Formicidae) on the mangrove vegetation of Rio Ratones, Santa Catarina Island, SC, Brazil. Boletin Entomologica de Venezuela N.S. 11:123-133.
- Maitland, D.P., and Maitland, A. 1994. Significance of burrow opening diameter as a floodprevention mechanism for air-filled burrows of small intertidal arthropods. Marine Biology 119(2): 221-225.
- Orivel, J. and Dejean, A. 2001. Ant activity rhythms in a pioneer vegetal formation of French Guiana (Hymenoptera: Formidae). Sociobiology 38: 1-12.
- Palomo, G., Martinetto, P., Perez, C. and Iribarne, O. 2003. Ant predation on intertidal polychaetes in a SW Atlantic estuary. Marine Ecology Progress Series 253: 165-173.
- Pearson, D.L. 1994. Selecting indicator taxa for the quantitative assessment of biodiversity.
  Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, Series B 345: 75-79.
- Ramesh, T., Hussain, K.J., Satpathy, K.K., Selvanayagam, M. and Prasad, M.V.R. 2010.

Diversity, distribution and species composition of ants fauna at department of atomic energy (DAE) campus Kalpakkam, south India. World Journal of Zoology 5(1): 56-65.

Trivedy, R.K., and Goel, P.K. 1986. Chemical and biological method for water pollution studies.

India: Enivironmental Publishers, Karad 217 pp.

Yensen, N., Yensen, E. and Yensen, D. 1980. Intertidal ants from Gulf of California, mexico. Annals of the Entomological Society of America 73: 266-269. ISSN 0973-1555 © Poovoli Amina, Keloth Rajmohana, Chenthamarakshan Buoy, Chandrashekaramenon Radhakrishnan and Nivedita Saha

# First record of the Srilankan Processional Termite, *Hospitalitermes* monoceros (Konig) (Termitidae: Nasutitermitinae) from India

Poovoli Amina<sup>1</sup>, Keloth Rajmohana<sup>2\*</sup>, Chenthamarakshan Bijoy<sup>3</sup>, Chandrashekaramenon Radhakrishnan<sup>4</sup> and Nivedita Saha<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1, 2, 3, 4</sup>Western Ghat Regional Centre, Zoological Survey of India, Calicut, Kerala - 673006 <sup>5</sup>Zoological Survey of India, M-Block, New Alipore, Kolkata-700053 (e-mail: \*aminapoovoli@gmail.com)

## Abstract

Hospitalitermes monoceros (Konig), a termite species hitherto endemic to Sri Lanka, is reported for the first time from India collected in Chinnar Wildlife Sanctuary, Kerala. Since the original description is scanty, the species is redescribed and illustrated based on soldier and worker castes.

Keywords: Hospitaliteremes monoceros, termite, Redescription, India, Sri Lanka.

## Introduction

The genus Hospitalitermes Holmgren, 1912 (Termitidae: Nasutitermitinae) is distributed from Sri Lanka and India. throughout Southeast Asia, Southern China and across Indonesia archipelago to New Guinea (Jones, 2012). They are among the few unique termites, foraging in columns in open air during late evenings for epiphytes like lichens, blue green algae growing on the surface of tree trunks, in canopies of tropical forests (Collins, 1979). So far under the genus three species H. madrasi (Snyder, 1934), H. jepsoni (Snyder, 1934), H. blairi Roonwal and Sen-Sarma, 1956 have been reported from India (Chhotani, 1997).

As a part of our taxonomic investigations on Termites of Kerala, we report H. monoceros (Konig, 1779), for the first time from India hitherto reported from Sri Lanka alone. The genus Hospitalitermes is also reported here for the first time from Kerala, and is diagnosed by a combination of characters in the soldier caste: head with a constriction behind antenna, mandibles with a pointed spine-like process, antenna with 14 segments, hind legs extending beyond abdomen with an elongate tibia (Chhotani,

1997 and Sornnuwat *et al.*, 2004). The observed absence of the cockroach notch on the molar plate of the right mandible (Fig. 4) in the worker caste categorically differentiates them from the closely related genus *Lacessititermes* Holmgren, 1912 (Syaukani *et al.*, 2011). Inhabiting in evergreen and semievergreen forests, these are open air foragers distributed in Oriental and Papuan Region. The original description of *H. monoceros* being scanty, both the soldier and worker castes of the species are redescribed here.

## **Material and Methods**

Specimens were collected from five colonies while foraging at Chinnar Wildlife Sanctuary (10°05' to 77°22' N latitude and 77°05'to 77°17'E longitude), located in the rain shadow region of the Western Ghats, Idukki, Kerala, India. The specimens were preserved in 80% alcohol. Dissections and measurements were also made in 80% alcohol under the stereo zoom microscope, Leica M205A, at magnifications between 10-160X. Mandibles of the worker caste were mounted on glass slides in Canada balsam and then examined for diagnostic characters. Photographs were taken using a Leica DFC 500 camera, and processed with the help of extended focus software, LAS version 3.6.

The identification was made using Chhotani (1997) and Sornnuwat *et al.* (2004). Morphological terminology for describing soldiers and workers follow Tho (1992), Sands (1998) and Gathorne-Hardy (2001), while measurements are taken in accordance with Chhotani (1997). Studies on worker mandibles follow Fontes (1987).

All specimens are deposited in the National Zoological Collections of the Zoological Survey of India (ZSI), at Calicut (Kozhikode), Kerala, India.

### Taxonomy

### Hospitalitermes monoceros (Konig, 1779)

Syn: Termes monoceros atrum Konig, 1779:
28, pl. 1: figs. 10–11 [first introduced as Termes monoceros atrum Konig, 1779.
Type locality- Sri Lanka (Ceylon).
Ahmad, 1958: 139, 141.
Prashad and Sen-Sarma, 1960: 26–32.

### Redescription

### Soldier (Figs. 1-2)

Monomorphic; varying in size; head capsule pale brown anteriorly and blackish brown posteriorly; antennae dark brown; nasus pale brown; pronotum, abdominal tergites, coxal and femoral regions of legs in dorsal view slightly paler than head capsule; thorax with a fine, whitish line medially; sternites and other part of legs brownish white.

Head capsule in dorsal view strongly constricted behind antennal sockets, with anterior part excluding nasus extremely smaller than posterior part, dorsal outline including nasus in profile concave or appearing depressed; nasus in dorsal view relatively short, less than half as long as head capsule, hairy at tip of nasus, in profile slightly up curved, but apical third feebly downcurved; eyes small whitish spots; antennae elongate with 14 segments, third segment twice as long as second (0.21 : 0.1 mm), fourth shorter than third, fourth and fifth nearly equal in length, seventh to fourteenth gradually decreasing in length; head capsule pyriform with two long hairs on posterior part of head capsule; mandible vestigial, each with long brown, pointed spine-like process.

Body wall strongly sclerotized, gut not clearly visible; pronotum saddle shaped, almost half as long as wide, anterior margin weakly convex and feebly indented in the middle, posterior margin strongly convex without notch; tergites thinly hairy with short hairs, sternites moderately hairy.

Legs moderately long, hairy, hind tibia elongate (2.14-2.55 mm), tibial spurs 2:2:2; tarsi four-segmented; cerci two segmented.

Characters	Measurements (mm)
Head length including nasus (HLN)	1.71-1.81
Head length measured to base of mandible (HL)	1.16-1.29
Nasus length (NL)	0.45-0.60
Nasus index (NL/HL)	0.39-0.52
Maximum head width (HW)	1.16-1.21
Width at constriction (CW)	0.78-0.80
Head constriction index (CW/HW)	0.65-0.69
Head bulge (HB)	0.40-0.54
Head bulge index (HB/HL)	0.33-0.42
Pronotum length	0.35-0.43
Pronotum width	0.63-0.66
Total body length	3.97-4.43
Length of hind tibia	2.14-2.55

Table 1: Measurements of soldiers of *H. monoceros* (n=10)

## Worker (Figs. 3-5)

Dimorphic; *Major Worker*: head capsule subquadrate (length to base of mandibles 1.16-1.19 mm, maximum width 1.33 mm), dark brown to black, epicranial suture prominent, fontanelle plate longish white; labrum slightly pale brown; post clypeus swollen dark brown length less than half of width; antennae brown with 15 segments, segment three much longer than two (1.58: 1.21 mm); segment four (1.41 mm) slightly longer than segment two. Head and body covered with very minute hairs, few dorsally, but numerous ventrally.

Thorax brown, pronotum strongly saddle shaped, anterior margin weakly convex and feebly indented in the middle, posterior margin strongly convex without notch and deeply notched antereo-laterally; abdominal tergites pale brown, femora dark brown and beyond tibia brownish white.

*Minor Worker* (Fig. 3): similar to major worker except being small in size; third antennal segment as long as segment two and pronotum not deeply notched antereo-laterally.

Mandibles (Fig. 4): apical tooth of left mandible shorter than first marginal; second marginal tooth absent; third marginal tooth smaller than first and fairly protruding from separated from molar cutting edge. prominence by a distinct gap; apical tooth of right mandible shorter than first marginal tooth; first marginal tooth with anterior edge almost straight; second marginal tooth clearly recognized and separated from much larger first marginal tooth; posterior edge of second marginal tooth nearly straight; strongly developed molar ridge of mandible (Fig. 5) aids in scraping and grinding wood; cockroach notch absent in molar plate of right mandible.

## Alate: unknown

Material examined: 10 soldiers and 10 workers, 2.viii.2012 (coll. C. Bijoy); collected randomly from 5 colonies (Champakkad: Chinnar Wild life Sanctuary, Idukki, Kerala). Numerous samples of both soldiers and workers collected from 5 different colonies within 4km radius of Champakkad have been preserved in 80% ethanol (Colony code: ZSI/WGRC/IR/INV/3079-3083) deposited at Zoological Survey of India, Western Ghat Regional Centre, Calicut (Kozhikode), Kerala, India.



Fig. 1: H. monoceros, soldier (dorsal view).

## Discussion

H. monoceros resembles most to H. madrasi Snyder. The soldiers of both species are dark with pale rostrum and numbers of their antennal segments remain the same. In both the species the worker caste is dimorphic. To mention the differences between the species, H. monoceros has a blackish brown head with paler anterior part and the third segment of antennae is twice as long as second segment, while in H. madrasi, head colour is castaneous brown to dark reddish brown and the third segment of antennae is 2.2-2.5 times as long as second. Further H. madrasi is a larger species with body size 5-5.30 mm than that of H. monoceros (3.97-4.7 mm).

The finding of a species, hitherto considered endemic to Sri Lanka, in south Kerala is not surprising as Amina and Rajmohana (2013) also very recently reported *Ceylonitermelles* Emerson, 1960, a Srilankan endemic genus again from South Kerala signifying occurrence of Sri Lankan termite taxa in Southern India.





Fig. 2: H. monoceros, soldier (lateral view).

Fig. 4: *H. monoceros*, mandible of worker.







### Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to the Director, Zoological Survey of India (ZSI), Kolkata and the Officer-in-Charge, ZSI, Calicut, Kerala, for support and encouragement. We are grateful to Dr. Toru Miura, Japan, for literature support. Thanks are also due to State Forest Department (Kerala) for collection permits. Mr. Biju (Watcher, Chinnar Wildlife Sanctuary, Kerala) and Mr. M. Gnanakumar, Naturalist (Palakkad) are also thanked for helping us in our search for the termites.

### References

- Ahmad, M. 1958. Key to the Indomalayan termites [part 1 and 2]. Biologia (Lahore) 4 (1-2): xii + 33-198.
- Amina, P. and Rajmohana, K. 2013. First record of the genus Ceylonitermellus Emerson (Isoptera: Termitidae: Nasutitermitinae) in southern India, based on a new mainland species from the Kerala ghats. Colemania (in press).
- Chhotani, O.B. 1997. The fauna of India and the adjacent countries. Isoptera (Termites): (Family Termitidae). Vol. 2. Calcutta: Zoological Survey of India, xx + 800 pp.
- Collins, N.M. 1979. Observations on the foraging activity of *Hospitalitermes umbrinus* (Haviland), (Isoptera: Termitidae) in the Gunong [sic] Mulu National Park, Sarawak. Ecological Entomology 4: 231-238.
- Emerson, A.E. 1960. New genera of termites related to *Subulitermes* from the Oriental, Malagasy, and Australian regions (Isoptera, Termitidae, Nasutitermitinae). American Museum Novitates 1986: 1–28.
- Fontes, L.R. 1987. Morphology of the alate and worker mandibles of the soil-feeding nasute termites (Isoptera, Termitidae, Nasutitermitinae) from the Neotropical region. Revista Brasileira de Zoologia 3(8): 503-531.
- Gathorne-Hardy, F.J. 2001. A review of the southeast Asian Nasutitermitinae (Isoptera: Termidae [sic]), with descriptions of one new genus and a new species and including a key to the genera. Journal of Natural

History 35: 1485-1506.

- Holmgren, N. 1912. Termitenstudien.3. Systematik der Termiten. Die Familie Metatermitidae. Kungliga Svenska Vetenskaps-Akademiens Handlingar 48(4): 1-166 + 4 pls.
- Jones, T. 2012. Accessed online at http://www.nhm.ac.uk/nature-online/speciesof the day/ collections/ collecting/ hospitalitermeshospitalis/index.html on 21-08-2012.
- Konig, J.G. 1779. Naturgeschichte der sogenannten weissen Ameise.
  Beschaftigungen der Berlinischen Gesellschaft Naturforschender Freunde 4: 1-28 + 1 pl.
- Prashad, B. and Sen-Sarma, P.K. 1960. Revision of the termite genus *Hospitalitermes* Holmgren (Isoptera, Termitidae, Nasutitermitinae). Indian Council of Agricultural Research Monograph 10(29): 1-32.
- Roonwal, M.L. and Sen-Sarma, P.K. 1956.
  Systematics of Oriental termites (Isoptera).
  No. 3. Zoological Survey of India collections from India and Burma, with new termites of the genera Parrhinotermes, Macrotermes, Hypotermes, and Hospitalitermes. Indian Journal of Agricultural Science 26 (1): 1–37.
- Sands, W.A. 1998. The identification of worker castes of termite genera from soils of Africa and the Middle East. Wallingford, U.K.: CAB International, vii + 500 pp.
- Snyder, T.E. 1934. New termites from India. Indian Forest Records, Entomology 20(11): 1–28.
- Sornnuwat, Y., Vongkaluang, C. and Takematsu, Y. 2004. A systematic key to the termites of Thailand. Kasetsart Journal (Natural Science) 38(3): 349-368.
- Syaukani, S., Thompson, G.J. and Yamane, S. 2011. Hospitalitermes krishnai, a new nasute termite (Nasutitermitinae, Termitidae, Isoptera), from southern Sumatra, Indonesia. ZooKeys 148: 161–169.
- Tho, Y.P. 1992. Termites of peninsular Malaysia. Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia: Forest Research Institute Malaysia (Malaysian Forest Records No. 36), ix + 224 pp.

HALTERES, Volume 4, 53-58, 2013

ISSN 0973-1555 © Charn Kumar

# Status of the Genus *Spalgis* Moore with taxonomic notes on the type species, *Spalgis epeus* (Westwood) in the Indian Himalaya

### Charn Kumar

A.S. College, Khanna, Samrala Road Khanna, Ludhiana, Punjab, India - 141401

(e-mail: charnkumar@yahoo.com)

### Abstract

As per the earlier records, genus *Spalgis* Moore is represented by two species viz., epeus Westwood and baiongus Cantlie and Norman in India, the latter one being very rare and restricted to Assam. During the repeated surveys undertaken in an ICAR, New Delhi sponsored project, only the type-species of this genus, *Spalgis epeus* (Westwood) has been reported from the Himalayan region in India. The diagnosis of the genus has been updated by inclusion of the characters of the male and the female genitalia. The survey work shows that the species is quite rare in the Himalaya.

Keywords: Himalaya, male genitalia, female gentalia, Lycaenidae, Spalgis.

### Introduction

From the Indian region, about 1438 butterflies species of have been documented and out of these, more than 438 species belong to the family Lycaenidae which makes about 30% of this total butterfly diversity (Evans, 1932; Wynter-Blyth, 1957; Haribal, 1992; Khoshoo, 1994 and Kehimkar, 2008). Owing to small size, less attractive colouration difficulty and in identification, the butterflies of family Lycaenidae have not been adequately explored and more so the taxonomic account of different taxa warrants updating. The genus Spalgis Moore, is represented by eight species viz., epeus Westwood, baiongus Cantlie and Norman, takanamii Eliot, asmus Parsons, jacksoni Stempffer, lemolea Druce, pilos Druce and tintinga Boisduval in the Oriental and the African regions (d' Abrera, 1986; Bridges, 1988 and Eliot, 1992).

Out of these, the former two species have been reported from India and according to Cantlie and Norman (1960) and Cantlie (1963), the species, baiongus restricted to Assam is very rare one. Further, d' Abrera (loc. cit.), who advocated the taxonomic revision of the other species i.e., epeus Westwood has reported eight subspecies viz., e. epeus Westwood (India, Ceylon to Peninsular Malaya, Nicobars, Mergui islands), e. nubilus Moore (Andamans, Pulau Tiomam), e. flangola Kheil (Borneo, Sumatra, Nias), e. titius Fruhstorfer (Java, Bali, Lombok, Sumba, Sumbawa), e. substrigata Snellen (Sulawesi), e. strigatus Semper (Southern and Central Philippines, Palawan), e. semperi Fruhstorfer (Northern Philippines and Luzon) and e. dilama Moore (Taiwan) under it from the respective localities / areas from the Oriental region.

# Observations

Genus Spalgis Moore Common name: The Apefly

Moore, 1879, Proc. zool. Soc. Lond.: 137; de Nicéville, 1890, Butts India Burmah Ceylon 3: 54; Evans, 1932, Ident. Indian Butts (2nd 3d.): 213; Cantlie and Norman, 1960, J. Bombay nat. Hist. Soc. 57 (2): 424; Cantlie, 1963, Lyc. Butts Revised: 29.

Type-species: Gerydus epeus (Westwood) Westwood, [1851], In Gen. diurn. Lep. (2): 502.

Generic diagnosis: eyes smooth; labial palpi porrect, second segment laterally compressed, third segment acuminate; antenna shorter than half the length of forewing, gradually thickening to slender club, nudum extends deep into flagellum; each leg with tibia shorter than femur, the latter hairy, terminal tibial spurs absent; forewing with 11 veins, stalk of veins R<sub>3</sub>+R<sub>5</sub> separated very briefly before end cell; male genitalia with an undivided hood-like uncus. brachia sharply curved, tapering into acute apices, vinculum moderaely wide, saccus obsolete, each valva large, bottle-shaped laterally, aedeagus moderate, slender, subzone longer than suprazone, ductus ejaculatorius enters dorsad. coecum elongated, rounded; female genitalia with genital plate not developed, ductus seminalis enters dorsad at base of ductus bursae, corpus bursae shorter, eggshaped, a pair of spicule shaped signa present, apophyses anteriores small, apophyses posteriores moderately long, papilla analis sparsely pilose.

Spalgis epeus (Westwood)

Common name: The Apefly

Westwood, [1851], In Gen. Diurn. Lep. 2: 502 (*Gerydus*); Moore, 1879, Proc. Zool. Soc. Lond.: 137 (*Spalgis*); de Nicéville, 1890, Butts India Burmah Ceylon 3: 55 (*Spalgis*); Cantlie, 1963, Lyc. Butts Revised: 30 (*Spalgis*).

## Spalgis epeus epeus (Westwood)

Westwood, [1851], Gen. Diurn. Lep. 2: 502 (Gerydus).

Male genitalia: Symmetrical, relatively smaller sized, well sclerotized; much uncus undivided, with apex rounded, each lateral portion broad, rectangular, pilose: brachia short. laterally compressed, hook-shaped, gradually tapering to acute apices; subscaphium not developed; tegumen broad, triangular band shaped; lateral windows deep; vinculum long and narrow, with upper portion produced to oval lateral flaps behind tegumen; saccus obsolete; each large, bottle-shaped valva laterally, costae of both sides joined by a median semimembranous ridge, sacculus broad, band-shaped, apical portion of each sharply divided into teeth like halves, pilose; juxta unique, comprising two curved attenuate processes extending well beyond valvae; aedeagus moderate, straight, slender, with subzone longer than suprazone, apex narrower and ventrally produced, vesica inconspicuous, subzone with an oblique short opening for bulbus ejaculatorius, the latter siphon-shaped, ductus ejaculatorius enters dorsad, coecum elongated, with laterally compressed rounded apex.

Female genitalia: Lodix rectangular with small moderately sclerotized patches at posterior angles, otherwise membranous; genital plate not developed; ductus seminalis enters on dorsal side at base of

## Status of the Genus Spalgis with taxonomic notes on the type species, Spalgis epeus





## (Male, dorsal view)

(Male, ventral view)



(Female, dorsal view)

Spalgis epeus epeus (Westwood)

Charn Kumar



Venation of forewing



Venation of hindwing



Male genitalia (lateral view)



Female genitalia (lateral view)



Left valva (inner view)



Area of 8th sternum



Papilla analis

Spalgis epeus epeus (Westwood)

ductus bursae; the latter opens in funnel shaped semimembranous pouch at base, gradually broadens and goes imperceptibly into corpus bursae; corpus bursae egg-shaped, membranous, shorter than ductus bursae, a pair small spiculeshaped signa present in middle; proximal margin of 8th tergum deeply excavated laterally: apophyses posteriores moderate, laterally compressed, almost straight structures, papilla analis suboval, with basal half sclerotized, distal half quite membranous, sparsely pilose.

## Forewing length: Male, 11 mm; Female, 12 mm.

Material examined: Assam:  $1 \ Q$ , 14.V.95, Bashistha, 250 m ASL, Kamrup. West Bangal:  $1 \ C$ , 19.V.95, Sivoke, 270 m ASL, Darjeeling.

Range: 250-270 m ASL.

**Old distribution:** Ceylon, South India to Bengal, Kumaon to Burma, Nicobars.

Larval food: Carnivorous on scale insects and mealy bugs (Coccidae) (Sevastopulo, 1973).

## Remarks

During the course of surveys in the Hamalaya, one male and one female of this type-species, collected from above mentioned localities have been identified from the relevant literature sources (de Nicéville, 1890; Bingham, 1907; Evans, 1932; Peile, 1937; Wynter-Blyth, 1957; Cantlie, 1963 and d' Abrera, 1986). The material has also been compared with the reference collections lying at I.A.R.I., New Delhi. The male genitalia of the species agrees with an account of the same given by Stempffer (1957) and Eliot (1992). However, the description of various constituent parts of the male genitalia need elaboration. Besides doing so, an account of the female genitalia is also furnished for the first time. Further, the species, under reference, is the typespecies of the genus Spalgis, proposed by Moore (1879) on apparently superficial characters such as wing shape and presence of vein R<sub>3</sub>. Accordingly, the diagnosis of the said genus has been updated by inclusion of the characters of the male and the female genitalia. It may also be pointed out that except for Cantlie (loc. cit.) and Bridges (1988), workers like Moore (loc. cit.), de Nicéville (loc. cit.), Bingham (loc. cit.), Evans (loc. cit.), Peile (loc. cit.), Wynter-Blyth (loc. cit.), Stempffer (loc. cit.), d' Abrera (loc. cit.), Seki et al. (1991) and Eliot (loc. cit.) have spelled the species as epius Westwood rather than epeus Westwood. The present survey work shows that the species is quite rare and is represented by its nominotype in India.

## Acknowledgemnts

The author is grateful to Dr. H.S. Rose, the Principal Investigator of ICAR, New Delhi sponsored project on butterfly diversity of Himalaya (1995-1998) for much needed expertise and literature.

## References

- Bingham, C.T. 1907. The Fauna of British India, including Ceylon and Burma. Butterflies II. London: Taylor and Francis 480pp.
- Bridges, C.A. 1988. Catalogue of Lycaenidae and Riodinidae (Lepidoptera: Rhopalocera). U.S.A: Urbana, Illinois 816pp.
- Cantlie, K. 1963. The Lycaenidae portion (except the Arhopala group) of Brigadier Evans' The Identification of Indian Butterflies 1932 (India, Pakistan, Ceylon, Burma). Bombay:

Natural History Society, Bombay 156pp.

- Cantlie, K. and Norman, T. 1960. Four new butterflies from Assam. Journal of Bombay Natural History Society 57(2): 424-429.
- d' Abrera, B. 1986. Butterflies of the Oriental region Part-III. Lycaenidae and Riodinidae. Australia: Hill House 536-672pp.
- de Nicéville, C.L.A. 1890. The Butterflies of India, Burmah and Ceylon. A of all descriptive handbook the known species of Rhopalocerous Lepidoptera inhabiting that region, with notices of allied species the neighbouring occurring in countries along the border. Volume III (Lycaenidae). India: Calcutta Central Press 503pp.
- Eliot, J.N. 1992. The Butterflies of the Malay Peninsula by A. Steven Corbet and H.M. Pendlebury (4th ed. revised). Malaysia: Malaysian Natural Society 595pp.
- Evans, W.H. 1932. The identification of Indian butterflies. India: Bombay Natural History Society 454pp.

- Haribal, M. 1992. The Butterflies of Sikkim Himalaya and their Natural History. India: Sikkim Nature Conservation Foundation, Gangtok, 217pp..
- Kehimkar, I. 2008. The Book of Indian Butterflies. India: Bombay Natural History Society 497pp.
- Khoshoo, T.N. 1994. India's Biodiversity: Tasks ahead. Current Science 67(8): 577-582.
- Moore, F. 1879. Descriptions of new Asiatic diurnal Lepidoptera. Proceedings of the Zoological Society of London 1: 136-144.
- Peile, H.D. 1937. A guide to collecting butterflies of India. London: Staples Press 523 pp.
- Seki, Y., Takanami, Y. and Otsuka, K. 1991. Butterflies of Borneo. Vol. 2. Japan: Hirai Co. Ltd. 113 pp.
- Stempffer, H. 1957. Contribution a l'etude Plebiinae Palaearctique (Lep., Lycaenidae). Bulletin des séances de la Société entomologique de France 42(15): 211-218.
- Wynter-Blyth, M.A. 1957. Butterflies of the Indian Region. India: Bombay Natural History Society 523pp.

ISSN 0973-1555 © Seydur Rahman and Sudhanya Ray Hajong

# Quantitative changes in lipids and carbohydrates of temporal workers and drones in *Apis cerana indica* (Fabricius)

## Seydur Rahman and Sudhanya Ray Hajong\*

Department of Zoology, North-Eastern Hill University, Shillong, Meghalaya-793022

(e-mail: \*s\_hajong@hotmail.com)

## Abstract

Lipids and sugars from temporal castes of *Apis cerana indica* (Fabricius) were analysed qualitatively and quantitatively. Cholesterol, free fatty acids, triglycerides, methyl esters and cholesterol esters were higher in nurse and food storer but decreased in middle-aged and forager bees. The haemolymph, glucose and fructose showed significant increase in bees performing extranidal tasks while trehalose level was found to be high only in intranidal tasks. Glycogen content from thorax and abdomen was more in nurse and food storer workers but substantially decreased in guards and foragers.

Keywords: Apis cerana indica, lipids, sugars, worker castes, drones.

## Introduction

Honeybee workers exhibit temporal division of labour. With age they shift their task from cell cleaning, comb building, food processing to outside tasks like guarding and foraging (Winston, 1987 and Johnson, 2008). This age related temporal division of labour within the worker caste in honeybees are elicited by physiological changes (Robinson, 2009). The onset of foraging for instance in honeybees are associated with decrease in abdominal lipids (Toth and Robinson, 2005), and thoracic increase in glycogen store (Harison, 1986). In Apis mellifera, foragers have been found to contain fewer lipids than the nurse bees (Toth and Robinson, 2005), further foragers reverting to nursing are not able to perform their task efficiently as nurse bees due to their low level of lipids. These studies showed that differences in lipids are closely related to switching of tasks in bees (Toth and Robinson, 2005).

Level of sugars in the form of trehalose, glucose and fructose in the

honeybee Apis mellifera have been reported to vary widely (Bounias and Morgan, 1984; Bozic and Woodring, 1997; Abou-Seif et al., 1993; Fell, 1990 and Leta et al., 1996). This variability in haemolymph sugar composition is influenced by many factors including differences in diet (Crailsheim, 1988; Abou-Seif et al., 1993 and Woodring et al., 1993), metabolic rate (Moffatt, 2000 and Blatt and Roces, 2001), physiological changes and environmental conditions (Kunert and Crailsheim, 1988).

Most of these studies are based on Western honeybee, *Apis mellifera* (Winston, 1987; Seeley, 1995; Robinson, 1992 and Robinson *et al.*, 1994). However studies in the Asian bee, *Apis cerana indica* (Fabricius) is lacking, therefore the present study was carried out to determine the composition and changes in the profile of various sugars and lipids among age related temporal worker castes in the bee *Apis cerana indica*.

## Materials and Methods

Colony of *Apis cerana indica* was reared in a wooden hive box. Task specific bees (n=20 bees per pool) were collected from the colony and immediately cold immobilized.

Lipid extraction and analysis: Wings and legs were removed from the thorax of each bee. Task specific bees were pooled and homogenized in a glass tissue grinder by adding chloroform/methanol/water for extraction of total lipids following the protocol of Bligh and Dyer (1959).

Separation of Lipids by Thin-layer chromatography (TLC) analysis: Various lipid classes of the lipid extract were separated by TLC on 20 x 20 cm glass plates coated with silica gel GF of thickness 0.25 mm. Plates were activated by heating in an oven at 110°C followed by cooling. Plates were run with petroleum ether (b.p. 60-70°C)/diethyl ether/acetic acid (90:10:1; v/v/v) as mobile phase according to the procedure of Mangold (1961 and 1964) and Malins and Mangold (1960). The TLC chamber was equilibrated with the mobile phase for 15 minutes before introducing the spotted plate. After running, the plates were dried with a stream of air and were visualized in iodine chamber. Bands were identified by comparing their relative mobility to authentic standards. For each detected band, the gel was scraped off into 20 ml test tubes and used for quantitative estimation of lipids.

Neutral lipids were quantified spectrophotometrically using the method of Amenta (1964). Phospholipids were determined according to the procedure of Raheja *et al.* (1973). Standards were purchased from Sigma, USA and were 99% pure. All solvents used were of HPLC grade. Data was expressed as mg of lipids/bee.

Sugar analysis: Haemolymph from the above mentioned task groups were collected by puncturing the dorsal neck membrane with microcapillary tube after ventrally deflecting the head. The collected haemolymph was immediately expelled into chilled eppendorf tube containing 4.5 ml of 80% ethanol to precipitate proteins. The sample was centrifuged at 1200 rpm for 10 minutes. The supernatant obtained was used for qualitative and quantitative analysis of sugars.

Separation and detection of sugars by TLC: Sugar standards were purchased from (Darmstadt, Germany) Merck and dissolved in 80% ethanol. TLC was performed on 5 x 20 cm glass plates coated with silica gel GF of thickness 0.25 mm. Activation and equilibration of plates were done as mentioned above. Standards and samples were applied on the TLC plates and were run to a distance of 15 cm with dimethyl formamide / n-butanol / water (3:12:2) as the mobile phase. Plates were then dried with a stream of air. Sugars were visualized in iodine chamber. Spots on plate were identified with the reference sugars run parallel.

Total soluble sugar, trehalose and fructose were determined according to the method of Arslan *et al.* (1986).

For determination of glucose,  $30\mu$ l of extracted haemolymph were mixed with equal volume of water and added to 540 µl of 3% Trichloroacetic acid and analyzed by O-toluidine following the protocol of Dubowski (1962). Data was expressed as µg of sugars/µl of haemolymph.

Quantification of Glycogen in thorax and abdomen of workers and drones: Four groups of workers based on specific tasks (nurse, food storer, guard, and forager bees) and drones of unknown-age were used for analysis of glycogen separately for thorax and abdomen. Nurse bees were obtained with their head inserted in larvae cells, food storers from honey comb, guards from the entrance of the hive and foragers from the entrance of the hive during emergence. Bees were frozen on ice and their digestive tracts were discarded. The samples were processed following the protocol of Roe and Dailey (1966) for glycogen content. Each group of sample contains 20 individuals and five such replicates were taken. One-way ANOVA was performed at 0.05 significant levels. Data was expressed as  $\mu$ g of glycogen/bee.

## Results

Lipid analysis: Lipids detected were phospholipids, cholesterol, free fatty acids, triglycerides, methyl esters and cholesterol esters from adult worker and drones (Table 1). Nurse, middle aged, foragers of worker bees revealed the presence of the same lipid classes, but they were present in different proportions, cholesterol esters were however not detected in the food storer bees. Drones also showed similar classes of lipids.

Nurse and food storers were found to have higher lipid content than middle-aged and forager bees. Large differences in triglycerides were found among all the worker task groups, with nurse predominantly containing the highest proportion, consisting of 43% of the total. Forager bees had intermediate triglycerides comprising 21% higher than the food storer with 18% and middle-aged with 7% (Fig. 1). The level of cholesterol in nurse and food storer bees was two times greater than middle-aged and forager workers.

Free fatty acids in food storer were four times greater than forager bees and methyl esters remained more or less constant in the entire task groups.

Phospholipids were found to be the most dominant lipids in drones (Fig. 2), it comprised approximately 50% of the total, in case of the food storer it was 45% of the total, the nurse, middle-aged and forager bees contained 26%, 13% and 16% of the total respectively. Cholesterol esters were found to be the next most predominant lipids in drones comprising of 21% of the total, in nurse and middle-aged bees it was 24% of the total. Other dominant lipids were triglycerides.

There were significant differences in cholesterol, free fatty acids, triglycerides, cholesterol esters and phospholipids in task based division of labour in worker bees with that of the drones at 0.05 significant level. However, there were no significant differences in methyl esters.

Sugar analysis: TLC analysis of haemolymph sugars reveals that trehalose, fructose and glucose were present in all the task groups (Table 2). However, the difference in concentration of these haemolymph carbohydrates among different task groups was significant (trehalose: F = 34.51, P < 0.0001; fructose: F = 286.11, P < 0.0001, glucose: F = 31.54, P < 0.0001; df = 3, 15). The descending order of sugar concentrations among task groups was found to be fructose > trehalose > glucose (Fig. 3). Total soluble sugars from different task groups also varied significantly (F<sub>3, 15</sub> = 40.27, P < 0.0001). Nurse bees had least amount of total soluble sugars (7.39 $\pm$ 0.87 µg/µl) while it was significantly high in food storer  $(28.93\pm4.51 \ \mu g/\mu l)$ , middle-aged  $(42.59\pm$ 3.11  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ l) and forager bees (73.87 $\pm$ 3.00  $\mu g/\mu l$ ) (Fig. 3). The major sugar in drone was fructose (136.19±6.24 µg/µl) followed by trehalose (67.23 $\pm$ 1.38 µg/µl). The least of glucose amount was containing 8.93±0.75 μg/μl (Fig. 4).

One-way ANOVA revealed significant changes in glycogen content in thorax (T) ( $F_{3, 19} = 132.04$ , P < 0.0001) and abdomen (Ab) ( $F_{3, 19} = 83.21$ , P < 0.0001) of workers performing different tasks. Glycogen concentration in the T range from  $3.97\pm0.29 - 17.52\pm0.42 \ \mu g/T$  whereas in Ab it varies from  $1.26\pm0.03 - 5.44\pm0.36 \ \mu g/Ab$ . Nurse bees had significantly higher level of glycogen in both T ( $17.52\pm0.42 \ \mu g/T$ ) and Ab ( $5.44\pm0.36 \ \mu g/Ab$ ). The level of glycogen in both T and Ab significantly declines in food storer (T =  $14.75\pm1.11$ µg/T; Ab =  $2.73\pm0.05$  µg/Ab), guard (T =  $4.14\pm0.24$  µg/T; Ab =  $1.26\pm0.03$  µg/Ab) and forager bees (T =  $3.97\pm0.29$  µg/T; Ab =  $1.51\pm0.09$  µg/Ab) (Fig. 5a, b), with no significant difference in the latter two groups. Like workers, drones also revealed maximum amount of glycogen content in T ( $12.24\pm0.15$  µg/T) and lesser amount in Ab ( $3.71\pm0.15$  µg/Ab) (Fig. 6).

## Discussion

The present study reveals the changes in lipids and carbohydrates among workers of specific task groups and drones of Apis cerana indica. Among lipids, levels of free fatty acids were found highest in the food storer bees, consistent with the findings of Toth et al. (2005) and Crailsheim et al. (1992), that nurse and foragers of Apis mellifera have higher and lower lipid quantity, respectively. Further, forager bees were even found to have a lower amount of free fatty acids than nurse. The highest levels of free fatty acids were found in the food storer bees; which may be due to the maximum proteolytic activity at this stage (Mortiz and Crailsheim, 1987 and Szolderits and Crailsheim, 1993).

Triglycerides were higher in the foragers; this elevation in the level of triglycerides in the foragers may be due to the effect of temperature and humidity that bees experience outside the hive while foraging. Sapcaliu et al. (2010) suggested that when bees are exposed to high temperature and low humidity, the level of triglycerides increases two-fold. The relatively higher amount of triglycerides in outside workers is understandable, as it is the source of energy reserve and probably supports the metabolic effort during flight to some extent. Phospholipids as a whole were the most dominant lipids.

Cholesterol was significantly high in the nurse and food storer bees, however, in the middle-aged and forager bees cholesterol dropped significantly. The decrease of cholesterol in forager could be due to a reduced hypopharyngeal gland. Ritter (1990) also pointed out that differences in diet may cause variation in cholesterol levels.

During the first week of an adult worker bee's life, consumption of pollen, rich in fats and proteins is extremely high and gradually as they become older they shift to carbohydrate rich diet for energy and metabolic processes (Crailsheim et al., 1992). This alteration of diet intake could potentially influence the behavioural and physiological shifts that accompany worker honeybee's behavioural development. For instance, decrease in lipid content in adult honeybee might lead to the onset of foraging (Toth et al., 2005). Depletion of nutrition has also been shown to result in increase of Juvenile Hormone (Kaatz et al., 1994 and Pinto et al., 2000) which in turn controls foraging (Bloch et al., 2002).

The changes in the profile of sugars among various temporal worker castes showed marked differences; there is an increase in the level of glucose and fructose and decrease of trehalose in forager and other task groups. The increase in concentration of glucose and fructose and concomitant decrease of trehalose level in foragers may be due to metabolic rate, as bees involved in foraging activities have high metabolic rate than intranidal task workers. Foragers actively move in and out of the hive during their excursion for collection of nectar and pollen; this requires a constant supply of sugars in the form of trehalose, fructose and glucose in the flight muscles. As trehalose cannot be produced as fast as it is consumed and since it is obtained from conversion of fructose to trehalose via first conversion to glucose (Candy et al., 1997); therefore, a lowered level of trehalose in the haemolymph of foragers may be attributed to the rapid mobilization of sugars from the haemolymph to the flight muscles. Due to lower metabolic rate, intranidal task workers are able to maintain high level of trehalose. This result is also congruent with the finding of earlier works on *Apis mellifera* (Abou-Seif *et al.*, 1993; Bozic and Woodring, 1997 and Blatt and Roces, 2001) and substantiated by the higher level of triglycerides found in the haemolymph. The changes in glycogen content are also consistent with *Apis mellifera carnica* (Panzenbock and Crailsheim, 1997) where young workers have more glycogen content than aged workers like the guards and foragers.

Table 1: TLC of lipid extract from whole adult honeybee workers (n=20), six replicates and standard lipids. Lipid extracts and standards were loaded on silica gel GF plates and were developed in petroleum ether/diethyl ether/acetic acid (90:10:1; v/v/v) according to the procedure of Mangold and Malins (1960) and Mangold (1961 and 1964). The plates were visualized in iodine chamber.

Lipid classes	Standard (R <sub>f</sub> )	Sample (R <sub>f</sub> )
Cholesterol	0.23±0.04	0.22
Free fatty acids	0.33±0.02	0.33
Triglycerides	0.50±0.02	0.49
Methyl esters	0.86±0.04	0.83
Cholesterol esters	0.93±0.01	0.92

Table 2: TLC of sugars of adult honeybee workers hemolymph on silica gel GF and their  $R_f$ . Plate was developed with dimethyl formamide/*n*-butanol/water (3:12:2; v/v/v) mobile phase.

Sugars	Standard (R <sub>f</sub> )	Sample (R <sub>f</sub> )
Trehalose	0.34	0.35
Fructose	0.72	0.73
Glucose	0.75	0.76



Fig. 1: Lipid class composition of total homogenates from different task groups; values are mean of six determinations ± SE; different letters on the error bars indicate significant differences, same letters indicate no significant differences.



Fig. 2: Lipid class composition of total homogenates from drone; values are averages of six determinations ± SE (FFA = free fatty acids).



Fig. 3: Differences of sugar concentrations in different task groups of worker bee haemolymph; values are presented as mean ± SE.

### Quantitative changes in lipids and carbohydrates of Apis cerana indica



Fig. 4: Differences of sugar concentrations in drone haemolymph; values are presented as mean ± SE.



of different task groups of workers.



## Acknowledgments

First author gratefully acknowledges the financial help in the form of SRF from UGC, New Delhi under Maulana Azad National Fellowship Scheme. Thanks also go to the Head, Department of Zoology for providing research facilities. We dedicate this paper in cherished memory of our beloved Prof. Besterwell Kharbuli, who left untimely for heavenly abode.

### References

- Abou-Seif, M.A.M., Maier, V., Fuchs, J., Mezger, M., Pfeiffer, E.F. and Bounias, M. 1993. Fluctuations of carbohydrates in haemolymph of honeybee (*Apis mellifera*) after fasting, feeding and stress. Hormone and Metabolism Research 25: 4-8.
- Amenta, J.S. 1964. A rapid chemical method for estimating lipids separated by thin layer chromatography. Journal of Lipid Research 5: 270-272.
- Arslan, A., Standifer, L.N. and Don, H. 1986. Carbohydrates in honey bee haemolymph. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 84B: 363-367.
- Blatt, J and Roces, F. 2001. Haemolymph sugar levels in foraging honeybees (*Apis mellifera carnica*): dependence on metabolic rate and *in vivo* measurement of maximal rates of trehalose synthesis. The Journal of Experimental Biology 204: 2709-2716.
- Bligh, E.G. and Dyer, W.J. 1959. A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification. Canadian Journal of Biochemistry and Physiology 37: 911-917.
- Bloch, G., Wheeler, D.E. and Robinson, G.E.
  2002. Endocrine influences on the organization of insect societies. *In:* D.
  W. Pfaff (ed.). Hormones, Brain and Behavior. San Diego: Academic Press 195-235pp.
- Bounias, M. and Morgan, M.R.J. 1984. Haemolymph levels of carbohydrates and sucrose activity in honeybees fed on trehalose. IRCS Medical Science 12: 769-770.

- Bozic, J. and Woodring, J. 1997. Effect of activity on the haemolymph sugar titers in honey bees. Journal Apiculture Research 36: 33-39.
- Candy, D.J., Becker, A. and Wegener, G. 1997. Coordination and integration of metabolism in insect flight. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 117B: 497-512.
- Crailsheim, K. 1988. Regulation of food passage in the intestine of the honeybee (*Apis mellifera* L.). Journal of Insect Physiology 34: 85-90.
- Crailsheim, K. 1992. The flow of jelly within a honeybee colony. Journal of Comparative Physiology 162: 681-689.
- Crailsheim, K., Schneider, L.H.W., Hrassnigg, N., Bühlmann, G., Brosch, U., Gmeinbauer, R. and Schöffmann, B. 1992. Pollen consumption and utilisation in worker honey bees: dependence on individual age and function. Journal of Insect Physiology 38: 409-419.
- Dubowski, K.M. 1962. An O-toluidine method for body-fluid glucose determination. Clinical Chemistry 8: 215-235.
- Fell, R.D. 1990. The qualitative and quantitative analysis of insect hemolymph sugars by high performance thin-layer chromatography. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 95A: 539-544.
- Harrison, J.M. 1986. Caste-specific changes in honeybee flight capacity. Physiological Zoology 59: 175-187.
- Johnson, B.R. 2008. Within-nest temporal polyethism in the honey bee. Behavioural Ecology and Sociobiology 62: 777-784
- Kunert, K. and Crailsheim, K. 1988. Seasonal changes in carbohydrate, lipid and protein content in emerging worker honey bees and their mortality. Journal of Apicultural Research 27: 13-21.
- Leta, M.A., Gilbert, C. and Morse, R.A. 1996. Levels of hemolymph sugars and body glycogen of honeybees (*Apis mellifera* L.) from colonies preparing to swarm. Journal of Insect Physiology 42: 239-245.
- Malins, D.C. and Mangold, H.K. 1960. Analysis of complex lipid mixtures by

thin-layer chromatography and complementary methods. Journal of American Oil and Chemical Society 37: 576-578.

- Mangold, H.K. 1961. Thin-layer chromatography of lipids. Lectures of the 1961 short course on newer lipid analysis. Journal of American Oil and Chemical Society 38: 24-26.
- Mangold, H.K. 1964. Thin-layer chromatography of lipids. Journal of American Oil and Chemical Society. 41(11): 762-773.
- Moffatt, L. 2000. Changes in the metabolic rate of the foraging honeybee: effect of the carried weight or of the reward rate? Journal of Comparative Physiology 186A: 299-306.
- Moritz, B. and Crailsheim, K. 1987. Physiology of protein digestion in the midgut of the honeybee (*Apis mellifera* L.). Journal of Insect Physiology 33: 923-931.
- Panzenbock, U. and Crailsheim, K. 1997. Glycogen in Honeybee Queens, Workers and Drones (*Apis mellifera carnica* Pollm.). Journal of Insect Physiology 43(2): 155-165.
- Pinto, L.Z., Bitondi, M.M.G. and Simo<sup>e</sup>es, Z. L. P. 2000. Inhibition of vitellogenin synthesis in *Apis mellifera* workers by a juvenile hormone analogue, pyriproxyfen. Journal of Insect Physiology 46:153-160.
- Raheja, R.K, Kaur, C., Singh, A. and Bhatia, I.S. 1973. New colorimetric method for the quantitative estimation of phospholipid without acid digestion. Journal of Lipid Research 14: 695-697.
- Ritter, K.S. 1990. Cholesterol and insects. The food insect Newsletter, Vol. III, No. 1. Accessed online at <u>http://www.foodinsects.com/</u>on 2-11-2013.
- Robinson, E.J.H. 2009. Physiology as a castedefining feature. Insect Society 56:1-6.

- Robinson, G.E. 1992. Regulation of division of labor in insect societies. Annual Review of Entomology 37: 637-665.
- Robinson, G.E., Page, R.E. and Huang, Z.Y. 1994. Temporal polyethism in social insects is a developmental process. Animal Behaviour 48: 467-469.
- Roe, J.H. and Dailey, R.E. 1966. Determination of glycogen with the anthrone reagent. Analytical Biochemistry 15: 245-250.
- Sapcaliu, A., Pavel, C., Savu, V., Căuia, E., Matei, M. and Rădoi, I. 2010. Biochemical and Cytological Investigations on Haemolymph of *Apis mellifera carpathica* Bee in Stressful Conditions. Bulletin UASVM Animal Science and Biotechnologies 67: 313-320.
- Seeley, T.D. 1995. The Wisdom of the Hive: The Social Physiology of Honey Bee Colonies. Harvard University Press 310pp.
- Szolderits, M.J. and Crailsheim, K. 1993. A comparison of pollen consumption and digestion in honeybee (*Apis mellifera carnica*) drones and workers. Journal of Insect Physiology 39: 877-881.
- Toth, A.L. and Robinson, G.E. 2005. Worker nutrition and division of labour in honeybees. Animal Behaviour 69: 427-435.
- Toth, A.L., Kantarovich, S., Meisel, A.F. and Robinson G.E. 2005. Nutritional status influences socially regulated foraging ontogeny in honey bees. Journal of Expimental Biology 208: 4641-4649.
- Winston, M.L. 1987. The Biology of the Honey Bee. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Belknap Press 281pp.
- Woodring, J., Boulden, M., Das, S. and Gäde, G. 1993. Studies on blood sugar homeostasis in the honeybee (Apis mellifera, L.). Journal of Insect Physiology 39: 89-97.

ISSN 0973-1555 © Himender Bharti, Navpreet Dhiman, Meenakshi Bharti and Aliaz Ahmad Wachkoo

# SEM studies on immature stages of *Aphaenogaster beesoni* Donisthorpe, 1933 (Hymenoptera: Formicidae)

## Himender Bharti<sup>1</sup>, Navpreet Dhiman, Meenakshi Bharti<sup>2</sup> and Aijaz Ahmad Wachkoo<sup>3</sup>

Department of Zoology & Environmental Sciences, Punjabi University, Patiala - 147002, India

(e-mail: <sup>1</sup>himenderbharti@gmail.com; <sup>2</sup>adubharti@yahoo.co.in; <sup>3</sup>aijaz shoorida@yahoo.co.in)

### Abstract

Larval instars of *Aphaenogaster beesoni* Donisthorpe, 1933 are herein described in detail by scanning electron microscopy. Based on the body profile, body size, types of body hairs and head capsule size a total of five larval stages are recognised. All five instars show clear variations in their body shape and mouth parts. Body of the first instar is Aphaenogastroid, while that of the second, third and fourth is Pogonomyrmecoid, and in fifth it again becomes Aphaenogastroid type.

Keywords: SEM, immature stages, Aphaenogaster, India.

### Introduction

The ant genus Aphaenogaster Mayr includes 180 extant species, 45 subspecies and 19 fossil species; these ants are widely distributed in all geographical regions of the world except Ethiopian region (Bolton *et al.*, 2007; Bolton, 2013). The genus includes one of the most primitive and generalized ant species with fossil records in the Baltic amber. Currently, it is represented by 176 extant species from the World of which 14 belong to Indian region (Bharti, 2011).

The significance of larval descriptions to ant systematics has been discussed in a number of sources (Wheeler and Wheeler 1976, 1986, 1988; Fox et al., 2007, 2010, 2012; Solis et al., 2007, 2010a, b, 2011; Jesus et al., 2010; Nondillo et al., 2010; Bharti and Gill, 2011 and Bharti and Kaur, 2011). As rightly put by Wheeler and Wheeler (1976), "Modern taxonomy is complete only when variety of data is pushed as far as possible towards the limit of practicability. The object of classification should be holomorph i.e. studying all the characteristics of an individual throughout its life". Apart from their importance in the study of general biology (Peeters and Holldobler, 1992), the larval characters of ants have also been used for phylogenetic and behavioural studies (Petralia and Vinson, 1979a, b; Schultz and Meier, 1995; Masuko 2003, 2008; Pitts *et al.*, 2005 and Signorotti *et al.*, 2013).

Aphaenogaster beesoni Donisthorpe, 1933, a high altitude species is widely distributed in Northwest Himalaya. It nests under stones and is found mainly in forested areas with scarce undergrowth and fairly moist surfaces. Intensive ecological and taxonomic studies have been made on Aphaenogaster beesoni but there is a void in our knowledge, as far as its larval morphology is concerned.

Here we provide reliable distinguishing larval characters, to fill this gap in our understanding of *Aphaenogaster* immatures. The present study marks the first ever comprehensive study on immatures of *Aphaenogaster beesoni*. Based on ultrastructural images, minute
morphological details of different larval forms have been studied, to generate baseline data and to aid in future interspecific diagnosis.

## **Materials and Methods**

To study the immature stages of *Aphaenogaster beesoni*, larval forms were collected from 5 different colonies located at Solang valley (2560m), Himachal Pradesh, India. The larvae were fixed in the Dietrich's solution for 24-48 hrs, and then preserved in 80% alcohol. The larvae were separated into five instars on the basis of body profile, body size, types of body hairs and head capsule size.

After separation of larval forms, all instars (n=10) were prepared for scanning electron microscopy using following steps: a) instars preserved in 80% alcohol were post fixed in 1% Osmium tetraoxide and then placed in refrigerator for 2 hours; b) after post fixing, the specimens were dehydrated in a graded acetone series; c) specimens were critical point dried in desiccators; d) dried specimens were then attached to the aluminium stubs with double faced conductive adhesive tape; e) specimens were then placed in the sputter for coating with the palladium and f) specimens were studied under a Zeiss EVOMA10 Scanning Electron Microscope at 20 KV/EHT.

The terminology given by Wheeler and Wheeler (1976) and Fox *et al.* (2007) has been used to describe the larvae of *Aphaenogaster beesoni*. As body profile of *Aphaenogaster beesoni* is of curved type, it is therefore measured as cursor width and cursor height. Body hairs are measured at full length. Head capsule width, mouthparts and other morphological characters are measured for at least twenty individuals per larval instars.

# Results

The detailed description of important morphological larval characters of different instars of *Aphaenogaster beesoni* is as follows:

## First larval instar

Body: Whitish, Aphaenogastroid in shape head bent ventrally, anus slightly subterminal transverse slit with 10 body spiracles (Figs. 1a, 1b). Head and body covered with abundant hairs. Mainly two types of hairs present on body surface: smooth, unbranched flexuous hairs and anchor-tipped hairs (Fig. 1c). Body length 865.3 $\mu$ m, width 564.1 $\mu$ m; body diameter at thorax region 246.6 $\mu$ m, at abdomen region 336.4 $\mu$ m (Fig. 1a).

Head capsule: Cranium 224.9µm high and 278.8µm wide; roughly subcircular in shape (Fig.1d). Head surface smooth with bilaterally symmetrical tip-bifid hairs.

Mouthparts: Clypeus not clearly delimited from the cranium, upper surface of clypeus smooth, without sensilla, with two types of hairs: simple and tip-bifid; labrum bilobed (Fig. 1e). Mandibles simple, sharp pointed; Pogonomyrmecoid in shape, 92.38µm long and 32.55µm wide from the base with three medial teeth lying approximately in same plane (Fig. 1f).

# Second larval instar

Body: Body shape changed from Aphaenogastroid in first instar to Pogonomyrmecoid in second larval instar. In this case the diameter is greatest near middle of abdomen, decreasing gradually toward head and more rapidly toward rounded posterior end; thorax more slender than abdomen, forming a ventrally curved neck (Fig. 2a). Body hairs are less as compared with the first instar larva and are of two types: deeply bifid measuring about 146.5µm and flexuous i.e. whiplike or flagelliform, measuring about 154.6µm (Fig. 2b); anus subterminal in position (Figs. 2c, 2d). Body length 1.403mm; width 949.7µm; body diameter at thorax region 300.7µm, at abdomen region 629.0µm (Fig. 2a).

Head capsule: Cranium 230.7µm high and 290.5µm wide; antennae distinct in diameter.

#### SEM studies on immature stages of Aphaenogaster beesoni Donisthorpe (Hymenoptera: Formicidae)



Figures 1a-f: First larval instar; Aphaenogaster beesoni 1a. Body profile; 1b. Abdominal spiracles; 1c. Body hairs; 1d. Head cranium; 1e, 1f. Head and mouth parts.

## Himender Bharti, Navpreet Dhiman, Meenakshi Bharti and Aijaz Ahmad Wachkoo



Figures 2a-f: Second larval instar; *Aphaenogaster beesoni* 2a. Body profile; 2b. Body hairs; 2c. Anal region; 2d. Body hair and anal region; 2e. Cranium and thorax; 2f. Mouth parts.

Head hairs which include simple, straight and tip-bifid hairs are present on the occipital border, on the vertex, on the genal region and on the gula (Fig. 2e).

Mouthparts: Labrum bilobed; mandibles Pogonomyrmecoid i.e. subtriangular in shape, with three conspicuous medial teeth lying in the same plane, mandibular surface spinulose. Maxillae paraboloidal, long, wide with widely spaced setaceous sensilla. Galeae simple  $28.25\mu$ m long × 10.35 $\mu$ m wide. Labium stout and hemispherical with some scattered setaceous sensilla over the surface. Clypeus clearly delimited from the cranium (Fig. 2f).

## Third larval instar

*Body:* Body profile Pogonomyrmecoid (Fig. 3a), anus subterminal in position. Body hairs of three types: straight, deeply bifid and dichotomously branching (Fig. 3b), more dense on the posterior surface of body. Spiracles about 1.10 $\mu$ m in diameter, unadorned peritreme (Figs. 3c, 3d). Total body length 677.2  $\mu$ m, from thorax to anus 782.2  $\mu$ m; body diameter at thorax 444.9 $\mu$ m, at abdomen 625.6 $\mu$ m (Fig. 3a).

Head capsule: Cranium 250.6µm high and 298.5µm wide. Hairs mainly two type: simple, slightly curved, long and tip-bifid. Antennae distinct, shallow pits on upper half of cranium with three sensilla (Fig. 3e).

*Mouthparts:* Clypeus not delimited from the cranium, surface smooth, sensilla absent. Labrum bilobed, with setaceous sensilla over the anterior surface. Mandibles wide, subtriangular,  $102.9\mu m \log \times 28.61\mu m$  (Fig. 3f).

## Fourth larval instar

*Body:* Body profile Pogonomyrmecoid (Fig. 4a), anus subterminal in position (Fig. 4b); body hairs of three types: smooth flexuous; tip bifid and deeply bifid; hairs less dense as compared to the other instars. Body length 1.980 mm, width 932.6μm (Fig. 4a).

Head capsule: Cranium 244.0 $\mu$ m high × 255.2 $\mu$ m wide (Figs. 4c, 4d). Hairs on the head

are of two types: simple, slightly curved and tip bifid.

Mouthparts: Clypeus delimited from the cranium, two rows of simple slightly curved and tip bifid hairs present on the head; labrum bilobed with setaceous sensilla over the anterior surface. Mandibles long, subtriangular. Maxillae paraboloidal in shape. Galeae 25.94  $\mu$ m long × 12.05  $\mu$ m wide (Fig. 4e).

## Fifth larval instar

Body: Body Aphaenogastroid i.e. diameter increasing gradually towards the middle of thorax and abdomen; thorax arched ventrally but not forming a distinct neck; posterior end broadly rounded (Fig. 5a). Body hairs of two types: simple 103.4 $\mu$ m long and slightly curved at the tip 123.5 $\mu$ m long (Fig. 5b); anus subterminal 415.4 $\mu$ m in diameter (Fig. 5c); diameter at waist 654.2 $\mu$ m, at thoracic region 959.7 $\mu$ m and at abdominal region 1084.0 $\mu$ m (Fig. 5a).

Head capsule: Cranium 763.2 $\mu$ m high × 985.9 $\mu$ m wide from upper view and 221.0 $\mu$ m high × 317.8 $\mu$ m wide from side view (Figs. 5d, 5e). Antennae present on the upper cranium measuring 44.13 $\mu$ m long (Fig. 5e). Hairs slightly curved and less in number (Fig. 5e).

Mouthparts: Clypeus delimited from the cranium. Hairs almost absent from mouth region (Fig. 5f).

# Discussion

The present study marks first ever comprehensive study on immatures of *Aphaenogaster beesoni*. Using scanning electron microscopy, the larvae of species were separated into five instars; their minute details were observed and later described in detail. This division of larvae into 5 instars is carried for the very first time (Table 1 and 2).

The body profile of  $1^{st}$  and  $5^{th}$  larval instar is Aphaenogasteroid and that of  $2^{nd}$ ,  $3^{rd}$  and  $4^{th}$ larval instar is Pogonomyrmecoid type (Figs. 1a,

## Himender Bharti, Navpreet Dhiman, Meenakshi Bharti and Aijaz Ahmad Wachkoo



Figures 3a-f: Third larval instar; *Aphaenogaster beesoni* 3a. Body profile; 3b. Body hairs; 3c. Body spiracles; 3d. Spiracle with measurement; 3e. Cranium and sensilla; 3f. Mouth parts.

## SEM studies on immature stages of Aphaenogaster beesoni Donisthorpe (Hymenoptera: Formicidae)





Figures 4a-e. Fourth larval instar; *Aphaenogaster beesoni* 4a. Body profile; 4b. Anal region; 4c. Thorax and cranium; 4d. Head capsule; 4e. Galeae with measurement.

## Himender Bharti, Navpreet Dhiman, Meenakshi Bharti and Aijaz Ahmad Wachkoo











Figures 5a-f: Fifth larval instar; *Aphaenogaster beesoni* 5a. Body profile; 5b. Body hairs; 5c. Anal region; 5d. Head capsule; 5e. Antennae with measurement; 5f. Mouth region.

2a, 3a, 4a, 5a respectively). The body size of all larval instars increases as they grow. The diameter from thorax and abdomen region in all instars measured corresponds to 246.6 $\mu$ m : 336.4 $\mu$ m in 1<sup>st</sup> larval instar, 360.7 $\mu$ m : 629.0 $\mu$ m in 2<sup>nd</sup> larval instar, 444.9 $\mu$ m : 635.6 $\mu$ m in 3<sup>rd</sup> larval instar, 775.6 $\mu$ m : 932.6 $\mu$ m in 4<sup>th</sup> larval instar and 959.7 $\mu$ m : 1084.0 $\mu$ m in 5<sup>th</sup> larval instar (Figs. 1a, 2a, 3a, 4a, 5a). Anus shifts from slightly ventral in position in first instars to subterminal in rest of the larval instars (Figs. 2c, 2d, 4b, 5c).

Hair type is one of the characters considered in calculating the "specialization indices" proposed by Wheeler and Wheeler (1986). The presence of bifurcations in the head hairs is being recently proposed as a character of considerable importance for separating species in the genus *Solenopsis* Westwood (Pitts, 2005). Fox *et al.* (2007) pointed out that intraspecific variation in types of head hairs might occur in other ant species as well; the present study is in accordance with the above study and suggests the revision of all the previously described ant larvae. Two types of hairs observed on the body and head surface of immature larval instars include:

Simple Hairs: Present on body and head surfaces of almost all larval instars and are further of two subtypes:

(i) Slightly curved or straight, present on head and body of all instars.

(ii) Flexuous, present on the body of 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> larvae and absent on head region.

*Bifid hairs:* These also have two subtypes: (i) Tip bifid, observed on head surfaces of almost all instars but were only present on the body surfaces of  $1^{st}$  and  $3^{rd}$  larval instars.

(ii) Deeply bifid, branched long and flexuous hairs, observed on body surfaces of all instars (Figs. 1c, 2e, 2f, 3c, 3e, 4d, 5b).

Size of cranium of larval instars increases as they grow in size; measurements of cranium of all instars corresponds to 224.9 $\mu$ m high × 278.8 $\mu$ m wide in 1<sup>st</sup> larval instar, 234.6 $\mu$ m high × 289.6 $\mu$ m wide in 2<sup>nd</sup> larval instar, 239.0 $\mu$ m high × 294.4 $\mu$ m wide in 3<sup>rd</sup> larval instar, 244.0 $\mu$ m high × 305.2 $\mu$ m wide in 4<sup>th</sup> larval instar and 251.0 $\mu$ m high × 317.8 $\mu$ m wide in 5<sup>th</sup> larval instar (Fig. 1d, 2e, 3e, 4c, 5d).

Clypeus is not clearly delimited from the cranium in all larval instars. Labrum is bilobed in all larval instars. Mandibles are simple, sharp, pointed and Pogonomyrmecoid in shape with three medial teeth approximately in same plane and increase in size from  $1^{st}$  larval instar to the  $5^{th}$  larval instar. Mandible measured in the first larval instars is 92.38µm long × 32.55µm wide from base. In third larval instar it is measured as 102.9 µm long × 38.91µm wide from base (Figs. 2f, 3f).

Maxillae and maxillary palps of all the five instars are found to be very distinct. As the growth proceeds in larvae the mouth parts also increase in size. Galeae measurements of  $2^{nd}$  and  $4^{th}$  larvae are 28.25µm long × 10.35µm wide and about 35.94µm long × 12.05µm wide (Fig. 2f, 4e).

The details added to the larval description of *Aphaenogaster beesoni* will provide an insight into minute details of immature stages and aid in future interspecific diagnosis.

Hair type	Subtypes	Description	Location on instars (L)	
			Body	Head
Simple (S)	S1	Slightly curved/straight	All instars	All instars
	S1	Flexuous	L1*, L2*	Absent
Bifid (B)	B1	Tip bifid	L1*, L3*	All instars
	B2	Deeply bifid branches long and flexuous	All instars	Absent

Table 1: Hair types observed in larvae of Aphaenogaster beesoni.

\* = (L1) First instar, (L2) Second instar and (L3) Third instar

Table 2: Body measures of different instars of Aphaenogaster beesoni.
---

Observed Structures		Larval instars					
		1 <sup>st</sup>	2 <sup>nd</sup>	3 <sup>rd</sup>	4 <sup>th</sup>	5 <sup>th</sup>	
Body Types		Aphaenogasteroid	Pogonomyremocoid	Pogonomyremocoid	Pogonomyremooid	Aphaenogasteroid	
Body Width	Thorax	246.6µm	360.7µm	444.9µm	775.6µm	965.4µm	
	Abdomen	336.4µm	629.0µm	635.0µm	932.6µm	1084.0µm	

#### Acknowledgements

The SEM lab facilities provided by Dr. V.V. Ramamurthy (Principal Scientist), Division of Entomology, IARI, New Delhi are gratefully acknowledged. We are also thankful to Ms. Rita (JRF) for providing assistance in our endeavor.

#### References

- Bharti, H. 2011. List of Indian ants. Halteres 2: 79-87.
- Bharti, H. and Gill, A. 2011. SEM studies on immature stages of *Pheidole indica* Mayr, 1879 (Hymenoptera: Formicidae) from India. Halteres 3: 38-44.
- Bharti, H. and Kaur, I. 2011. SEM studies on immature stages of weaver ant *Oecophylla smaragdina* (Fabricius, 1775) (Hymenoptera: Formicidae) from India. Halteres 3: 16-25
- Bolton, B. 2013. Bolton's Catalogue and Synopsis version: 1 January 2013. Downloaded from http://gap.entclub.org/ on 10 January 2013.
- Bolton, B., Alpert, G., Ward, P.S. and Naskrecki, P.
  2007. Bolton's Catalogue of Ants of the World: 1758-2005 [CD-ROM]. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Donisthorpe, H. 1933. A new species of *Aphaenogaster* from India. Stylops 2: 24.
- Fox, E.G.P., Solis, D.R., Jesus, C.M.D., Bueno, O.C., Yabuki, A.T. and Rossi, M.L. 2007. On the immature stages of the crazy ant *Paratrechina longicornis* (Latreille 1802) (Hymenoptera: Formicidae). Zootaxa 1503: 1-11.
- Fox, E.G.P., Solis, D.R., Rossi, M.L. and Bueno, O.C. 2010. Morphological Studies on the Mature Worker Larvae of *Paratrechina fulva* (Hymenoptera, Formicidae). Sociobiology 55(3): 795-803.
- Fox, E.G.P., Solis, D.R., Rossi, M.L., Delabie, J.H.C., Seuza, R.F. and Bueno, O.C. 2012. The

comparative Immature morphology of Brazilian fire ants (Hymenoptera: Formicidae: Solenopsis). Psyche 86: 375-394.

- Jesus, C.M.D., Fox, E.G.P., Solis, D.R., Yabuki, A.T., Rossi, M.L. and Bueno, O.C. 2010. Description of the larvae of *Tapinoma melanocephalum* (Hymenoptera: Formicidae). BioOne 93(2): 243-247.
- Masuko, K. 2003. Larval oophagy in the *Amblyopone* silvestrii (Hymenoptera: Formicidae). Insectes Sociaux 50: 317-322.
- Masuko, K. 2008. Larval stenocephaly related to specialized feeding in the ant genera *Amblyopone, Leptanilla* and *Myrmicina* (Hymenoptera: Formicidae). Arthropod Structure and Development 37: 109-117.
- Nondillo, A., Solis, D.R., Fox, E.G.P., Rossi, M.L., Botton, M. and Bueno, O.C. 2010. Description of the Immatures of Workers of the Ant *Linepithema micans* Forel (Hymenoptera: Formicidae). Microscopy Research and Technique 1-6.
- Peeters, C. and Holldobler, B. 1992. Notes on the morphology of the sticky "doorknobs" of larvae in an Australian *Hypoponera* sp. (Formicidae; Ponerinae). Psyche 99: 23-30.
- Petralia, R. S. and Vinson, S.B. 1979a. Developmental morphology of the larvae and eggs of the Imported fire ant, *Solenopsis invicta*. Annals of the Entomological Society of America 72(4): 472-484.
- Petralia, R. S. and Vinson, S.B. 1979b. Comparative anatomy of the ventral region of the ant larvae, and its relation to feeding behaviour. Psyche 86(4): 375-394.
- Pitts, J.P., Mchugh, J.V. and Ross, K.G. 2005. Cladistic analysis of the fire ants of the Solenopsis saevissima species-group (Hymenoptera: Formicidae). Zoologica Scripta 34: 493-505.

- Schultz T.R. and Meier R. 1995. A phylogenetic analysis of the fungus-growing ants (Hymenoptera: Formicidae: Attini) based on morphological characters of the larvae. Systematic Entomology 20: 337-370.
- Signorotti L, Jaisson P, d'Ettorre P. 2013. Larval memory affects adult nest-mate recognition in the ant Aphaenogaster senilis. Proceedings of the Royal Society Biological Sciences 281: 20132579.
- Solis, D.R., Bueno, O.C. and Moretti, T.C. 2007. Immature development in the tramp species ant *Paratrechina longicornis* (Hymenoptera: Formicidae). Sociobiology 50(2):1-13.
- Solis, D.R., Fox, E. G.P, Rossi, M.L. and Bueno, O.C. 2010a. Description of the immature of workers of the ant *Linepithema humile* Mayr (Hymenoptera: Formicidae). Biological Research 43:19-20.
- Solis, D.R., Fox, E. G. P., Kato, L.M., Jesus, C.M.,Yabuki, A.T., Campos, A. E. C. and Bueno, O.C. 2010b. Morphological description of the

immatures of the ant, *Monomorium floricola* (Hymenoptera: Formicidae) Journal of Insect Science 10: 1-15.

- Solis, D.R., Nakano, M.A., Fox, E.G.P., Rossi, M.L., Feitosa, R.M., Bueno, O.C., Morini, M.S.C. 2011. Description of the immatures of the ant, *Myrmelachista catharinae*. Journal of Insect Science 24(11): 1536-2442.
- Wheeler G.C. and Wheeler J. 1976. Ant larvae: Review and synthesis. Memoirs of the Entomological Society of Washington 7: 1-108.
- Wheeler, G.C. and Wheeler, J. 1986. Supplementary studies on ant larvae: Formicinae (Hymenoptera: Formicidae). Journal of the New York Entomological Society 94: 331-341.
- Wheeler G.C. and Wheeler J. 1988. The larva of Leptanilla japonica, with notes on the genus (Hymenoptera: Formicidae: Leptanillinae). Psyche 95: 185-189.

ISSN 0973-1555 © Keloth Rajmohana and Manikantadas Santha Nisha

# *Telenomus oryzae* (Hymenoptera: Platygastridae), a new egg parasitoid of the rice black bug, *Scotinophara* (Heteroptera: Pentatomidae) from India

# Keloth Rajmohana<sup>1\*</sup> and Manikantadas Santha Nisha<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Zoological Survey of India, Western Ghat Regional Centre, Calicut, Kerala India -673006 <sup>2</sup>Rice Research Station, Moncompu, Thekkekara.P.O, Alappuzha, Kerala, India.-688503

(e-mail: mohana.skumar@gmail.com)

### Abstract

*Telenomus oryzae* (Hymenoptera: Platygastridae), an egg parasitoid of the rice black bug on rice from India is described as new to science. The species has a wide distribution in the rice fields of the South Indian State of Kerala. Illustrations of *T. oryzae* sp. nov. are provided and its affinities with other species are discussed. *T. cyrus* Nixon, the closely related species, is redescribed based on the holotype and paratypes. A key to species of *podisi* group of *Telenomus* of Oriental Region, the group parasitizing the eggs of pentatomid and scutellerid bugs is also appended.

Keywords: Telenomus, India, rice black bug, egg parasitoid, new species.

### Introduction

Telenomus spp. attacking the eggs of Pentatomidae and Scutelleridae (Heteroptera), belong to 'podisi' species group (Johnson, 1984). In Oriental Region, only two species of Telenomus: T. triptus Nixon, 1937 and T. cyrus Nixon, 1937 (Johnson, 1984) are known to attack the pentatomid eggs.

The Rice black bug is a highly invasive pentatomid heteropteran, attacking various growth stages of the rice plant and has now a significant status as a potential pest of rice in many countries, including India (Narayansamy, 2007). Ambikadevi (1988) had reported the incidence of *Scotinophara bispinosa* at Kuttanad rice fields of Kerala in Alappuzha, one of the study areas of the present work. On a global scale, of the 6 species of egg parasitoids reported from the eggs of the rice black bugs, 3 species belong to Telenomus: T. triptus Nixon, T. chloropus (Thomson, 1860) and T. gifuensis Ashmead, 1937 (Polaszek and Rajmohana Kumar, 2007). Here we report a new species, Telenomus oryzae as an egg parasitoid of the rice black bug on rice from Kerala and Tamilnadu.

#### **Materials and Methods**

This work is a part of the ongoing studies (Rajmohana and Narendran, 2007 and Rajmohana, 2010) on the systematics of Telenominae (Hymenoptera: Platygastroidea) of India.

Morphological terminology follows Masner (1979) and Johnson (1984). Male genitalia slides were prepared as per Polaszek and Kimani (1990). The notes on holotype and paratypes of *T. cyrus* are excerpts from the studies (unpublished) on Nixon's types of Telenominae made by the first author, in 2007, during a study visit to BMNH, London.

The description and imaging was conducted using Leica M205A stereomicroscope and Leica DFC-500 digital camera. The SEM images were procured with Jeol JCM-5000 NeoScope Benchtop SEM, using specimens coated with gold.

All the material studied is deposited in National Zoological Collection, of Zoological Survey of India, Calicut.

Abbreviations and Terminology: A1-A11: Antennal segments 1 to 11; T1-T4: Metasomal tergites 1 to 4; L: Length; W: Width; DCI: Dorsal Cephalic Index (ratio of width to length of head measured dorsally LOL: Lateral ocellar length; POL: Posterior ocellar length; BMNH: British Museum of Natural History, London; NZC: National Zoological Collection; ZSIC: Zoological Survey of India, Calicut, Kerala.

# Systematics

## *Telenomus oryzae* sp. nov. (Figs. 1 -9)

*Material examined:* Holotype; Q (Reg. No. ZSI/WGRC/T8) INDIA: Kerala: Edathara (24 km from Alappuzha) Alappuzha (9.43527 N, 76.421667 E), 12.viii.2008, emerged from Scotinophara eggs on rice, coll. M.S. Nisha. Paratypes; 24 (Reg. No. ZSI/WGRC/T9-33)  $3\mathfrak{Q}$  and  $1\mathfrak{Z}$  with same data as that of the holotype; 5  $\bigcirc$  and 1  $\eth$  INDIA: Kerala: Wayanad: Madakkimala (11.39651 N, 76<sup>-</sup> 05318 E ) (paddy field), 19.xii.2008 and 1  $\bigcirc$ from the same locality; 2Qon 9.i.2009 Malappuram: Nilambur; INDIA: Kerala: Kavalamukkatta (11.15132 N, 76.21174 E) (paddy field), 16.ix.2008 and 1  $\bigcirc$  same locality, 30.ix.2008; 3  $\bigcirc$  INDIA: Kerala: Calicut: Peruvayal (11.15178 N, 75.54237 E) (paddy field), 2.i.2009, 2  $\bigcirc$  and 1  $\eth$  on 11.xii.2008 same locality, coll. K. Rajmohana. 4 $\bigcirc$  INDIA: Tamilnadu: Neikuppam (12.78 N and 79.8183 E) (paddy field), 14.xii.2010, malaise trap coll. S. Divya.

## Description

Holotype: Female; body length 0.9-1.01 mm. Head and body black; all coxae yellow; rest of legs also yellow; terminal tarsal segments and claws brownish black; radicle, antennal scape and pedicel ventrally yellow; pedicel dorsally and rest of antenna brownish black; eyes and ocelli silvery; wings hyaline, veins brown.

Head (L:W = 18:39);distinctly transverse; DCI = 2.16; vertex and occiput with fine coriaceous reticulate sculpture, steeply angled down to occiput; hyperoccipital carina seen as a trace beneath lateral ocelli, not medially: carina continuous occipital interrupted medially; occiput between hyperoccipital and occipital carina with same coriaceous sculpture as that on vertex; frons anterior to median ocellus smooth, but with a faint patch of coriaceous sculpture at median part above toruli; ocellar setae 1 pair, widely separated; orbital band wide and extending throughout, not interrupted medially; frontal pit present; frontal depression indicated; frons bulging between antennal insertions and inner orbits (best visible when viewed from above); ratio of frons width to eye height = 1.06; eyes with very fine sparse setae; inner orbits angled at level of lateral ocelli; lateral ocelli contiguous with orbital margin, connected by a wide sulcus posteriorly; post ocellar groove behind lateral ocelli distinct; grooves not meeting medially; LOL:POL = 8:15; malar space smooth, sulcus distinct; temples not bulging, hardly visible in dorsal view; gena and temples smooth except for narrow coriaceous band along posterior orbits, towards occiput; antenna extending 11

segmented in females; radicle small, less than A2 2x as long as wide, A3 (first funicular segment) elongate, 2.5x as long as wide and distinctly longer than pedicel; length of A3 > length of A2 (1.13x) and A3 length > A4 length (1.5x), A4 length 1.2x length of A5; A5 and A6 subequal; A7-10 quadrate; length of A2:A3:A4:A5 = 23: 26:17:14.

Mesosoma (L:W= 36:33), not as wide as head dorsally (0.83x); mesoscutum convex, with rough scaly reticulations; sculpture finer posteriorly towards scuto-scutellar sulcus; sulcus foveolate and wider laterally; finely crenulate medially; humeral as well as supra humeral sulcus foveolate; mesoscutellum smooth, with dense long setae; metascutellum punctate reticulate, longest medially and overlapping propodeum; acetabular carina simple; episternal fovea absent; intercoxal space greater than length of forecoxa; netrion feebly indicated; mesopleural furrow well developed; mesopleural carina absent: metapleural carina notched, well developed only in posterior half; forewing at rest surpassing apex of metasoma; basal vein not pigmented; postmarginal vein much longer than stigmal; hindwing at its widest point 1.8x length of marginal fringe; forewing L:W= 26:9.

Metasoma (L:W= 35:25); T1 with 2 pairs of sublateral and 3-4 pairs of lateral setae; greatest length of basal costae on T2 about 2x median length of T1, with fine wrinkles extending even beyond; relative proportions of length of T1 and T2 being 2:15.

Male; body length 0.9 mm. Identical to female, differing only in normal secondary sexual characters. A3 and A4 of antenna elongate; A3 1.7x as long as wide; A4 1.83x as long as wide and longer than all segments other than scape.

Male genitalia; aedeagal lobe medially drawn, tapered and truncate towards tip; laminae volsellares sclerotised; aedeagoone-third length of scape; clava 5 segmented; volsellar shaft concave lateromedially; digitus small, digiti 4.

*Host:* Emerged from eggs of *Scotinophara* spp. (Heteroptera: Pentatomidae).

*Etymology*: The species is named 'oryzae' after the host plant (paddy) of the host bugs.

## Telenomus cyrus Nixon, 1937

Length 1.26 mm; head and body black; coxae blackish brown, rest of legs yellowish brown; antenna uniformly dark in colour, blackish brown, scape a bit paler; wings hyaline. DCI = 2.09; vertex rounded to occiput, thought slightly angled in lateral view; coriaceous throughout, with scattered superimposed setigerous punctures; post ocellar groove distinct; hyperoccipital carina present as a not complete medially; occiput trace, coriaceous near vertex; occipital carina not complete medially; orbital bands wide and not interrupted near mid-point of eyes; frons otherwise smooth; ocellar seta present; frontal depression distinct, frons bulging between antennal insertions and inner orbits; eyes with sparse fine setae; inner orbit feebly angled at level of lateral ocelli; ratio of frons width to eye height (measured in front view) = 1.04; malar space coriaceous, temples not bulging; coriaceous sculpture along posterior orbits extending halfway distance to occipital carina; temples hardly visible in dorsal view; antenna with 11 segments, A3 elongate, distinctly longer than A2 (8:7) and A4; A5 and A6 nearly subequal; clava 5 segmented, claval segments not transverse.

Mesoscutum length and width nearly subequal; convex, coriaceous; scutellum smooth, setose, metascutellum punctatereticulate throughout, longest medially, slight overlapping propodeum (visible in lateral view); acetabular carina simple; episternal foveae absent; width of intercoxal space less than length of forecoxa; mesopleural carina absent; mesopleural furrow feebly developed; posterodorsal corner of metapleuron not expanded; metapleural carina distinct; forewing surpassing tip of metasoma; marginal fringe short, hindwing at widest point 2.5x length of marginal fringe at that point.

Metasoma 1.35x as long as wide. T1 with 2 sublateral and 3 pairs of lateral setae; greatest length of basal costae on T2, more than (nearly twice), medial length of T1.

# Discussion

The species of Telenomus from China (Wu et al., 1979 and Wu and Chen (1980 and 1985) were reared from eggs of Lepidoptera and hence do not belong to podisi group. As mentioned by Johnson (1996) in world revision of Paratelenomus Dodd. the characters mentioned in the descriptions of the Vietnamese species (Le, 1993 and 2000) are of little value in the diagnosis of the species. However, as per the original figures, the Vietnamese species Telenomus lubitus Le, 1993, described from Scotinophara lurida, the aedegal lobe of the male genitalia is not medially drawn as that in T. oryzae sp. nov.

Telenomus oryzae sp. nov. keys to T. cyrus (couplet no. 2 and couplet no. 16) in the key to Asiatic species of Telenomus by Nixon (1937 and 1940), however, does not fully comply with the description of T. cyrus. In the key to egg parasitoids of Scotinophara spp. by Polaszek and Kumar (2007), the new species keys to couplet 5, but does not fit either to T. chloropus (in legs being yellow and not black, proportion of basal antennal segments also differing) or to T. cyrus.

The combination of characters differentiates T. oryzae sp. nov. from T. cyrus: T. oryzae has yellow coxae; antenna is bicoloured, with entire scape and pedicel in

part yellow, rest of antenna brownish black; antennal segments A5 and A6 are subequal; metasoma is only 1.35x as long as wide while in *T. cyrus* coxae are fully dark, almost black; antenna is unicolorous, dark brown or black throughout; antennal segment A5 longer than A6; metasoma is 1.5x as long as wide. Hindwing at its greatest width is less than 2x length of marginal fringe at that point in *T. oryzae*, while the same ratio is more than 2.5x in *T. cyrus*.

With the aedeagal lobe of male genitalia medially drawn and tapered, the central projection is much prominent, thus the genitalia structure of T. oryzae is different from that of T. cyrus or T. triptus, where central projection is not prominent. The male genitalia of T. cyrus resembles that of T. triptus as in Nixon (1940) and Polaszek and Rajmohana (2007).

The following combination of characters serve as a diagnosis for T. oryzae sp. nov: body robust and black; all coxae yellow, both male and female antenna bicoloured, with scape and ventral A1 yellow and rest dark brown to black; in females A3 elongate, distinctly longer than A2 and A4; A5 and A6 orbital band with coriaceous subequal: sculpture uninterrupted, hyper occipital carina present only as a trace laterally, vertex deeply angled to occiput, post ocellar furrows present, scaly reticulate sculpture on median mesoscutum fading towards scutoscutellar sulcus, scutellum smooth and shiny with long dense setae, metascutellum punctate reticulate, longest medially and overlapping propodeum; hindwing at its greatest width less than 2x length of marginal fringe at that point; T1 with 2 sublateral setae; T2 with longitudinal striae on its basal one-third, male genitalia with a medially tapering and truncate aedeagal lobe, length of tapered part being less than length of digiti.

## A new egg parasitoid of the rice black bug from India



Figs. 1-4: *Telenomus oryzae* sp. nov. (1) Body, lateral view; (2) Head and Mesosoma, lateral view; (3) Head, full-face view; (4) Head, dorsal view.

# Keloth Rajmohana and Manikantadas Santha Nisha



Figs. 5-8: *Telenomus oryzae* sp. nov. (5) Male antenna; (6) Mesosoma, dorsal view; (7) Female antenna; (8) Male genitalia.

#### A new egg parasitoid of the rice black bug from India



Fig. 9: Telenomus oryzae sp. nov. emerging from eggs of Scotinophara sp.

## Key to '*podisi*' species group of *Telenomus* from Oriental Region

- as wide......2
- 2. All coxae yellow; hindwing at its greatest width less than 2x length of marginal fringe at that point......*T. oryzae* sp. nov.

#### Acknowledgements

The first author is thankful to the Director, Zoological Survey of India, and Officer-in-Charge, ZSI, Calicut for encouragement and facilities provided. She is also thankful to The Museum of Comparative Zoology, Harvard, for the award of Ernst Mayr Travel Grant, for a visit to BMNH, London, to study the Types specimens of Telenominae of India and also to Platyagstroidea Planetary Biodiversity

Inventory project, for literature support. We are also grateful to Andrew Polaszek, (BMNH, London), for constructive suggestions.

#### References

- Ambikadevi, D. 1998. Occurrence of rice black bug, *Scotinophara bispinosa* in Kuttanad, Kerala. Insect Environment 4(3): 80.
- Ashmead, W.H. 1904. Descriptions of new Hymenoptera from Japan -- I. Journal of the New York Entomological Society 12: 65-84.
- Johnson, N.F. 1984. Systematics of Nearctic *Telenomus*: classification and revisions of the *podisi* and *phymatae* species groups (Hymenoptera: Scelionidae). Ohio Biological Survey Bulletin 6(3): 1-11.
- Johnson, N.F. 1996. Revision of world species of *Paratelenomus* (Hymenoptera: Scelionidae). The Canadian Entomologist 128: 273-291.
- Lê X.H. 1993. Khóa phân loai ong ký sinh giõng Telenomus Haliday, 1833 (Hymenoptera, Scelionidae) ờ Việt Nam (phân giõng Telenomus). Tap Chi Sinh Hoc 15(2): 1-8.
- Lê X.H. 2000. Egg-parasites of family Scelionidae (Hymenoptera). Fauna of Vietnam, vol.

#### Keloth Rajmohana and Manikantadas Santha Nisha

3. Hanoi: Science and Technics Publishing House 386 pp.

- Narayanasamy, P. 2007. Status Report on Rice Black Bug Situatuion in India. In: R.C. Joshi, A.T. Barrion and L.S. Sebastian (eds.). Rice black bugs: taxonomy, ecology, and management of invasive species. Science City of Muñoz, Nueva Ecija: Philippine Rice Research Institute 525-537pp.
- Nixon, G.E.J. 1937. New Asiatic Telenominae (Hym., Proctotrupoidea). Annals and Magazine of Natural History (10) 20: 113-127.
- Nixon, G.E.J. 1940. New species of Proctotrupoidea. Annals and Magazine of Natural History (11)6: 497-512.
- Polaszek, A. and Kimani, S.W. 1990. *Telenomus* species (Hymenoptera: Scelionidae) attacking eggs of pyralid pests (Lepidoptera) in Africa: a review and guide to identification. Bulletin of Entomological Research 80: 57-71.
- Polaszek, A. and Rajmohana K. 2007.Taxonomy of the Egg Parasitoids of Rice Black Bug, *Scotinophara* spp. *In:* R.C. Joshi, A.T. Barrion and L.S. Sebastian (eds.). Rice black bugs: taxonomy, ecology, and

management of invasive species. Science City of Muñoz, Nueva Ecija: Philippine Rice Research Institute 351-360pp.

- Rajmohana K. and Talukdar S., 2010. A new species of *Psix* Kozlov & Lê (Hymenoptera: Platygastridae) from India. Biosystematica 4(2): 57-62.
- Rajmohana, K. and Narendran, T. C. 2007. A new species of *Paratelenomus* (Hymenoptera: Scelionidae) from India. Zoos' Print Journal 22(1): 2522-2523.
- Thomson, C.G. 1860. Sverges Proctotruper. Tribus IX. Telenomini. Tribus X. Dryinini. Öfversigt af Kongliga. Vetenskaps-Akadamiens Förhandlingar 17: 169-181.
- Wu, Y.R., Chen, T.L., Liao, T.S. and He, J.H. 1979. Descriptions of six new species of *Telenomus* (Hymenoptera: Scelionidae). Acta Zootaxonomica Sinica 4(4): 392-398.
- Wu, Y.R. and Chen, T.L. 1980. A study on Chinese *Telenomus* (Aholcus) (Hymenoptera: Scelionidae). Acta Zootaxonomica Sinica 5(1): 79-84.
- Wu, Y.R. and Chen T.L. 1985. Five new species of *Telenomus* from China (Hymenoptera: Scelionidae). Sinozoologia 3: 147-152.

**HALTERES** - an International, non-profit, peer reviewed journal (Published by Organisation for Conservation and Study of Biodiversity (CSBD) in collaboration with ANeT-India {regional concern of ANeT-International Network for Study of Ants, Head Office:Institute for Tropical Biology & Conservation University Malaysia, Sabah Locked Bag 2073, 88999 Kota Kinabalu, Sabah, Malaysia} focuses entomological research with on the thrust areas: insect taxonomy/biodiversity, biology, evolution, biogeography, ecology, ethology, genetics, physiology and conservation etc. The journal provides an open access to papers.

Only those manuscripts are considered for publication, which provide the following declaration duly signed by all the authors:

"That the findings/interpretations presented in the manuscript are original in nature except where stated otherwise and no part of work has been submitted for publication elsewhere, and that all authors have agreed to submission, hold ethical and moral responsibility regarding authenticity of work".

**<u>Review Policy</u>**: The Editors initially evaluate the manuscript. If the manuscript is considered relevant, then it is subject to a peer review by two independent experts preferably from the same area/specialization. On the basis of assessment, scope of work and subsequent recommendations by reviewers, the final decision is taken.

For guidelines and other relevant information visit:

http://www.antdiversityindia.com/halteresentomology\_research\_journal



# CONTENTS

Recolonisation patterns of orthopteran species in successional stages of revegetated coal mine sites
Shbbir R Khan and Neelkamal Rastogi
Pollen foraging activity of Apis mellifera during autumn season in Chandigarh
Rajinder Kaur and Neelima R Kumar
A Preliminary survey of thrips (Thysanoptera) from Kashmir Himalaya
Nafisa Akhtar and M. Nayyar Azim
Addition of a new species to <i>Ecnomus</i> McLachlan, 1864 (Trichoptera: Ecnomidae) along with key to its Indian Fauna
Manpreet S. Pandher and Malkiat S. Saini
On the Aphid-ant association and its relationship with various host plants in the Agroecosystems of Vadodara, Gujarat, India
Ruchika Kataria and Dolly Kumar
Diversity and Distribution of Ant Fauna in Hejamadi Kodi Sandspit, Udupi District, Karnataka, India
Pradeep D'Cunha and Vijay Mala Grover Nair
First record of the Srilankan Processional Termite, <i>Hospitalitermes monoceros</i> (Konig) (Termitidae: Nasutitermitinae) from India
Poovoli Amina, Keloth Rajmohana, Chenthamarakshan Bijoy, Chandrashekaramenon Radhakrishnan and Nivedita Saha
Status of the Genus <i>Spalgis</i> Moore with taxonomic notes on the type species, <i>Spalgis epeus</i> (Westwood) in the Indian Himalaya
Charn Kumar
Quantitative changes in lipids and carbohydrates of temporal workers and drones in Apis cerana indica (Fabricius)
Seydur Rahman and Sudhanya Ray Hajong
SEM studies on immature stages of <i>Aphaenogaster beesont</i> Donisthorpe, 1933 (Hymenoptera: Formicidae)
Himender Bharti, Navpreet Dhiman, Meenakshi Bharti and Aijaz Ahmad Wachkoo
<i>Telenomus oryzae</i> (Hymenoptera: Platygastridae), a new egg parasitoid of the rice black bug, <i>Scoti-nophara</i> (Heteroptera: Pentatomidae) from India
Keloth Rajmohana and Manikantadas Santha Nisha